
REGULAR
COUNCIL
MEETING
SEPTEMBER 23, 2024
10:00 AM

M A C K E N Z I E  C O U N T Y

F O R T  V E R M I L I O N  C O U N C I L
C H A M B E R S

7 8 0 . 9 2 7 . 3 7 1 8

w w w . m a c k e n z i e c o u n t y . c o m

4 5 1 1 - 4 6  A v e n u e ,  F o r t  V e r m i l i o n

o f f i c e @ m a c k e n z i e c o u n t y . c o m





MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

 
Monday, September 23, 2024 

10:00 a.m. 
 

Fort Vermilion Council Chambers 
 

Fort Vermilion, Alberta 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

  Page 
CALL TO ORDER: 1. a) Call to Order 

 
 

AGENDA: 2. a) Adoption of Agenda 
 

 

ADOPTION OF 
PREVIOUS MINUTES: 

3. a) Minutes of the September 10, 2024 Regular  
  Council Meeting 
 

7 

  b) Business Arising out of the Minutes 
 

 

  c)  
 

 

CLOSED MEETING: Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act Division 
2, Part 1 Exceptions to Disclosure 
 

 

 4. a) Sale of County Property (FOIP Sections 23, 24, 
  25 and 27) 
 

 

  b) CAO Report (FOIP Sections 16, 17, 23 and 24) 
 

 

  c)  
 

 

  d)  
 

 

TENDERS: 
 

5. a) None 
 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: Public Hearings are scheduled for 1:00 p.m.  
 

 

 6. a) Bylaw 1244-21 Land Use Bylaw 
 

25 

DELEGATIONS:  7. a) None 
 

 

GENERAL REPORTS: 8. a) None 
 

 

  b) 
 

 



MACKENZIE COUNTY   PAGE 2 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
Monday, September 23, 2024  
 

AGRICULTURE 
SERVICES: 

9. a) Soil Feasibility Study for Irrigable Lands Request 
  for Proposal Awarding (Handout) 
 

 

 
 

 b)  
 

 

 
 

 c)  
 

 

COMMUNITY 
SERVICES: 

10. a) Mackenzie Community Recreation Centre  
  (Handout) 
 

 

  b)  
 

 

  c)  
 

 

FINANCE: 11. a) Mitigation – Conditional Grant Agreement  
  One-Year Extension 
 

225 

  b) Amend Policy RESV14 – Gravel Crushing  
  Reserve 
 

227 

  c) Financial Reports – January – August 2024  
 

231 

  d) Proposed 2025 Budget Council Meeting Dates 257 

  e) Councillor Expense Claims 259 

  f) Members at Large Expense Claims 261 

  g)   

  h)   

OPERATIONS: 12. a) None 
 

 

  b)  
 

 

UTILITIES: 13. a) None 
 

 

  b)  
 

 

PLANNING & 
DEVELOPMENT: 

14. a) Bylaw 1348-24 Land Use Bylaw Amendment to 
  Rezone Part of NW-24-107-14-W5M from  
  Agricultural “A” to Rural Industrial General “RIG” 
 

263 

  b)  
 

 

  c)  
 

 

ADMINISTRATION: 15. a) PrairiesCan Economic Development   275 



MACKENZIE COUNTY   PAGE 3 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
Monday, September 23, 2024  
 

  Roundtable Virtual Session 
 

  b) Request to Reinstate Ratepayer Meetings 
 

277 

  c) Draft Mackenzie County Strategic Plan 
 

281 

  d) Salmon Grill 
 

287 

  e)  
 

 

  f)  
 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE 
WHOLE ITEMS: 

16. a) None  

COUNCIL 
COMMITTEE 
REPORTS: 

17. a) Council Committee Reports (verbal) 
 

 

 b)  
 

 

  c)   
 

 

  d)  
 

 

INFORMATION / 
CORRESPONDENCE: 
 

18. a) Information/Correspondence 
 
 

291 

NOTICE OF MOTION: 
 

19. a)  
 

 

NEXT MEETING 
DATES: 

20. a) Regular Council Meeting 
  October 16, 2024 
  10:00 a.m. 
  Fort Vermilion Council Chambers 
 

 

  b) Organizational Meeting 
  October 22, 2024 
  10:00 a.m. 
  Fort Vermilion Council Chambers 
 

 

ADJOURNMENT: 21. a) Adjournment  
 





Agenda Item # 3. a) 
 

Author: T. Thompson Reviewed by: L. Flooren CAO:  
 

 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: September 23, 2024 

Presented By: Darrell Derksen, Chief Administrative Officer 

Title:  Minutes of the September 10, 2024 Regular Council Meeting 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
Minutes of the September 10, 2024 Regular Council Meeting are attached.  
 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
N/A 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
N/A 
 
 
COMMUNICATION / PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
 
Approved Council Meeting minutes are posted on the County website. 
 
 
 
POLICY REFERENCES: 
 
 

 

7



Author: T. Thompson Reviewed by: L. Flooren CAO:  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
 Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That the minutes of the September 10, 2024 Regular Council Meeting be adopted as 
presented. 

8



 

_________ 

_________ 

 
MACKENZIE COUNTY 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
 

Tuesday, September 10, 2024 
10:00 a.m. 

 
Fort Vermilion Council Chambers 

Fort Vermilion, AB 
 

PRESENT: Joshua Knelsen 
Walter Sarapuk 
Peter F. Braun 
Cameron Cardinal 
David Driedger 
Eileen Morris 
 
Ernest Peters 
 
Garrell Smith 
Lisa Wardley 
Dale Wiebe 
 

Reeve 
Deputy Reeve 
Councillor 
Councillor (virtual) 
Councillor 
Councillor (virtual, left the meeting at 12:28 
p.m.) 
Councillor (left the meeting and joined 
virtually at 2:05 p.m.) 
Councillor 
Councillor 
Councillor (virtual and in person, left the 
meeting at 12:53 p.m.) 
 

REGRETS:  
 

 

ADMINISTRATION: Darrell Derksen 
Don Roberts 
Jennifer Batt 
Andy Banman 
Caitlin Smith 
John Zacharias 
Willie Schmidt 
Louise Flooren 

Chief Administrative Officer 
Director of Community Services 
Director of Finance 
Director of Operations 
Director of Planning and Development 
Director of Utilities 
Fleet Maintenance Manager 
Manager of Legislative & Support Services/ 
Recording Secretary 
 

ALSO PRESENT: Diane Chiasson Census Coordinator (virtual) 
Terry Batt  Zone 3 Director, Alberta Trappers Association  
   Northwest Alberta 
Paul Stocco  Brownlee LLP (virtual) 
Braden Nehring Brownlee LLP (virtual) 
 

 
Minutes of the Regular Council Meeting for Mackenzie County held on September 10, 
2024 in the Council Chambers at the Fort Vermilion County Office. 

 

9



 
Page 2 of 15 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, September 10, 2024 

  
 

_________ 

_________ 

CALL TO ORDER: 
 

1. a) Call to Order 

 Reeve Knelsen called the meeting to order at 10:00 a.m. 
 

AGENDA: 
 

2. a) Adoption of Agenda 

MOTION 24-09-599 
 

MOVED by Councillor Peters 
 
That the agenda be approved as presented. 
 
CARRIED 
 

ADOPTION OF 
PREVIOUS MINUTES: 
 

3. a) Minutes of the August 14, 2024 Regular Council 
 Meeting 

MOTION 24-09-600 
 

MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That the minutes of the August 14, 2024 Regular Council 
Meeting be adopted as presented.  
 
CARRIED 
 

ADOPTION OF 
PREVIOUS MINUTES: 
 

3. b) Business Arising out of the Minutes 
 
None. 
 

CLOSED MEETING: 
 

4. a) Closed Meeting 

MOTION 24-09-601 
 

MOVED by Councillor Driedger 
 
That Council move into a closed meeting at 10:00 a.m. to 
discuss the following: 
 
 4.a) Offer to Purchase – Part of SW 7-109-19W5M  
  (FOIP Sections 23, 24, 25, and 27) 
 4.b) Offer to Sell – Part of Plan FORTVER, Block03, 
  Lot 08 (Fort Vermilion) (FOIP Sections 23, 24, 25, 
  and 27) 
 4.c) Request for Support for John D’or Access Road 
  from Little Red River Cree Nation (FOIP Sections 
  21 and 23 
 4.d) Legal Update (FOIP Sections 23, 24, 25, and 27) 
 4.e) CAO Report (FOIP Sections 16, 17, 23 and 24) 
 
CARRIED 

10



 
Page 3 of 15 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, September 10, 2024 

  
 

_________ 

_________ 

 
 The following individuals were present during the closed meeting 

discussion.  (MGA Section 197) 
• All Councillors Present 
• Darrell Derksen, Chief Administrative Officer 
• Don Roberts, Director of Community Services 
• Jennifer Batt, Director of Finance 
• Andy Banman, Director of Operations 
• Caitlin Smith, Director of Planning and Development 
• John Zacharias, Director of Utilities 
• Willie Schmidt, Fleet Maintenance Manager 
• Louise Flooren, Manager of Legislative & Support 

Services/ Recording Secretary 
 
Administration left the meeting at 10:33 a.m. excluding Darrell 
Derksen, Chief Administrative Officer.  Councillor Wiebe joined 
the meeting in person at 10:43 a.m. 
 

MOTION 24-09-602 
 

MOVED by Councillor Wiebe 
 
That Council move out of a closed meeting at 11:33 a.m. 
 
CARRIED 
 

CLOSED MEETING: 
 

4. a) Offer to Purchase – Part of SW 7-109-19W5M  
 

MOTION 24-09-603 
 

MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That administration advertise Part of SW 7-109-19W5M for sale. 
 
CARRIED 
 

CLOSED MEETING: 
 

4. b) Offer to Sell – Part of Plan FORTVER, Block03,Lot 08 

MOTION 24-09-604 
 

MOVED by Councillor Wiebe 
 
That Mackenzie County Council decline the offer of sale for plan 
FORTVER, Block03, Lot 08. 
 
CARRIED 
 

CLOSED MEETING: 
 

4. c) Request for Support for John D’or Access Road from 
 Little Red River Cree Nation 
 

MOTION 24-09-605 MOVED by Councillor Smith 

11



 
Page 4 of 15 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, September 10, 2024 

  
 

_________ 

_________ 

  
That Mackenzie County send a letter of support to Little Red 
River Cree Nation in regards to acquiring additional road 
allowance from the Crown for future road widening. 
 
CARRIED 
 

CLOSED MEETING: 
 

4. d) Legal Update 
 

MOTION 24-09-606 
 

MOVED by Deputy Reeve Sarapuk 
 
That the legal update be received for information. 
 
CARRIED 
 

CLOSED MEETING: 
 

4. e) CAO Report 
 

MOTION 24-09-607 
 

MOVED by Councillor Driedger 
 
That the CAO Report be received for information. 
 
CARRIED 
 

TENDERS: 
 

5. a) None 

DELEGATIONS: 
 

7. a) Diane Chiasson, Census Coordinator 
 2024 Mackenzie County Census Final Report 
 

DELEGATIONS: 
 

7. b) Alberta Trappers Association 
 
Reeve Knelsen recessed the meeting at 12:26 p.m., Councillor 
Morris left the meeting at 12:28 p.m., Councillor Wiebe left the 
meeting at 12:53 p.m. and Reeve Knelsen reconvened the 
meeting at 1:00 p.m. 
 

MOTION 24-09-608 
 

MOVED by Councillor Peters 
 
That the 2024 Mackenzie County Census final report be 
received for information. 
 
CARRIED 
  

12



 
Page 5 of 15 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, September 10, 2024 

  
 

_________ 

_________ 

MOTION 24-09-609 
 

MOVED by Councillor Smith 
 
That the Alberta Trappers Association delegation be received for 
information. 
 
CARRIED 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 

6. a) Bylaw 1345-24 Partial Plan Cancellation and Lot 
 Consolidation of Plan 962 4275, Block 04, Lots 13-17 
 

 Reeve Knelsen called the public hearing for Bylaw 1345-24 to 
order at 1:01 p.m. 
 
Reeve Knelsen asked if the public hearing for proposed Bylaw 
1345-24 was properly advertised. Caitlin Smith, Director of 
Planning & Development answered that the Bylaw was 
advertised in accordance with the Municipal Government Act. 
 
Reeve Knelsen asked the Development Authority to outline the 
proposed Bylaw 1345-24 Partial Plan Cancellation and Lot 
Consolidation of Plan 962-4275, Block 04, Lots 13-17.  
 
Caitlin Smith, Director of Planning & Development presented the 
following: 
 

Mackenzie County intends to consolidate Plan 962 4275, 
Block 04, Lots 13-17 in the hamlet of Zama. Currently 
these lots are empty and will become one title. The 
proposed consolidation will be redesignated as Municipal 
Reserve as per Council Direction.  
 
The consolidated lot will be approximately 10.44 Acres 
(4.23 ha). 
 
The consolidation application was presented to the 
Mackenzie County Council on July 17, 2024 where the 
following motion was made. 

 
Reeve Knelsen asked if Council has any questions of the 
proposed Bylaw 1345-24 Partial Plan Cancellation and Lot 
Consolidation. There were no questions. 
 
Reeve Knelsen asked if any submissions were received in 
regards to proposed Bylaw 1345-24. There were no 
submissions. 

13



 
Page 6 of 15 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, September 10, 2024 

  
 

_________ 

_________ 

 
Reeve Knelsen asked if there was anyone present who would 
like to speak in regards to the proposed Bylaw 1345-24 
There was no one present to speak to the proposed bylaw. 
 
Reeve Knelsen closed the public hearing for Bylaw 1345-24 at 
1:02 p.m.  
 

MOTION 24-09-610 
 

MOVED by Councillor Wardley 
 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 1345-24 being a Partial 
Plan Cancellation and Lot Consolidation of Plan 962 4275, Block 
04, Lots 13-17, to accommodate the consolidation of these lots 
into one title. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 24-09-611 
 

MOVED by Councillor Smith 
 
That third reading be given to Bylaw 1345-24 being a Partial 
Plan Cancellation and Lot Consolidation of Plan 962 4275, Block 
04, Lots 13-17, to accommodate the consolidation of these lots 
into one title. 
 
CARRIED 
 

GENERAL 
REPORTS: 
 

8. a) None 

AGRICULTURE 
SERVICES: 
 

9. a) Budget Amendment – Mackenzie County Irrigation 
 Initiative/ Municipal Irrigation Data Collection 

MOTION 24-09-612 
Requires 2/3 

MOVED by Councillor Driedger 
 
That the 2024 One Time Budget be amended for The Mackenzie 
County Irrigation Initiative, with $87,132.60 funding coming from 
the Alberta Small Community Opportunity Program grant, and 
$9,681.40 from the General Operating Reserve. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 24-09-613 
Requires 2/3 

MOVED by Councillor Wardley 
 

14



 
Page 7 of 15 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, September 10, 2024 

  
 

_________ 

_________ 

That the 2024 One Time Budget be amended to include Municipal 
Irrigation Data Collection, with $20,319 from the General 
Operating Reserve. 
 
CARRIED 
 

AGRICULTURE 
SERVICES: 
 

9. b) Soil Feasibility Study for Irrigable Lands Request for 
 Proposals 

MOTION 24-09-614 
 

MOVED by Councillor Peters 
 
That administration be authorized to open and review the Soil 
Feasibility Study for Irrigable Lands Request for Proposals on 
September 20, 2024 and bring back a recommendation to the 
September 23, 2024 Regular Council Meeting for awarding.  
 
CARRIED 
 

COMMUNITY 
SERVICES: 
 

10. a) Forest Resource Improvement Association of Alberta 
 (FRIAA) Grant Funding 

MOTION 24-09-615 
 

MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That Council supports the submission of the Forest Resource 
Improvement Association of Alberta (FRIAA) grant funding 
proposal for Mackenzie County Community Fireguard Program – 
Phase 2 Construction. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 24-09-616 
 

MOVED by Councillor Smith 
 
That Council supports the submission of the Forest Resource 
Improvement Association of Alberta (FRIAA) grant funding 
proposal for Mackenzie County FRIAA FireSmart – (Non-
Vegetation Management Disciplines) for the development of a 
Zama City Sprinkler Plan and Shelter in Place Plan.  
 
CARRIED 
 

COMMUNITY 
SERVICES: 
 

10. b) Revise Bylaw 956-14 and Bylaw 1196-20 and Bylaw 
 924-13 

MOTION 24-09-617 
 

MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 

15



 
Page 8 of 15 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, September 10, 2024 

  
 

_________ 

_________ 

That first reading be given to Revised Bylaw 956-14 Off-Highway 
Vehicles Bylaw for the Hamlet of La Crete. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 24-09-618 
 

MOVED by Councillor Wardley 
 
That second reading be given to Revised Bylaw 956-14 Off-
Highway Vehicles Bylaw for the Hamlet of La Crete. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 24-09-619 
Requires Unanimous 

MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That consideration be given to go to third and final reading of 
Revised Bylaw 956-14 Off-Highway Vehicles Bylaw for the 
Hamlet of La Crete. 
 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

MOTION 24-09-620 
 

MOVED by Deputy Reeve Sarapuk 
 
That third and final reading be given to Revised Bylaw 956-14 
Off-Highway Vehicles Bylaw for the Hamlet of La Crete. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 24-09-621 
 

MOVED by Councillor Wardley 
 
That first reading be given to Revised Bylaw 1196-20 Off-
Highway Vehicles Bylaw for the Hamlet of Fort Vermilion. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 24-09-622 
 

MOVED by Councillor Smith 
 
That second reading be given to Revised Bylaw 1196-20 Off-
Highway Vehicles Bylaw for the Hamlet of Fort Vermilion. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 24-09-623 
Requires Unanimous 

MOVED by Deputy Reeve Sarapuk 
 

16



 
Page 9 of 15 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, September 10, 2024 

  
 

_________ 

_________ 

That consideration be given to go to third and final reading of 
Revised Bylaw 1196-20 Off-Highway Vehicles Bylaw for the 
Hamlet of Fort Vermilion. 
 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

MOTION 24-09-624 
 

MOVED by Councillor Peters 
 
That third and final reading be given to Revised Bylaw 1196-20 
Off-Highway Vehicles Bylaw for the Hamlet of Fort Vermilion. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 24-09-625 
 

MOVED by Councillor Driedger 
 
That first reading be given to Revised Bylaw 924-13 Off-Highway 
Vehicles Bylaw for the Hamlet of Zama. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 24-09-626 
 

MOVED by Deputy Reeve Sarapuk 
 
That second reading be given to Revised Bylaw 924-13 Off-
Highway Vehicles Bylaw for the Hamlet of Zama. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 24-09-627 
Requires Unanimous 

MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That consideration be given to go to third and final reading of 
Revised Bylaw 924-13 Off-Highway Vehicles Bylaw for the 
Hamlet of Zama. 
 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

MOTION 24-09-628 
 

MOVED by Councillor Smith  
 
That third and final reading be given to Revised Bylaw 924-13 
Off-Highway Vehicles Bylaw for the Hamlet of Zama. 
 
CARRIED 
 

COMMUNITY 
SERVICES: 
 

10. c) Draft Letter to Alberta Conservation Association 
 (Bison Tag Revenue) 

17



 
Page 10 of 15 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, September 10, 2024 

  
 

_________ 

_________ 

MOTION 24-09-629 
 

MOVED by Councillor Driedger 
 
That a letter be written to the Minister of Forestry and Parks and 
Carbon Copied to the Alberta Conservation Association to 
request that the bison hunt tag revenue be returned to 
Mackenzie County to be reinvested in the Mackenzie Region. 
 
CARRIED 
 

FINANCE: 
 

11. a) 2024 Minimum Tax – Grazing Leases 

MOTION 24-09-630 
Requires 2/3 

MOVED by Deputy Reeve Sarapuk 
 
That the Conditional Under Permit Cultivation Lease tax rolls as 
per “Schedule A” be amended to a $100 minimum tax for 2024. 
 
CARRIED 
 

FINANCE: 
 

11. b) Uncollectible Taxes – 2024 GIPOT 

MOTION 24-09-631 
Requires 2/3 
 

MOVED by Deputy Reeve Sarapuk 
 
That the outstanding levies in the amount of $94,196.45 for 
Grants in Place of Taxes identified in Schedule “A” be written off. 
 
CARRIED 
 
Reeve Knelsen recessed the meeting at 2:00 p.m., Councillor 
Peters left the meeting and joined virtually at 2:05 p.m., Reeve 
Knelsen reconvened the meeting at 2:06 p.m. 
 

DELEGATIONS: 
 

7. c) Brownlee LLP Procurement Process 
 
Reeve Knelsen recessed the meeting at 3:17 p.m. and 
reconvened the meeting at 3:30 p.m. 
 

MOTION 24-09-632 
 

MOVED by Councillor Driedger 
 
That the Brownlee LLP Procurement Process report be received 
for information. 
 
CARRIED 
 

18



 
Page 11 of 15 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, September 10, 2024 

  
 

_________ 

_________ 

MOTION 24-09-633 
 

MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That administration present at a future Council meeting, all 
purchasing policies effected by the Tender and Request for 
Proposal template for review and possible amendment. 
 
CARRIED 
 

FINANCE: 
 

11. c) 2024 Mackenzie Agricultural Fair & Tradeshow – Post 
 Event Budget Amendment 
 

MOTION 24-09-634 
Requires 2/3 

MOVED by Deputy Reeve Sarapuk 
 
That the 2024 One Time project budget for the 2024 Mackenzie 
Agricultural Fair & Tradeshow be amended in the amount of 
$34,509 with funding coming from various donations. 
 
CARRIED 
 

OPERATIONS: 
 

12. a) Motor Grader Disposal 

MOTION 24-09-635 
 

MOVED by Councillor Driedger 
 
That motor graders Unit 2152 and Unit 2153 be disposed of by 
Option 3 - Ritchie Bros. 
 
CARRIED 
 

UTILITIES: 
 

13. a) Wolfe Lake Rural Water Point 

MOTION 24-09-636 
Requires 2/3 

MOVED by Councillor Driedger 
 
That administration bring forward options for the Wolfe Lake 
Rural Water point to the 2025 Budget Workshop and budget 
deliberations. 
 
CARRIED 
 

PLANNING & 
DEVELOPMENT: 
 

14. a) Alberta Community Partnership Program Grant – 
 Intermunicipal Development Plan with Town of High 
 Level 
 

MOTION 24-09-637 
 

MOVED by Councillor Wardley 
 

19



 
Page 12 of 15 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, September 10, 2024 

  
 

_________ 

_________ 

That Council direct administration to apply to the 2024-25 
Alberta Community Partnership Program Grant – Intermunicipal 
Collaboration stream to fund the update of the Intermunicipal 
Development Plan held between the Town of High Level and 
Mackenzie County. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 24-09-638 
 

MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That Council support the application for the Alberta Community 
Partnership Program Grant under the Intermunicipal 
Collaboration stream as the Managing Partner with the Town of 
High Level as Project Participant to update the existing 
Intermunicipal Development Plan. 
 
CARRIED 
 

ADMINISTRATION: 
 

15. a) Rail Safety Week Proclamation 

MOTION 24-09-639 
 

MOVED by Councillor Wardley 
 
That Mackenzie County supports and recognizes the Rail Safety 
Week by acknowledging and proclaiming the week of 
September 23-29, 2024, as Rail Safety Week in Mackenzie 
County. 
 
CARRIED 
 

ADMINISTRATION: 
 

15. b) La Crete Agricultural Society – Request for Letter of 
 Support 
 

MOTION 24-09-640 
 
 

MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That a letter of support be provided to the La Crete Agricultural 
Society for their Community Facility Enhancement Program 
grant application for Phase II of the Construction of the Heritage 
Restoration Shop. 
 
CARRIED 
 

ADMINISTRATION: 
 

15. c) Municipal Ward Boundary and Governance Review – 
 Public Consultation 
 

MOTION 24-09-641 MOVED by Deputy Reeve Sarapuk 

20



 
Page 13 of 15 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, September 10, 2024 

  
 

_________ 

_________ 

 
 

 
That the Municipal Ward Boundary and Governance Review – 
Public Consultation discussion be received for information. 
 
CARRIED 
 

ADMINISTRATION: 
 

15. d) Meetings with Ministers – Rural Municipalities of 
 Alberta (RMA) 2024 Fall Convention 
 

MOTION 24-09-642 
 
 

MOVED by Councillor Wardley 
 
That the following priority topics be discussed at the Minister 
meetings during the Rural Municipalities of Alberta (RMA) fall 
convention in November 2024 in Edmonton. 
 
Minister of Agriculture and 
Irrigation 

Minister of Environment and 
Protected Areas 
 

• Diseased Wood 
Buffalo Bison 

• Grazing Leases 

• Sub Regional Planning 
& Regulations 

• Access to Crown Land 
• Reforestation of Legacy 

Cutlines 
 

Minister of Energy and 
Minerals 

Minister of Forestry and 
Parks 
 

• Access to Resources 
• Opening up Crown 

Land for Lease Land 
Sales 

• Existing Industrial 
Lease Transfers 

 

• Fire Grazing 
• Bison Hunt  
• ACA Issues 
• Allowable Cut 

Calculations 
• Recreation Leases 

 
Minister of Health 
 

Minister of Municipal Affairs  
 

• Homecare 
• Medical Evacuation 

Times 
• Enhancing Medivac 

Services 
 
 

• Municipal Ward 
Boundary and 
Governance Review 

 

21



 
Page 14 of 15 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, September 10, 2024 

  
 

_________ 

_________ 

Minister of Public Safety 
and Emergency Services 
 

Minister of Transportation 
and Economic Corridors 
 

• FV Flood Mitigation 
 
 

• Bridge Funding 
• Tompkins Bridge 
• La Crete Ferry 
• High Wide Load 

Corridor 
 

Minister of Tourism and 
Sport 
 

 

• Regional Tourism 
Opportunities 

• Wellness Centre 
 

 

 
CARRIED 
 

COMMITTEE OF THE 
WHOLE ITEMS: 
 

16. a) None 

COUNCIL 
COMMITTEE 
REPORTS: 
 

17. a) Council Committee Reports (verbal) 
 
 
 

MOTION 24-09-643 
 

MOVED by Councillor Driedger 
 
That the Council Committee Reports (verbal) be received for 
information. 
 
CARRIED 
 

COUNCIL 
COMMITTEE 
REPORTS: 
 

17. b) Municipal Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 

MOTION 24-09-644 
 

MOVED by Councillor Wardley 
 
That the approved Municipal Planning Commission meeting 
minutes of July 18, 2024, and the unapproved Municipal 
Planning Commission meeting minutes of August 15, 2024 be 
received for information. 
 
CARRIED 

22



 
Page 15 of 15 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, September 10, 2024 

  
 

_________ 

_________ 

 
INFORMATION/ 
CORRESPONDENCE: 
 

18. a) Information/Correspondence 

MOTION 24-09-645 
 

MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That the information/correspondence items be accepted for 
information purposes. 
 
CARRIED 
 

NOTICE OF MOTION: 
 

19. a) None 

NEXT MEETING 
DATES: 
 

20. a) Next Meeting Dates 

 Regular Council Meeting 
September 23, 2024 
10:00 a.m. 
Fort Vermilion Council Chambers 

 
 Regular Council Meeting 

October 16, 2024 
10:00 a.m. 
Fort Vermilion Council Chambers 

 
ADJOURNMENT:  
 

21. a) Adjournment 

MOTION 24-09-646 MOVED by Councillor Smith 
 
That the Council meeting be adjourned at 4:44 p.m. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 
These minutes will be presented for approval at the September 23, 2024 Regular 
Council Meeting.   
 
 
   
Joshua Knelsen 
Reeve 

 Darrell Derksen 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 

23



24



Agenda Item # 6.a) 
 

Author: C Smith Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: September 23, 2024 

Presented By: Caitlin Smith, Director of Planning and Development 

Title:  PUBLIC HEARING 
Bylaw 1244-21 Land Use Bylaw 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
Administration has been working towards a new Land Use Bylaw for the past couple 
years. There have been two separate open houses over the past two years in all the 
hamlets and an open online forum. 
 
There has been very little feedback from the public in terms of uses or additional 
regulations. 
 
First reading of this bylaw was passed on November 30, 2021. 
 
Please see attached the amendment summary and the Land Use Bylaw. The Land Use 
Bylaw regulates all land uses within the municipality. This is a living document and will be 
amended from time to time. The last Land Use Bylaw was approved in 2017 and will be 
repealed and replaced by this one. 
 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
Once approved, the LUB will give administration and Council direction with current and 
future land uses. 
 
Should there be additional changes in terms of intension/mapping after review of this 
document, another Public Hearing will need to be advertised prior to second reading. 
 
Option 1: 
 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 1244-21 being the Land Use Bylaw to be adopted 
as presented. 
 

25



Author: C Smith Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

That third reading be given to Bylaw 1244-21 being the Land Use Bylaw to be adopted 
as presented. 
 
Option 2: 
That Council hold the Public Hearing and administration bring back any final revisions to 
a future Council meeting. 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
One time project funded through Municipal Reserve. 
 
 
COMMUNICATION / PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
 
A public hearing is required as per MGA requirements and it has been advertised for 2 
weeks. 
 
Administration held Open Houses in each hamlet in 2021, since that time there has been 
an online survey and each revised version of the LUB has been made available on the 
website with an online opportunity to comment digitally. 
 
Administration presented the revised version at the La Crete and Fort Vermilion Get to 
Know You Nights in September 2023 and held open houses for a second time in May 
2024. 
 
This is the final opportunity for the public to bring their concerns forward and we can 
make any amendments prior to the final readings to ensure concerns are addressed. 
 
 
POLICY REFERENCES: 
 
N/A 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
  Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 1244-21 being the Land Use Bylaw to be adopted 
as presented. 
 
  Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That third reading be given to Bylaw 1244-21 being the Land Use Bylaw to be adopted 
as presented. 
 

26



BYLAW NO. 1244-21 
 

BEING A BYLAW OF MACKENZIE COUNTY  
TO RESCIND BYLAW 1066-17 AND ADOPT BYLAW 1244-21  

LAND USE BYLAW FOR THE MACKENZIE COUNTY IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENT ACT 

 
WHEREAS: Section 640 of the Municipal Government Act, R.S.A. 2000, C. M-26, as 
amended, states that every municipality must pass a Land Use Bylaw; and  
 
The Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw was prepared, public consultations were held, 
and the bylaw was advertised; and 
 
A public hearing shall be held on September 23, 2024 at 1:00 p.m. at the Fort Vermilion 
Council Chambers, Fort Vermilion, Alberta. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF MACKENZIE COUNTY IN THE PROVINCE OF 
ALBERTA, DULY ASSEMBLED ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. This Bylaw may be cited as the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw. 
 

2. The document entitled “Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw”, attached to and 
forming part of this bylaw as Schedule “A”, is adopted as the Mackenzie County 
Land Use Bylaw. 

 
3. This bylaw shall come into force and take effect upon the date of third reading by 

Mackenzie County Council. 
 

4. The adoption of this bylaw repeals and replaces Bylaw 1066-17, and any 
amendments thereto, in its entirety.   

 
READ a first time this 30th day of November, 2021. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING held this ____ day of September, 2024. 
 
READ a second time this ____ day of September, 2024. 
 
READ a third time and finally passed on this _____ day of September, 2024. 
 
 

 
Josh Knelsen 
Reeve 

 
Darrell Derksen 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 

27



General Changes to the Land Use Bylaw 
Land Use District Changes 

The following table provides a summary of the changes to the land use districts. 

Existing Bylaw Summary of changes 
Agriculture 1 Addition of permitted uses. 
Agriculture 2 Addition of permitted uses.  
Recreation 1 Addition of permitted uses.  
Zama City Residential 
Business 

Addition of permitted uses. 

 

Definitions 

The definitions were separated into general definitions and use definitions. Terms that are bold 
and italicized in the bylaw are general definitions. Terms that are Capitalized and Bold are 
defined uses. Below is a list of changes to the definitions. 

Existing Bylaw Summary of changes 
Agriculture Removed definition regulations below: 

• a business carried out on a farm by 
the operator of the same farm as a 
business subordinate to the farming 
operation; and  

• a commercial agricultural operation 
that may require large tracts of land, 
this may include greenhouses, market 
gardens, and sod farms. 

Barndominium Addition of use definition. 
Breweries and Distilleries Addition of use definition. 
Building Demolition Amended definition to include building move 

off. 
Health Centre Removed use definition. 
Health Service Amended to include permission of overnight 

stay to use definition. 
Industrial Use, Heavy Amended to remove Natural Resource 

Processing and add oil and gas and energy 
to use definition. 

Urban Agriculture Addition of use definition. 
Water Body Clarified Dugouts are not considered a water 

body. 
 

 

 

 

28



Regulations 

Summary list of more minor regulation changes. 

Existing Bylaw Summary of changes 
Animals Addition of rule to prohibit sheep in Zama. 
Footner Lake Addition of rule prohibiting development within 

100 metres of Lake. 
Laneways Addition of rule that developers must hand 

deliver notification of application to amend a 
bylaw. 

Recreational Vehicles Amendment of rule to include Zama. 
Shipping Containers Addition of rules for Farm buildings, Grain Bins 

and Grain Dryer. 
Signs Removal of 10.3 Freestanding Signs, 10.5 

Awnings, 10.6 Fascia Signs, 10.7 Marquee and 
canopy signs, 10.8 Roof Signs and 10.9 
Projecting signs.  
Addition of rules requiring current business 
license for businesses with signs. 

Zoning Overlay for Fort Vermilion 
Floodplain 

Amendment of rule for Fort Vermilion 
Floodplain. The rule changes include: 

• Prohibiting new development from 
occurring in the floodplain. 

• The allowance of Shipping Containers. 
• Allowing the maintenance and repair of 

existing development in the event of a 
fire. 

• The allowance of outdoor recreational 
uses and parks in the flood area. 

Added in new Fort Vermilion flood map. 
 

Growth Nodes Addition of a regulation connecting the land use 
bylaw to the Municipal Development Plan. 

Tiny Homes Regulations added for Tiny Homes requiring 
them to be kept in a state of good repair and tie 
into the character of the main dwelling.  

 

Mapping Changes 

Summary list of mapping changes. 

Existing Bylaw Summary of changes 
Fort Vermilion Flood Area Changed municipal and provincial sites to Direct 

Control District 1 in the flood area. 
High Level Airport Area Removed the land use designations from the 

High Level annexation area around the High 
Level airport. 

 

29



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mackenzie County 

Land Use Bylaw 
 

3rd Reading Version – September 2024 

30



31



Amending Bylaw Index 

 
Land Use Bylaw Amendments 

Bylaw # Description Adopted 
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

  

32



 

i 

Table of Contents 
 

1 Interpretation ..................................................................................................................... 1 
1.1 General Purpose ..................................................................................................................... 1 

1.2 Authority ................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.3 Applicability .............................................................................................................................. 1 

1.4 Transition ................................................................................................................................. 1 

1.5 Rules of Interpretation ............................................................................................................ 1 

1.6 General Definitions ................................................................................................................. 2 

1.7 Use Definitions ...................................................................................................................... 14 

2 Bylaw Amendments .........................................................................................................30 
2.1 Amendments to this Bylaw .................................................................................................. 30 

2.3 Bylaw Amendment Notification Requirements ................................................................. 31 

2.4 Requirement of a Land Use Bylaw Amendment Notification Sign ................................ 32 

3 Subdivision and Development Authorities ....................................................................34 
3.1 Development Authority ......................................................................................................... 34 

3.2 Development Officers ........................................................................................................... 34 

3.3 Municipal Planning Commission ........................................................................................ 35 

3.4 Council .................................................................................................................................... 35 

3.5 Subdivision Authorities ......................................................................................................... 35 

3.6 Subdivision and Development Appeal Board ................................................................... 35 

3.7 Inter-Municipal Subdivision and Development Appeal Board ........................................ 35 

4 Development Permits ......................................................................................................36 
4.1 Need for Development Permit ............................................................................................ 36 

4.2 Fees ........................................................................................................................................ 36 

4.3 When a Development Permit is Not Required ................................................................. 36 

4.4 Non-Conforming Buildings and Uses ................................................................................ 38 

4.5 Compliance Certificates ....................................................................................................... 38 

4.6 Application for Development Permit .................................................................................. 39 

4.7 Decision on Development Permit Applications ................................................................ 41 

4.8 Validity of Development Permits ........................................................................................ 42 

4.9 Development Permit Referrals ........................................................................................... 43 

4.10 Rear Laneways ..................................................................................................................... 44 

33



 

ii 

4.11 Variance of Authority ............................................................................................................ 44 

4.12 Development Permit Conditions ......................................................................................... 45 

4.13 Permit Approval and Notifications ...................................................................................... 46 

4.14 Resubmission Interval .......................................................................................................... 47 

4.15 Deemed Refusal ................................................................................................................... 47 

5 Enforcement .....................................................................................................................48 
5.1 Contravention and Stop Orders .......................................................................................... 48 

5.2 Prohibitions ............................................................................................................................ 49 

5.3 Non-Compliance ................................................................................................................... 49 

5.4 Warning Notice ...................................................................................................................... 50 

5.5 Right of Entry ......................................................................................................................... 50 

5.6 Offenses and Penalties ........................................................................................................ 50 

6 Subdivision Administration and Procedures .................................................................51 
6.1 Subdivision Application Procedures .................................................................................. 51 

6.2 Subdivision Referrals ........................................................................................................... 52 

6.3 Subdivision Decision ............................................................................................................ 53 

6.4 Development Agreement ..................................................................................................... 53 

6.5 Securities ............................................................................................................................... 53 

6.6 Registrations .......................................................................................................................... 53 

6.7 Subdivision Approval Process ............................................................................................ 54 

6.8 Growth Nodes ....................................................................................................................... 55 

7 Appeals .............................................................................................................................56 
7.1 Development Permit Appeals ............................................................................................. 56 

7.2 Subdivision Appeals ............................................................................................................. 57 

8 General Regulations ........................................................................................................58 
8.1 Accessory Building ............................................................................................................... 58 

8.2 Animals ................................................................................................................................... 58 

8.3 Applicability of General Regulations .................................................................................. 60 

8.4 Building Demolition or Removal ......................................................................................... 60 

8.5 Building – Height, Design, Character and Appearance .................................................. 61 

8.6 Building – Placement ........................................................................................................... 62 

8.7 Businesses – Drive-Through ............................................................................................... 62 

8.8 Confined Feeding Operations ............................................................................................. 63 

34



 

iii 

8.9 Dangerous Goods................................................................................................................. 64 

8.10 Drainage ................................................................................................................................. 64 

8.11 Dugouts .................................................................................................................................. 64 

8.12 Dwelling Units per Parcel .................................................................................................... 65 

8.13 Easements/Rights-of ways .................................................................................................. 66 

8.14 Fences .................................................................................................................................... 66 

8.15 Flood Prone Lands (Flood Hazard Area and Pluvial Flooding) ..................................... 67 

8.16 Private Garages .................................................................................................................... 68 

8.17 Garden Suites ....................................................................................................................... 69 

8.18 Home Based Businesses .................................................................................................... 70 

8.19 Illumination ............................................................................................................................. 71 

8.20 Industrial Camps ................................................................................................................... 71 

8.21 Kennels .................................................................................................................................. 72 

8.22 Manufactured Homes ........................................................................................................... 73 

8.23 Objects Prohibited or Restricted in Yards ......................................................................... 73 

8.24 Pressure Vessel Storage ..................................................................................................... 74 

8.25 Primary Dwelling – Hamlet .................................................................................................. 75 

8.26 Private Sewage Treatment Systems ................................................................................. 75 

8.27 Projection over Yards ........................................................................................................... 76 

8.28 Recreational Uses ................................................................................................................ 77 

8.29 Recreational Vehicles .......................................................................................................... 77 

8.30 Residential Sales Centre ..................................................................................................... 77 

8.31 Roads and Highways ........................................................................................................... 80 

8.32 Secondary Suites .................................................................................................................. 80 

8.33 Service Stations and Bulk Fuel Storage............................................................................ 80 

8.34 Setbacks from Gas and Oil Wells ...................................................................................... 81 

8.35 Setbacks from Sour Gas Facilities and Gas and Oil Wells ............................................ 82 

8.36 Setbacks from Railway Right-of-way ................................................................................. 82 

8.37 Setbacks from Slopes and Waterbodies ........................................................................... 83 

8.38 Shipping Containers ............................................................................................................. 85 

8.39 Sight Triangle ........................................................................................................................ 86 

8.40 Solar Farms ........................................................................................................................... 86 

8.41 Swimming Pools and Hot Tubs .......................................................................................... 87 

35



 

iv 

8.42 Tarp Shelters ......................................................................................................................... 88 

8.43 Tiny Homes ............................................................................................................................ 88 

8.44 Topsoil Removal ................................................................................................................... 88 

8.45 Tourist Homes ....................................................................................................................... 88 

8.46 Township Road 1062 (88 Connector Road) Setback ..................................................... 89 

8.47 Waste Disposal ..................................................................................................................... 89 

8.48 Waste Management ............................................................................................................. 89 

8.49 Wildland/Urban Interface Development– Remote Areas ................................................ 89 

8.50 Wind Farms ........................................................................................................................... 91 

8.51 Zoning Overlay for NW 29-106-15-W5M .......................................................................... 91 

8.52 Zoning Overlay for Footner Lake ....................................................................................... 92 

8.53 Zoning Overlay for Fort Vermilion Floodplain ................................................................... 92 

8.54 Zoning Overlay for Fort Vermilion Land Uses .................................................................. 93 

8.55 Zoning Overlay for the Fort Vermilion (Wop May Memorial) Airport Vicinity, the La 
Crete (Jake Fehr Memorial) Airport Vicinity, and the High Level Airport Vicinity........ 93 

9 Landscaping, Screening and Sound Barriers ................................................................97 
9.1 Landscaping and Screening ............................................................................................... 97 

9.2 Sound Barrier ........................................................................................................................ 98 

10 Parking .............................................................................................................................99 
10.1 General Parking Requirements .......................................................................................... 99 

10.2 Minimum Parking Stall Requirements ............................................................................. 100 

11 Signs ............................................................................................................................... 103 
11.1 General Requirements for Signs ...................................................................................... 103 

11.2 Illuminated or Electronic Message Signs ........................................................................ 104 

11.3 Billboards ............................................................................................................................. 104 

11.4 Temporary Signs................................................................................................................. 105 

11.5 Sign Removal ...................................................................................................................... 105 

12 Land Use Districts ......................................................................................................... 106 
12.1 Agricultural 1 (A1) ............................................................................................................... 106 

12.2 Agricultural 2 (A2) ............................................................................................................... 109 

12.3 Forestry (F) .......................................................................................................................... 111 

12.4 Country Residential (CR)(CRm) ....................................................................................... 112 

12.5 Country Residential 2(CR2)(CR2m) ................................................................................ 114 

12.6 Country Residential 3 (CR3) ............................................................................................. 116 

36



 

v 

12.7 Country Recreational (CREC) .......................................................................................... 117 

12.8 Country Recreational 2 (CREC2) ..................................................................................... 119 

12.9 Rural Industrial Light (RIL) ................................................................................................ 121 

12.10 Rural Industrial General (RIG) .......................................................................................... 123 

12.11 Airport (AP) .......................................................................................................................... 125 

12.12 Institutional (I) ...................................................................................................................... 127 

12.13 Recreation 1 (REC1) .......................................................................................................... 129 

12.14 Recreation 2 (REC2) .......................................................................................................... 130 

12.15 Remote Recreation (RR) ................................................................................................... 131 

12.16 Urban Fringe (UF)............................................................................................................... 132 

12.17 Direct Control 1 (DC1) ....................................................................................................... 134 

12.18 Direct Control 2 (DC2) ....................................................................................................... 136 

12.19 Hamlet Country Residential (H-CR) ................................................................................. 137 

12.20 Hamlet Residential 1 (H-R1) ............................................................................................. 139 

12.21 Hamlet Residential 1A (H-R1A) ........................................................................................ 140 

12.22 Hamlet Residential 1B (H-R1B) ........................................................................................ 141 

12.23 Hamlet Residential 2 (H-R2) ............................................................................................. 142 

12.24 Hamlet Residential 2A (H-R2A) ........................................................................................ 143 

12.25 Tiny Home Community (THC) .......................................................................................... 145 

12.26 Manufactured Home Community (MHC) ......................................................................... 146 

12.27 Manufactured Home Subdivision (MHS) ......................................................................... 148 

12.28 Hamlet Town Centre (H-TC) ............................................................................................. 149 

12.29 Hamlet Commercial Centre (H-CC) ................................................................................. 153 

12.30 Hamlet Highway Commercial (H-HC) .............................................................................. 156 

12.31 Hamlet Light Industrial (H-LI) ............................................................................................ 158 

12.32 Hamlet Heavy Industrial (H-HI) ......................................................................................... 160 

12.33 Zama City Mixed Use (Z-MU) ........................................................................................... 162 

12.34 Zama City Residential-Business (Z-RB) ......................................................................... 164 

 

37



 

 

38



 

1 

1 Interpretation 
 

1.1 General Purpose 
 
1.1.1 The purpose of this Land Use Bylaw, entitled the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw 

and hereby known as “the Bylaw”, is to regulate the use and development of land 
and buildings within Mackenzie County pursuant to Part 17 of the Act to achieve the 
orderly and economic development of land. 
 

1.2 Authority 
 
1.2.1 The provisions of this Bylaw apply to all lands and buildings within the boundaries of 

the County, pursuant to Division 3 of Part 17 of the Municipal Government Act. 
 

1.2.2 This Bylaw comes into force and takes effect upon the date of its third reading. At that 
time, the former Land Use Bylaw 1066-17 as amended is hereby repealed. 

 
1.2.3 No person shall commence any development within the County except in conformity 

with this Bylaw. 
 
1.3 Applicability 
 
1.3.1 Compliance with the requirements of this Bylaw does not exempt any person or entity 

from the requirements of any adopted statutory plan or federal or provincial regulation. 
 

1.3.2 Nothing in this Bylaw affects the duty or obligation of a person to obtain a 
development permit as required by this Bylaw or to obtain any other permit, license 
or other authorization required by this or any other bylaw. 

 
1.3.3 In addition to the requirements of this Bylaw, an applicant must comply with all federal, 

provincial and other municipal legislation. 
 
1.4 Transition 
 
1.4.1 An application for a subdivision or development permit commenced prior to 

adoption of this Bylaw shall be evaluated under the provisions of the County’s Land 
Use Bylaw No. 1066-17 as amended. 
 

1.5 Rules of Interpretation 
 
1.5.1 The terms defined in this section have specific, broader, or different meanings than the 

usage and interpretation commonly found in the English dictionary, and thus, give rise 
to the need of this section. The meanings of all terms and vocabularies used in this 
Bylaw shall be interpreted in accordance with the: 
 
a. Municipal Government Act and the Statutes of Alberta to which this Bylaw refers; 
 
b. Following Definitions; and 
 

39



 

2 

c. Common English dictionary in the event the above mentioned Section of 
Definitions is silent. 

 
1.5.2 Words used in the present tense include the other tenses and derivative forms; words 

used in the singular include the plural and vice versa; and the word “person” includes a 
corporation, firm, partnerships, trusts, and other similar entities as well as an 
individual. Words have the same meaning whether they are capitalized or not. 
 

1.5.3 The words “shall”, “must”, and “is” require mandatory compliance except where a 
variance has been granted pursuant to the Act of this Bylaw. 

 
1.5.4 All other words and expressions have the meaning respectively assigned to them in 

accordance with the Act and any other applicable Statutes of Alberta. Where such 
words are not defined in this Bylaw, or in the Act, the Development Authority shall 
make the interpretation. 

 
1.5.5 Words that are italicized and bold denote terms defined in subsection 1.6. 
 
1.5.6 Words that are capitalized and bold denote uses defined in subsection 1.7. 
 
1.5.7 Metric measurements used within the Bylaw shall take precedence over all imperial 

values. Imperial measurements, shown in brackets are for reference purposes only. 
 
1.6 General Definitions 
 
1.6.1 The following words, terms and phrases, wherever they occur in this Bylaw have the 

meaning assigned to them as follows: 
 
Abutting means immediately contiguous to or physically touching, and when 

used with respect to a lot or site, means that the lot or site physically 
touches upon another lot, site, or piece of land, and shares a common 
property line. 

Accessory Use means a use customarily incidental and subordinate to the principal 
use of a site and is located on the same parcel of land as the principal 
use. 

Act means the Municipal Government Act and subsequent amendments 
thereto. 

Adjacent means land that abuts a lot or site, and land that would abut a lot or 
site if not for a road, lane, walkway, watercourse, utility lot, pipeline 
right-of-way, power line, railway, or similar feature as shown in Figure 
1. 

40



 

3 

Figure 1. Adjacent lands 

Area Structure Plan means a statutory plan, prepared and adopted pursuant to Section 
633 of the Act, which addresses the future development of large 
areas of land at a conceptual level of detail. 
 

Basement means that portion of a building that is located wholly or partially 
below grade, the ceiling of which does not extend more than 1.8m 
(6.0ft) above finished grade.  

Billboard means a large outdoor board for displaying advertisements. 

Buffer/Screening means an area where trees, shrubs, hedges, berms, architectural 
devices, walls, fences or other landscaping features are provided for 
the purpose of reducing adverse effects of the use(s) of land, 
buildings or activities on an adjacent area, property or use. 

Building means anything constructed or placed on, in, over or under land but 
does not include a highway or public roadway or a bridge forming part 
of a highway or public roadway. 
 

Building Demolition means the pulling down, building move off, tearing down or razing of a 
building. 
 

Building Height means the vertical distance between the grade and the highest point 
of a building (shown in Figure 2), except those parts that are not 
essential to the structure of the building, such as a ventilating fan, 
skylight, steeple, chimney, smoke stack, fire wall, flagpole, or other 
similar elements. 

 

Figure 2. Measurement of Building Height 

Building – Moved In means a residential, commercial or industrial constructed building 
that is to be relocated from one property to another property. 

Bylaw means the Land Use Bylaw for Mackenzie County that regulates the 
use of land and buildings within the County. 

41



 

4 

Condominium Unit means, in the case of a building, a space that is situated within a 
building and described as a unit in a condominium plan by reference 
to floors, walls and ceilings within the building.  

In the case other than that of a building, a condominium unit means 
land that is situated within a lot described as a unit in a condominium 
plan by reference to boundaries governed by monuments placed 
pursuant to the provisions of the Surveys Act respecting subdivision 
surveys. 

Council means the Council of Mackenzie County. 

County means Mackenzie County. 

Dangerous or 
Hazardous Goods 

means a product, substance or organism listed in the 
Dangerous Goods Transportation and Handling Act. 

Deck means an unenclosed amenity area, of wood frame or other 
construction, which may be attached to a dwelling. The overall height 
of a raised deck is greater than 0.6m (2.0ft) measured from the 
finished grade to the underside of the supporting structure. A raised 
deck is deemed accessory to the principal building. 

Design Flood means a 1:100 flood, which is a flood that has a one percent (1%) 
chance of occurring in any given year. The 1:100 design flood is used 
to define the floodway and flood fringe zones on flood hazard maps. 

Development   means: 
 
a) An excavation or stockpile of earth and creation of either of them; 

 
b) A building or an addition to or replacement or repair of a building 

and the construction or placing of any of them on, in, over or under 
land; 

 
c) A change of use of land or a building or an Act done in relation to 

land or a building that results in or is likely to result in a change in 
the use of the land or building; or 

 
d) A change in the intensity of use of land or a building or an Act 

done in relation to land or a building that results in or is likely to 
result in a change in the intensity of use of the land or building. 

 
Development   
Authority 

means a person or body appointed by the County in accordance with 
the Act to administer the provisions of this Bylaw. 

Development   
Officer 

means a person or persons appointed by the County to administer the 
provisions of this Bylaw. 

42



 

5 

Development   
Permit 

means a document permitting a development, issued by the County 
pursuant to this Bylaw. 

Discretionary Use means the use of land or buildings where a development permit 
may or may not be issued for certain purpose that is permitted by the 
Development Authority according to their discretionary judgment 
based upon the merits of the application. 

Dismantled/Wrecked 
Vehicle 

means a vehicle that is no longer licensed or in use and is unfit for 
operation by virtue of its exterior or mechanical condition. 

Flood Fringe means those lands outside of the floodway that is flooded or could be 
flooded during a 1:100 design flood.  

Flood Hazard Area means the area that would be inundated by floodwaters in 1:100 year 
flood event. The flood hazard area is typically divided into floodway 
and flood fringe zones and may also include area of overland flow. 

Floodway means the water channel and abutting lands that conveys water 
during a flood event. In this area during flooding, water flows are the 
deepest, fastest, and most destructive.  

Floor Area means the total floor area of every room and passageway contained 
in a building but excluding the floor area of: 

1. basement; 
 

2. Attached Private Garage; 
 

3. Accessory Building; 
 

4. Open porch; 
 

5. Patio; 
 

6. Open deck; 
 

7. Veranda; and 
 

8. Breezeway. 
 

Fragmented Parcel means a parcel of land that is separated from the balance of a quarter 
section or from a river lot by: 
 

1. A natural watercourse; 
 
2. A railway; 
 
3. A graded public roadway or highway; 
 
4. An embankment; or 
 

43



 

6 

5. Other physical features, rendering the subject parcel impractical, 
in the opinion of the Development Authority, for farming or 
grazing independently, or as part of a large operation in 
conjunction with its neighbouring land. 

 
Legally, a fragmented parcel is considered part of the quarter section 
it is located within. 

Grade means the lowest of the average levels of finished ground adjoining 
each exterior wall of a building, except those localized, depressed 
areas designed for accommodating vehicle or pedestrian entrances. 

Hamlet means an area declared, by Bylaw, by the County or designated by 
the Minister of Municipal Affairs as a hamlet. 

High Hazard Flood 
Fringe 

means the areas within the flood fringe with deeper or faster moving 
water than the rest of the flood fringe.  

Highway means a primary or secondary highway or proposed highway that is 
under the direction, control and management of the Provincial 
Government pursuant to the Public Highways Development Act. 

Inter-Municipal 
Development Plan 

means a statutory planning document that is prepared and adopted, 
pursuant to the Section 631 of the Act, by Councils of Mackenzie 
County and the Town of High Level or other municipalities within 
County boundaries. 

Inter-Municipal 
Planning 
Commission 

means a municipal planning commission, appointed pursuant to the 
Section 625 of the Act, shared between Mackenzie County and the 
Town of High Level, or other municipalities within County boundaries. 

Inter-Municipal 
subdivision and 
development   
Appeal Board 
 

means a joint board of individuals appointed pursuant to Section 627 
of the Act that hears subdivision and development appeals, within 
the Inter-Municipal Development Plan area. 

44



 

7 

Internal subdivision 
road 

means a municipal road that is developed solely to provide legal and 
physical access to a multi-lot subdivision as shown in Figure 3. 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 3. Internal Subdivision Road 

Land and Property 
Rights Tribunal 

means a quasi-judicial tribunal established under the Land and 
Property Rights Tribunal Act that makes decisions about land use 
planning, development, right of entry, compensation and assessment 
matters. 

Land Use District means a district listed under Section 12 of this Bylaw and delineated 
on one or more land use district schedules, in which only certain land 
uses may be allowed as either permitted uses or discretionary uses 
and in which specific requirements must be satisfied before 
development may proceed. 

Lane means a public right-of-way, which provides a secondary means of 
access to an area that is registered in Alberta Land Titles.  

Livestock means poultry, donkeys, mules, oxen, birds, horses, cattle, sheep, 
swine, goats, bison, specialty livestock, and / or fur bearing animals 
raised in captivity, sheep, elk, deer, wild boar, turkeys, ducks, geese 
and game production animals within the meaning of the Livestock 
Industry Diversification Act. 

Lot  means a: 
 
a) Quarter section of land; 
 
b) River lot or settlement lot shown on an official plan, that is referred 

to in the Surveys Act, and is as defined by Alberta Land Titles; 
 

45



 

8 

c) Part of a parcel where the boundaries of the part are separately 
described in a certificate of title other than by reference to a legal 
subdivision; or 

 
d) Part of a parcel where the boundaries of the part are described in a 

certificate of title by reference to a plan of subdivision. 

Lot – Corner means a lot situated at the junction of two or more intersecting 
roadways. 

Lot Coverage means the percentage of a lot area that is covered by all buildings on 
the same lot excluding the area covered by balconies, canopies, deck 
and the like as shown in Figure 4. 

 

Figure 4. Lot Coverage 

Lot Depth means the length of a straight-line that joins the middle of the lot line 
– front with the middle of the lot line – rear as shown in Figure 5. 

Lot Line means a legally defined property line of a lot. 

Lot Line – Front  means the boundary dividing the lot from an abutting public roadway. 
In the case of a vacant corner lot  the shorter lot line shall be the 
front lot line as shown in Figure 5, unless otherwise identified by the 
development authority. In the case of a corner lot with an existing 
development, the lot line where access is taken shall be the front lot 
line. 

Property Line

Steps

Deck

Balcony
Site
Coverage
Area

Property Line

Public Road

46



 

9 

 

Figure 5. Lot Options 

Lot Line – Rear  means the lot line that is opposite to the lot line – front. 

Lot Line – Side  means the lot line other than a lot line – front or lot line – rear. 

Lot Width means the average horizontal measurement between the lot line - 
sides as determined by the Development Authority as shown in 
Figure 5. 

Municipal 
Development Plan 

means the Mackenzie County Municipal Development Plan adopted 
by Council in accordance with Section 632 of the Act. 

Municipal Planning 
Commission 

means Mackenzie County’s Municipal Planning Commission 
appointed pursuant to Section 625 the Act. 

Non-Conforming 
Building or Use 

means a building or use which lawfully existed or was under 
construction prior to this Bylaw becoming effective and does not 
conform to this Bylaw.  

Panhandle/Flag lot  means any parcel in the Agricultural District which gains access and 
road frontage through a narrow strip of land which is an integral part of 
the parcel as shown in Figure 6.  

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 6. Panhandle Lot  

47



 

10 

Parcel of land means the aggregate of the one or more areas of land described in a 
certificate of title or described in a certificate of title by reference to a 
plan filed or registered in Alberta Land Titles. 

Permanent 
Foundation 

means a structure constructed or erected with a fixed location on the 
ground or attached to something having a fixed location on the ground 
with a foundational system or arrangement composed of, but not 
limited to footing, raft, or pole, and may include walls, light standards, 
fences and Signs, and renders the structure fixed and immovable. 

Permitted Use means the use of land or building, which is listed in the column, 
captioned permitted use in most land use districts appearing in this 
Bylaw and for which a development permit shall be issued upon an 
application having conformed to the provisions of this Bylaw. In 
addition, a development permit application shall be approved if the 
conditions of approval ensure that the development would conform to 
the provisions of this Bylaw. 

Pluvial Flooding means a flooding or ponding event caused by excessive rainfall or 
seasonal runoff that occurs when the ground is unable to absorb the 
rainfall or runoff effectively, or urban drainage systems are 
overwhelmed by excessive water flow. 

Principal Building means a building where the main or principal use of the site is 
conducted. 

Recreational Vehicle means a portable structure or vehicle designed as a temporary 
accommodation for travel, vacation, or recreation, including motor 
home, fold down camping trailer, truck camper, or fifth wheel travel 
trailer but does not include a manufactured home. 

Registered Owner means: 
 
a) The Minister responsible for the administration of land, in the case 

of land owned by the Crown in Right of Alberta or the Crown in 
Right of Canada; or 
 

b) The purchaser of a fee simple estate, registered against the 
certificate of title in the land, or any assignee of the purchaser’s 
interest that is the subject of a caveat registered against the 
certificate of title; or 

 
c) The person registered under the Province of Alberta Land Titles 

Act as the owner of the fee simple estate in the land, in the 
absence of a person described in (b) above. 

Renovations – Major means any structural alteration to an existing building which 
includes enlarging or adding to the building and the enlargement of 
windows and/or doors. 

48



 

11 

Renovations - Minor means any changes to an existing building such as changing non- 
weight bearing walls and routine maintenance which includes shingles, 
siding and the replacement of same sized windows and/or doors. 

Road means land shown as a road on a plan of survey that has been 
registered at Alberta Land Titles, or used as a public road, and 
includes a bridge forming part of a public road and any structure 
incidental to a public road, but does not include a highway. 

Road Access means direct access to a road from a lot, or lawful means of access 
satisfactory to the Development Authority. 

Satellite Dish and 
Antennae 

means a device that is designed for receiving communications or other 
signals from orbiting satellites and/or an amplifier designed for 
receiving, magnifying and transferring signals. 

Screening means a vertical physical barrier constructed out of typical building 
materials used for purposes of containment or to prevent unauthorized 
access, which serves as a visual screen. 

Shared Parking means a site’s parking supply may service more than one use on the 
site. The total supply of parking spaces may be less than the sum of 
the total Bylaw parking requirement for all uses on the site and may 
occur through the proponent providing detailed information and 
analysis of one or more uses on the site having different individual 
peak demand times; employees / customers of one use on the site 
utilizing another use on the site; a customer coming to several different 
uses on the site; 

Sight Triangle means the triangle formed by a straight line drawn between two points, 
one located along a front lot line and the second along a side lot line 
at a distance of 7.6m (25.0ft) from the point where the lot lines 
intersect as shown in Figure 7. In cases where the back lot line fronts 
a public roadway, the same regulations apply. 

49



 

12 

 

Figure 7. Sight Triangle 

Spark Arrester means a device which prevents the emission of flammable debris from 
combustion sources, such as internal combustion engines, fireplaces, 
and wood burning stoves. 

Structural Alteration means the construction or reconstruction of supporting elements of a 
building or other structure.  

Subdivision means the division of a parcel of land into one or smaller parcels by 
an instrument or plan of subdivision as defined in the Land Titles Act. 

Subdivision and 
Development   
Appeal Board 

means a board of individuals, appointed pursuant to Section 627 of the 
Act, that hears subdivision and development appeals and renders a 
decision. 

Temporary means a use or building which occurs from the date of the 
development permit approval for a length of time as specified in the 
permit approval by the Development Authority. 

Unsightly condition means: 
 
a) A structure whose exterior shows signs of significant physical 

deterioration; 
 

b) Land that, in the opinion of the Development Authority, shows 
signs of serious disregard for general maintenance or upkeep; and 

 
c) Any other definition pursuant to the Unsightly Premises Bylaw as 

updated from time to time. 

Unsubdivided land means a quarter section, lake lot, river lot or settlement lot that has 
not been subdivided except for public use.  

Water Body means any location where water flows and / or is present, excluding 
Dugouts, whether or not the flow or the presence of water is 
continuous, intermittent or occurs only during a flood, and includes but 
is not limited to wetlands and aquifers but does not include part of an 
irrigation works if the irrigation works is subject to a licence and the 
irrigation works is owned by the licensee, unless regulations specify that 
the location is included in the definition of a water body. 

Yard means the part of a parcel of land not covered by buildings, 
excluding land used for agricultural use. 

Yard – Exterior Side means a side yard that is abutting a public/private roadway as shown 

50



 

13 

in Figure 8. 

Yard – Front means a yard extending across the full width of a lot, and situated 
between the front lot line and the nearest exterior wall of the principal 
building. The minimum front Yard depth is the shortest horizontal 
distance permitted between the front lot line of such lot  and the 
nearest part of the principal building as shown in Figure 8. 

Yard – Interior Side means a side yard that is not abutting a public/private roadway as 
shown in Figure 8. 

Yard – Rear  means a yard extending across the full width of a lot and situated 
between the rear lot line and nearest exterior wall of the principal 
building. The minimum rear yard is the shortest distance permitted 
between the rear lot line of such lot and the nearest part of the 
principal building as shown in Figure 8. 

 

Figure 8 – Yard Setbacks 

Yard – Setback  means the required distance from the property line to the nearest point 
of an exterior wall of the building. 

 

 

  

  

  

51



 

14 

1.7 Use Definitions 
 

Abattoir means a use or a building facility used for slaughtering animals 
(livestock) and may include processing, packing, treating, storing and 
the sale of meat produced. 

Accessory Building  means a building separate and subordinate to the principal building, 
the use of which is incidental to that of the principal building and is 
located on the same parcel of land. A Private Garage is not 
considered an accessory building. 
 

Adult Entertainment 
Business 

means a business operation lawfully permitted, which principally 
caters to the provision of erotic entertainment for persons 18 years of 
age or older and which is operated either as a principal or ancillary 
use. Includes but is not limited to the following: an establishment for 
exotic dancing, escort services, adult video/book/magazine stores, 
retail sex shops selling sexual aids, clothing and accessories, 
“topless” bars and similar uses. 
 

Agricultural 
Machinery Sales and 
Service 

means a business operation designed for selling and servicing farm 
implements and supplying parts. 

Agricultural Supply 
Depot 
 

means a facility that specializes in bulk storage and sale of agricultural 
products or other farm supplies but does not include the sale and 
storage of regulated solid and liquid fertilizers. 
 

Agriculture  means 

a) those agricultural operations producing crops or livestock; 

b) fenced or enclosed land or buildings where livestock are 
confined for the purpose of growing sustaining, finishing or 
breeding by means other than grazing; 

c) Livestock seasonal feeding and bedding sites, equestrian stables 
or any building intended to be used directly for agricultural use; 

Airport means 
a) any area of land or water, including frozen surfaces thereof, or 

other supporting surface used or intended to be used either in 
whole or in part for the arrival and departure and servicing of 
aircrafts, aircraft passengers and air freight. Services provided 
may include but not be limited to Airport operations and 
administration, food and personal services, freight and 
baggage handling, as well as aircraft maintenance and repair;  
 

52



 

15 

b) includes any building, installation or equipment in connection 
therewith, operated by the Department of National Defense or 
for which an Airport license has been issued by Transport 
Canada. 

 
c) may contain a residential unit containing one (1) or more 

habitable rooms that provide living accommodations as a 
temporary residence for emergency personnel. 

Apiary means a development consisting of beehives in which bees are kept 
or raised for the production of honey. 

Assisted Living  means a residential use that provides accommodation with on site or 
off site supports for residents’ day to day needs who require 
supervision to perform daily living tasks and may: 

a) contain Dwelling Units within a facility; 
 

b) contain administrative offices; and  
 

c) include medical care to the residents. 

Auction Facility means a building or lot intended for the auctioning of livestock, 
goods and equipment, including the temporary storage of such 
livestock, goods and equipment. 

Automotive 
Equipment and 
Vehicle Services, 
Major 

means the servicing, mechanical and body repair of automobiles, 
trucks, farm machinery, recreational vehicles and heavy equipment, 
and the sale, installation, servicing or storage of related accessories 
and parts. This includes truck, heavy equipment shops, body shops, 
and recreational vehicles repair shops. 

Automotive 
Equipment and 
Vehicle Services, 
Minor 

means the servicing and mechanical repair of automobiles, light 
trucks, utility vehicles, motorcycles, snowmobiles, and similar vehicles 
and the sale, installation or servicing of related accessories and parts. 
This includes transmission shops, muffler shops, tire shops, 
automotive glass shops, and car upholstery shops. Automotive 
Equipment and Vehicle Services, Minor facilities may include a 
wash bay as an accessory use. 

Automotive Sales 
and Rental 

means the retail sale, rental or lease of new or used automobiles, 
recreational vehicles and motorcycles, together with incidental 
maintenance services and sale of parts. 

Barndominium also known as a “barndo” or “shouse” (shop + house), is a post frame 
building that combines living quarters with a large garage, workshop, 
airport hangar or recreational/workspace under one roof. A 
Barndominium must be located on a lot with another dwelling. 

53



 

16 

Bars and 
Neighbourhood 
Pubs 

means a building primarily used for the sale of alcoholic beverages to 
the public, for consumption within the premises or off the site. This use 
typically has a limited menu and minors are prohibited from patronizing 
the establishment during at least some portion of the hours of 
operation. Typical uses include neighbourhood pubs, bars, beverage 
rooms, and cocktail lounges. 

Bed and Breakfast 
Business 

means a commercial business that is an accessory use to the 
residential uses of a dwelling which the occupant rents or leases a 
room or suites of rooms on a temporary basis, and which may include 
the provision of meals as part of or in addition to the fee paid for the 
room or suites of rooms. This does not include a Hotel/Motel or 
Secondary Suite. 

Breweries and 
Distilleries 

means the manufacturing, packing, bottling, canning of beer, wine, 
spirits, or other alcoholic beverages for on-site or off-site consumption. 
These developments may include the preparation and sale of food for 
on-site or off-site consumption. 

Building Supply 
Centre 

means a commercial retail establishment where building materials, 
household accessories, and other related goods are stored, offered, or 
kept for sale and may include outside storage. 

Bulk Fertilizer 
Storage and/or 
Sales 
 

means a business operation that sells chemicals, in bulk, used for 
increasing the productivity of farm operations. 

Bulk Fuel Storage 
and Distribution 

means a development where refined or crude oil, fuel, or liquid is 
stored outdoors using storage tanks as regulated by the Safety Code 
Council and includes the storage of dangerous/hazardous substances, 
as defined by the Dangerous Goods Transportation and Handling Act. 
The development may include card-lock retail sales and facilities for 
cleaning, blending or packaging of bulk oil, fuel or chemicals, but does 
not include manufacturing of any of these products. 

Bunkhouse means a prefabricated mobile residential building that provides basic 
living facilities.  

Bus Depot means a building and associated facilities that provides passengers 
with facilities to embark / disembark on / from buses, and / or for the 
parking and storage of buses and related equipment. 

Business Support 
Services 

means development used to provide support services to uses 
permitted or discretionary in a land use district. Such businesses 
may be characterized but not limited to the provision of support 
functions such as: 
 
a) Printing, duplicating, binding or photographic processing; 
 
b) Secretarial services; 
 

54



 

17 

c) Office maintenance or custodial services; 
 
d) Security services; 
 
e) Sale, rental, repair, or servicing of office equipment, furniture, and 

machines; and 
 
f) Sale, rental, repair or servicing of computers, cellular phones, and 

fax machines. 

Cabin means a small, roughly built house, or hut used on a seasonal basis 
which does not exceed 46.45m2 (500.0ft2). 

Campground means a development for recreational use with sites designated for 
lodgings in tents, recreational vehicles, or other similar 
accommodations. This may include Cabins and small retail service 
provided solely for the occupants of the campground at the discretion 
of the Development Authority.  

Cannabis Grower means a producer of cannabis that has obtained a federal license and 
is one who complies with the terms and conditions of that license. 

Cannabis 
Retailer/Distributor 

means someone running a retail store licensed by the Province of 
Alberta where non-medical Cannabis and Cannabis Accessories are 
sold to individuals who attend the premises. 

Cemetery means a parcel of land that is used as burial grounds, excluding 
Crematorium, and is licensed by the appropriate Provincial 
Departments or Agencies. 

Commercial School means a development used for classroom oriented training and 
instruction in a specific trade, skill or service for the financial gain of the 
individual or company owning the school. Typical uses include 
secretarial, business, hairdressing, beauty, culture and dance or music 
schools. 
Commercial School does not include industrial training facilities. 

Commercial School, 
Industrial 

means a development for training in an industrial trade, skill or 
services for the financial gain of the individual or company owning the 
school. Typical uses include industrial training schools that require the 
use of heavy equipment, machinery and large vehicle parking areas 
for training facility. 

Communication 
Tower 

means a structure and associated equipment that is used to convey 
communication, radio or television signals, and may include ancillary 
structures and is subject to Mackenzie County Policy DEV006 – 
Antenna System Siting Policy. 

Community Pasture Means the shared use of land for grazing animals. 

55



 

18 

Confined Feeding 
Operations 

means fenced or enclosed land or buildings where livestock are 
confined for the purpose of growing, sustaining, finishing or breeding 
by means other than grazing and any other building or structure 
directly related to that purpose but does not include residences, 
livestock seasonal feeding and bedding sites, equestrian stables, 
auction markets, race tracks or Exhibition Grounds. The Agricultural 
Operation Practices Act shall define the minimum size and number of 
a Confined Feeding Operation. 

Contractor Services 
with Outdoor 
Storage 

means a development used for commercial and industrial service 
support and construction. Typical uses may include oilfield support 
services, cleaning and maintenance contractors, building 
construction, surveying, landscaping, electrical, excavation, drilling, 
heating, plumbing, paving, road  construction, sewer or similar 
services of a construction nature which require on-site storage space 
for materials, mobile equipment or vehicles normally associated with 
the contractor. Any sales, display, office or technical support service 
areas are an accessory use to the principal use. 

Contractor Services 
without Outdoor 
Storage 

means a development used for the provision of electrical, plumbing, 
heating, painting, catering and other contractor services, and the 
accessory sales of goods normally associated with the contractor 
services where all materials are kept within an enclosed building. 

Crematorium means a building used for the cremation of deceased persons or 
animals. 

Day Care Facility means a development as a stand-alone use or a use located within a 
building other than a residential dwelling, used to provide care and 
supervision for children, but not overnight accommodation, in 
accordance with the Early Learning and Child Care Act. Typical uses 
are day care centres and nursery schools but does not include a 
private babysitting facility. 

Day Care Home means a facility that provides care for children operated in connection 
with a residential use, in accordance with the Early Learning and Child 
Care Act. This includes facilities where children’s care is an 
accessory use to the primary residential use. No overnight care is 
provided. 

Dugout means the excavation of lands resulting in manmade features that 
entrap water and includes excavations for a water supply and borrow 
pits. 

Dwelling – 
Apartment 

means a residential building, containing individual suites on multiple 
stories, consisting of three or more Dwelling Units or one to three 
Dwelling Units if the ground floor of such building is a commercial 
use, having a shared entrance or their own independent access as 
shown in Figure 9. 

56



 

19 

 

Figure 9. Dwelling – Apartment  

Dwelling – Duplex  means a building that is divided vertically into two Dwelling Units 
side-by-side and separated from each other by a common wall 
extending from the foundation to the roof and not attached to any other 
residential buildings as illustrated in Figure 10. 

Figure 10. Dwelling - Duplex 

Dwelling – 
Emergency Services 

means a residential unit containing one (1) or more habitable rooms 
that provide living accommodations and is intended as temporary 
residence for emergency personnel, as an accessory use, to a non-
residential principal use. 

Dwelling – Group 
Home 

means a facility that provides special care for individuals who are in 
need of adult supervision, and that is licensed by the appropriate 
public authority. A group home located within a residential type land 
use district or which is adjacent to a residential land use district 
shall be limited to six (6) persons excluding staff and shall be located 
in a building designed as a dwelling. 

Dwelling – Multi-unit means a residential building in any configuration, containing three or 
more Dwelling Units or two to three Dwelling Units if the ground 
floor of such building is a commercial use, having a shared entrance 
or their own independent access. Manufactured Home - Mobile units 
or recreational vehicles may not be converted to a Dwelling – Multi-
Unit. 

57



 

20 

Dwelling – Row  means a minimum of three dwelling units constructed in a row and 
divided vertically by common walls, and each of which has a separate 
entrance at ground level as shown in Figure 11. 

Figure 11. Dwelling - Row 

Dwelling – Single 
Detached 

means a development consisting of only one Dwelling Unit with a 
permanent foundation over 74.32 square metres (800 square feet) 
which is separate from any other Dwelling Unit or building but does 
not include a Manufactured Home – Mobile. 

Dwelling – Single 
Detached – Tiny 
Home 
 

a principal dwelling with a permanent foundation under 74.32 square 
metres (800 square feet). 

Dwelling – Stacked 
Row Housing 

means a dwelling that includes three (3) or more Dwelling Units 
arranged two deep, either vertically so that Dwelling Units are placed 
over others, or horizontally so that Dwelling Units are attached at the 
rear as well as at the side. Each Dwelling Unit shall have separate 
and individual access, not necessarily directly to grade, provided that 
no more than two Dwelling Units may share access to grade as 
illustrated in Figure 12. 

 

Figure 12. Dwelling – Stacked Row Housing 
 

Dwelling Unit means a residential unit containing one (1) or more habitable rooms 
that provide living accommodations and is intended as a permanent 
residence, as an accessory use, to a non-residential principal use. 

Education Facility means a development that is publicly supported and involves public 
assembly for education, training or instruction purposes, and includes 
dormitories and the administration offices required for the provision of 

58



 

21 

such services on the same site. Typical uses include, but are not 
limited to, public and separate schools, community colleges, 
universities, and technical and vocational schools, but do not include 
Commercial Schools. 

Emergency Services 
Facility 

means a development which is required for the public protection of 
persons and property from injury, harm, or damage together with the 
incidental storage of equipment and vehicles, which is necessary for 
the provision of emergency services. An Emergency Services 
Facility may include provisions for overnight accommodation as an 
accessory use. Typical uses include police stations, fire stations, 
emergency medical services and ancillary training facilities. 

Entertainment 
Establishment, 
Indoor 

means a commercial development providing recreational 
entertainment facilities within a building such as movie theatres, 
billiard parlours, electronic games arcades and bowling alleys, but 
does not include gambling machine establishments. 

Enviro – Tank  means a self-contained tank designed for temporary storage of fuel 
which may include gasoline or diesel. An Enviro – Tank does not 
include Bulk Fuel Storage and Distribution.  

Equipment Rental 
Facility 

means a commercial establishment principally involved in the renting 
of equipment. 

Exhibition Facility means areas that are used for the public display of art objects, 
industrial achievements, agricultural products, merchandise, articles, 
skills, innovations, or information within a facility. 

Exhibition Grounds means areas that are used for rodeos, amusement rides, jamborees, 
and other similar uses in outdoor open areas. 

Extensive 
Recreational Use 

means the use of land for recreational activities that require large 
tracts of land in a rural setting, having natural physical features, 
conducive to hunting, trail riding, all-terrain vehicle exercises, hiking 
and other similar activities. 

Forest Based 
Industry 

means an industrial operation that manufactures wood products, and 
that may include storage yards, lumber re-manufacturing facilities, 
oriented strand board plants, pulp mills and sawmills. 

Funeral Home means a place where funerals are held and / or deceased persons are 
kept or prepared for burial or cremation. 

Garden Suite means a secondary Dwelling Unit, including a Dwelling – Single 
Detached – Tiny Home, detached from and located on a parcel of 
land on which there is already a principal Dwelling Unit located on 
the same yard, accessible by the same driveway.  

 
 

 

59



 

22 

 
Government Service 

means a development providing Crown Corporation, or municipal, 
provincial or federal Government Services directly to the public. 
Typical uses include but are not limited to municipal offices, taxation 
offices, courthouses, postal stations, staffing and employment offices, 
school board office, first nation services, health authority office, and 
social service offices, which result in a significant client visitation. It 
does not include essential public services, correctional centres and 
schools. 

Grain Elevator means a structure that is used for storing grain and is usually located 
in such a manner to take advantage of a rail or truck loading facility. 

Health Service means a building or structure where a professional health 
practitioner(s), including but not limited to doctors, dentists, 
optometrists, acupuncturists, naturopaths, chiropractors, 
physiotherapists and counsellors, excluding veterinarians, provide 
diagnosis, mental Health Services, and treatment to the general 
public with the potential for overnight accommodations. Medical and 
health offices include such uses as x-ray and other diagnostic services 
as well as minor operating rooms and uses accessory to the provision 
of medical and Health Services. 

Home Based 
Business Medium 

means a business owned and operated by the resident residing on the 
site which may consist of an office attached to the principal dwelling or 
within the principal dwelling or within a Shop – Commercial, Shop – 
Personal or Shop – Farm. 

Commercial vehicles associated with a Home Based Business 
Medium shall be restricted to no larger than 2 tonnes. No large 
commercial equipment such as excavators, bulldozers or tractor/trailer 
units shall be allowed. 

Home Based 
Business Minor 

means an occupation, trade, profession or craft carried on by an 
occupant of a Dwelling Unit on the site and is considered as an 
accessory use to the residential or agricultural use of the property 
and does not change the character thereof. 

Hospital means an institutional development used to provide in-patient and 
out-patient health care to the public. This use may include short-term 
and long-term care, overnight stays, diagnostic, laboratory, and 
surgical services, for humans. Accessory uses may be included that 
support the principal use.  

Hotel/Motel 
 

means 
a) the provision of rooms or suites in a commercial development for 

temporary sleeping accommodation where the rooms have 
access from a common interior corridor and may be equipped with 
individual kitchen facilities; or 
 

b) a development divided into self-contained sleeping or Dwelling 
Units, each with a separate exterior entrance and convenient 

60



 

23 

access to on-site parking.  
 

May include food services, meeting rooms, and Personal Service 
Establishment.  
 

Industrial Camp means a residential complex used to house camp workers and may 
include mobile residential units and eating, recreational, and other 
basic, supportive facilities, and meets the approval of all applicable 
agencies. 

Industrial Use, 
General 

means the manufacturing, processing, assembling, cleaning, repairing, 
servicing, testing, storage, warehousing, distribution or shipment of 
materials, finished goods, products or equipment primarily within an 
enclosed building and involves limited outdoor storage where no 
nuisance factor is created or apparent outside of the building. 
Warehousing may include an office space and ancillary retail sales. 
General industrial use does not include uses listed under Industrial 
Use, Heavy. 

Industrial Use, 
Heavy 

means the manufacturing, assembling, processing, cleaning, repairing, 
servicing, testing, storage, warehousing, distribution or shipment of 
concrete, asphalt, gravel, cement, lime, brick, tar, energy, oil and gas 
or forestry products that involves extensive outdoor storage and / or 
preparation areas and create nuisance factors that are incompatible 
with non-heavy industrial land uses. 

Intensive 
Greenhouse 

means a building or structure used for the growing of plants, shrubs, 
trees and similar vegetation and where the plants, shrubs, trees and 
similar vegetation is sold either wholesale or retail.  

Kennel means a premise where a number of dogs and / or cats are 
maintained, boarded, bred, trained, or cared for in return for 
remuneration or kept for purposes of sale. 

Manufactured Home 
– Mobile 

means a dwelling that is constructed with a heavy transport chassis 
that allows for the permanent or temporary attachment of a hitch and 
wheel assembly to enable the relocation of the dwelling. A 
Manufactured Home – Mobile may be a single structure (single‐wide) 
or two parts which when put together (double‐wide) comprise a 
complete dwelling. A Manufactured Home – Mobile may not be 
transformed into another dwelling type. 

Manufactured Home 
– Modular 

means a dwelling which is prefabricated, or factory built, and which is 
assembled on the parcel in sections, but such sections or units have 
neither chassis, running gear, nor its own wheels, and the sections 
may be stacked vertically, or placed side-by-side and is similar in 
appearance and profile to a conventional home. This does not include 
a Dwelling – Single Detached, Manufactured Home - Mobile or 
recreational vehicle. 

61



 

24 

Manufactured Home 
– Tiny Home 

means a structure, whether originally equipped with a heavy transport 
chassis, a hitch and wheel assembly or not, that is manufactured in a 
controlled environment that conforms to either the CSA-Z240 or CSA-
A277 of the national Building Code – Alberta Edition, is transported 
from one place to another as a single unit, has a maximum floor area 
of 74.32 square metres (800sq.ft.), is utilized as a principal dwelling 
unit, or as an accessory use to another principal dwelling unit. This 
does not include refurbished Shipping Containers or any other 
structure that is constructed outside of a controlled environment. 

Manufactured Home 
Community 

means a parcel of land, under a single ownership for accommodating 
manufactured homes on unregistered lots, which are rented by the 
park operator to individuals. This may include a facility containing an 
office responsible for the management, provisions of utilities, 
improvements of facilities, and maintenance of amenities of a 
Manufactured Home Community and may include a common 
laundry facility, indoor/outdoor storage area and a residence for the 
park manager. 
 

Manufactured Home 
Sales and Service 

means a business operation for selling and servicing manufactured 
homes 

Manufactured Home 
Subdivision 

means a registered subdivision where manufactured homes are 
permitted on lots owned by individuals, and where the responsibility of 
property maintenance rests with individual lot owners. 

Museum means a place or building in which works of artistic, historical, 
archaeological, and scientific value are cared for and exhibited. 

Natural Resource 
Extraction 

means the extraction of natural resources and raw materials, including 
oil and gas, peat, metallic minerals, non-metallic minerals (such as 
coal, limestone, gypsum, granite, and salt), gravel, sand, clay and 
reclamation of the site. Natural Resource Extraction may include the 
stripping of topsoil, overburden, loading and hauling of product off-site 
but does not include processing of natural resources. 

Oilfield Service 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

means a development that provides cleaning, servicing, repairing or 
testing of materials, goods and equipment normally associated with 
the oil and gas industry and may include the storage or shipping of 
such materials, goods and equipment, including petrochemical 
products and supplies provided such storage is in accordance with all 
applicable provincial and federal statutes. This definition applies to oil 
and gas industry support operations and includes, but is not limited to, 
seismic and surveying, well servicing, pipeline contractors and welding 
operations. 

Park means land set aside for open space and recreational purposes and 
designated as Park or recreational area by Council. 

62



 

25 

Park Model means a recreational unit that is meant for seasonal use and conforms 
to the Canadian Standards Association standard Z-240 for 
recreational vehicles and the Alberta Building Code.  

Personal Service 
Establishment 

means a development where personal services related to the care 
and appearance of the body, or where the cleaning and repair of 
personal effects are provided to individuals. This may include, but are 
not limited to, barbershops, hairdressers, beauty salons, tailors, 
dressmakers, shoe repair shops, dry cleaners, and laundromats. 

Petroleum Facility means petroleum infrastructure such as oil / gas pipelines, gas plants, 
refinery, well battery, and compressor stations. 

Place of Worship means a development used by a religious organization for worship 
and related religious, philanthropic, or social activities including 
rectories, manses, and Accessory Buildings. Typical uses include 
churches, chapels, mosques, temples, synagogues, parish halls, 
convents and monasteries, and any uses which are accessory to the 
principal use. 

Pressure Vessel 
Storage 

means a closed container designed to store gases or liquids at a 
pressure different from the ambient pressure. 

Private Club means an indoor development used for the meeting, social, or 
recreational activities of members of a philanthropic, social service, 
non-profit, athletic, business or fraternal organization. This may 
include rooms for eating and general assembly. 

Private Garage means  
a) an accessory use where a portion of the principal building, in 

the case of an attached garage, including a carport, is used in 
conjunction with a dwelling principally for the private parking or 
storage of motor vehicles for personal transportation and 
recreation; or 
 

b) an Accessory Building that is not attached to the principal 
building and is used in conjunction with a dwelling principally for 
the private parking or storage of motor vehicles for personal 
transportation and recreation.  

 
Professional, 
Financial, Office and 
Business Service 

means a development primarily used for the provision of professional, 
management, administrative, consulting, and financial services. 
Typical uses include the following and similar uses as offices of 
lawyers, accountants, engineers, planners, and architects; offices for 
real estate and insurance firms; clerical, secretarial, employment, 
telephone answering, and similar office support services; banks, credit 
unions, loan offices and similar financial uses; printing establishments, 
film processing establishments, janitorial firms and business 
equipment repair shops. 

63

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pressure


 

26 

Public Utility means a development used to provide one or more of the following 
for public consumption, benefit, convenience, or use; water; 
wastewater or storm water; public transportation operated by or on 
behalf of the County; communication; drainage ditch; natural gas; 
electric power; or heat. It includes buildings required to operate a 
Public Utility. 

Recreation Service, 
Indoor 

means facilities within an enclosed building for sports, active 
recreation and performing and cultural arts. Typical uses include but 
are not limited to arenas, riding arenas, curling rinks, athletic clubs, 
health and fitness clubs, gymnasiums, swimming pools, rifle ranges, 
bowling alleys, and racquet clubs. This does not include gaming 
facilities. 

Recreation Service, 
Outdoor 

means development providing facilities for sports and active 
recreation conducted outdoors. Typical facilities include, but are not 
limited to golf courses, miniature golf establishments, driving ranges, 
ski hills, ski jumps, sports fields, outdoor tennis courts, unenclosed ice 
surfaces or rinks, boating facilities, Scout/Guide camps, religious 
outdoor retreat camps and parks, paint ball parks, motocross tracks, 
riding arenas, and trail stables/riding. 

Recycling Depot means a development where bottles, cans, newspapers, and similar 
non-hazardous household goods are bought, sold, and temporarily 
stored for reuse, or dropped off or delivered by the public or by a 
contractor, or collected for recycling, and where all storage is 
contained within an enclosed building or an enclosed compound. 

Residential Sales 
Centre 

means a permanent or temporary building or structure used for a 
limited period of time for the purpose of marketing residential land or 
buildings and does not include a Dwelling Unit. 

Restaurant means a development where the primary purpose of the facility is the 
sale of prepared foods to the public, for consumption within the 
premises or off the site. Minors are never prohibited from any portion of 
the establishment at any time during the hours of operation.  

Retail means a development used for the retail sale of groceries, 
beverages, household goods, furniture and appliances, clothing, home 
improvement supplies, garden supplies, printed matter, confectionery, 
tobacco, pharmaceutical and personal care items, automotive parts 
and accessories, office equipment, stationery and similar goods from 
within an enclosed building. 

Retail – Garden 
Centre 

means a use where gardening products, plants, seeds, shrubbery, 
trees and other gardening related products are sold to the public from 
a permanent or temporary structure, or specifically identified outdoor 
areas for the storage, display and sale of plants and products. 

64



 

27 

Retail - Liquor means a store that sells alcoholic beverages and products for 
consumption outside the store premises. 

Rifle/Skeet Range means an area or building where the controlled use of firearms is 
permitted for the purpose of target practice. 

Salvage Yard means a facility for the storage, processing, or trans-shipment of 
derelict vehicles, machinery, scrap metal, and similar materials for 
sales. 

Secondary Suite means  
a) a use containing two or more rooms used or to be used as a 

Dwelling Unit which includes cooking facilities and is created in a 
Dwelling – Single Detached, Dwelling – Duplex or a detached 
Private Garage; and 
 

b) intended for temporary or long-term residency by a tenant. A 
Secondary Suite shall have a separate entrance directly from the 
outside or through a common area inside, or both. 
 

Self-Storage 1 means a use where goods are stored in a building on a small scale; 
where the building is made up of separate compartments and each 
compartment has separate access that may be available to individuals 
for the storage of personal items. A Self-Storage 1 facility may also 
include the administrative functions associated with the use; 

Self-Storage 2 means a use where goods are stored in a building on a large scale; 
where the building is made up of separate compartments and each 
compartment has separate access that may be available to individuals 
for the storage of personal items. Storage of items such as RVs and 
boats, either indoors or outdoors, is permitted within this facility. A 
Self-Storage 2 facility may also include the administrative functions 
associated with the use. 

Service Station – 
Major  

means a development that caters to large commercial vehicles such 
as semi-trucks and trailers as well as intermediate sized vehicles and 
passenger vehicles. This use may include a Restaurant, Bulk Fuel 
Storage and Distribution, vehicle towing services, Hotel/Motel and 
similar uses provided that these are accessory to the operation of a 
Service Station – Major. 

Service Station - 
Minor 

means a development used for retail sales of vehicular fuels, tires, 
batteries and similar accessories, and includes minor servicing and 
washing of vehicles. This use may include Retail and vehicle towing 
services as accessory uses. 

65



 

28 

Shipping Container means a steel Shipping Container for use accessory to the principal 
building/use as shown in Figure 13. 

Figure 13. Shipping Container 

Shop – Commercial  means an accessory structure intended for the use of commercial or 
industrial type development but does not include a Shop – Farm. 

Shop – Farm  means an accessory structure intended to store or maintain farm 
equipment but does not include a Dwelling Unit, Private Garage, 
Shop – Commercial, Shop – Personal or buildings for use in 
Confined Feeding Operations or a barn. This does not include 
commercial or industrial uses. 

Shop – Personal means an accessory structure on a residential property intended for 
personal use. 

Sign means an object, structure or device used for the purpose of 
identification or advertising or to call attention to any person, matter, 
thing, or event or to give direction. 

Tarp Shelter means a temporary building designed and constructed as per 
minimum manufacturers instructions for the foundation that supports 
an exterior fabric covering and may also include some rigid exterior 
wall panels containing windows and/or doors. A Tarp Shelter will be 
for cold storage only and will not be permitted to be a commercial use. 
 

Tourism – 
minor/major 
 

means a use where public or private cultural or tourism recreation 
occurs. Typical uses include tourist information centres, libraries, 
museums, or other cultural facilities, but does not include Recreation 
(indoor) or Recreation (outdoor). 
 

Tourist Home means a Dwelling Unit operated as a temporary place to stay, with 
or without compensation, and includes all vacation rentals of a 
Dwelling Unit. The characteristics that distinguish a Tourist Home 
from a Dwelling Unit  used as a residence may include any of the 
following: 
 

66



 

29 

a) The intent of the occupant to stay for short- term vacation 
purposes rather than use the property as a residence; 
 

b) The commercial nature of a Tourist Home; 
 
c) The management or advertising of the Dwelling Unit  as a 

Tourist Home or “vacation property”; or 
 
d) The use of a system of reservations, deposits, confirmations, 

credit cards or other forms of electronic payment. 

Tourist Information 
Facility 

means a facility whose primary function is to provide information on 
roads, directions, attractions, accommodations, or other tourist-related 
materials. 

Urban Agriculture means a development that involves growing fruits, vegetables, plants, 
or raising chickens or bees in urban areas for use beyond personal 
consumption. This activity may include the sale of agricultural products 
raised or grown on-site. This use does not include Cannabis Grower. 

Veterinary Clinic means a business establishment where medical care and treatment of 
animals are provided by licensed veterinarian and other supportive 
staff and may include a Kennel and/or compound. 

Waste Management means a site used primarily for the storage, processing, treatment and 
disposal of solid and liquid wastes, which may have adverse 
environmental impact on sites either abutting or in the vicinity by 
virtue of potential emissions and appearance. Typical uses include 
sanitary landfills, garbage transfer and compacting stations, facilities 
for the recycling of materials (including Recycling Depots), 
incinerators, sewage lagoons and similar uses. 

Waste Transfer 
Station 

means a place where specified waste is temporarily stored and later 
transported to other location for disposal in a regional landfill. 

Wind Farm A group of wind turbines in the same location used to produce 
electricity. 

Woodlot  
Management 

means the activities related to the management of wooded areas that 
are purposely designated and restricted for growing and harvesting 
trees for commercial use. 

Yard Site 
Development 

means the development of a site with the intention of preparing it for 
a residence and may include the installation of power, phone, private 
sewer system, water supply and landscaping. 

 

67

https://zoningbylaw.edmonton.ca/site
https://zoningbylaw.edmonton.ca/use


 

30 

2 Bylaw Amendments 
 

2.1 Amendments to this Bylaw 
 
2.1.1 The County may at any time initiate an amendment to this Bylaw. 

 
2.1.2 A person may make an application to the Development Authority to amend this 

Bylaw.  
 

2.1.3 The application shall include: 
 

a) The prescribed application form, properly completed and signed; 
 

b) A statement of the specific amendment requested and the reasons for the 
amendment; and 
 

c) An application fee, as established by the County. 
 
2.1.4 If the amendment involves the re-designation of land to a different land use district, the 

application shall contain: 
 
a) A current copy of the certificate of title for the subject property; 

 
b) Written authorization from the registered owner(s) of the subject lands; 

 
c) A statement indicating the proposed use of the subject property; 

 
d) A properly dimensioned map describing the affected site to the satisfaction of the 

Development Authority; 
 

e) An Area Structure Plan where required by the Development Authority; and 
 

f) Such additional information as the Development Officer may require to evaluate 
the application, including but not limited to aerial photography, environmental 
impact assessment, environmental audit, soil tests, hydro-geological analysis, and 
geotechnical reports. 

 
2.1.5 In order to ensure a firm commitment for development has been received, rezoning 

applications involving rural residential developments shall provide the following: 
 
a) A minimum of 10 parcels per rezoning application, or where the total area to be 

rezoned is less than 20.2 hectares (50 acres), the total developable area must be 
subdivided. Where the lands contain proven water body/wetlands and/or 
topographical challenges that prevent the minimum of ten (10) lots from being 
created, the minimum number of lots may be decreased; 

 
b) The subdivision must have legal access that meets County standards; and 

 
c) Where the existing municipal road is not up to the standard required for the parcel, 

68



 

31 

a road request or upgrade must be part of the subdivision application. 
 

2.1.6 An applicant wishing to amend this Bylaw shall deliver by hand notification of 
application to landowners in immediate proximity to the site for which the application to 
amend this Bylaw has been submitted.  

2.2  
2.2.1 Where an application for an amendment to this Bylaw has been refused, the 

submission of another application to amend this Bylaw for the same parcel and same 
or similar amendment may not be made by the same or any other applicant for at least 
six (6) months after the date of the Bylaw being defeated by Council. 

 
2.3 Bylaw Amendment Notification Requirements 
 
2.3.1 After first reading being given to a bylaw to amend this Bylaw, the administration shall: 
 

a) Arrange for notice of a public hearing to be published in two (2) consecutive issues 
of a newspaper circulating in the County, the publication date of the second issue 
being not less than five (5) days prior to the commencement of the public hearing in 
a manner outlined in Section 606 of the Act; and 

 
b) Mail a notice of the public hearing to any neighbouring landowners who, in the 

opinion of the Development Authority, may be affected by the proposed 
amendment. 

 
2.3.2 If a Bylaw amendment provides for a change of district or district provisions, 

administration shall mail a public hearing notice, not less than fourteen (14) days 
preceding the public hearing date, to: 
 
a) The applicant; 
 
b) The registered owner(s) of the land if not the applicant and the registered 

owner(s) of adjacent land; 
 
c) An adjacent municipality if the subject amendment lands are adjacent to another 

municipality; and 
 
d) Any other authorities or persons who, in the opinion of the Development   

Authority, may be affected. 
 
2.3.3 A public hearing notice regarding a Bylaw amendment shall contain the following 

information: 
 

a) The date, time, and place of the public hearing; 
 
b) The purpose of the proposed Bylaw; 
 
c) Map depicting the location of the subject property; 
 
d) The address where a copy of the proposed Bylaw and any applicable public 

document may be inspected; and 
 

69



 

32 

e) The procedure to be followed at the public hearing. 
 
2.4 Requirement of a Land Use Bylaw Amendment Notification Sign 
 
2.4.1 The applicant shall post a Land Use Bylaw Amendment Application Notification Sign 

on the subject property a minimum of fourteen (14) days prior to a Council public 
hearing on the application to amend this Bylaw.  
 

2.4.2 A Land Use Bylaw Amendment Application Notification Sign shall: 
 

a) Have a maximum height above ground of 3.0m (9.8ft); 
 
b) Have a surface size of 1.2m (3.9ft) in height and 1.2m (3.9ft) in length; and 
 
c) Be positioned within the subject property line in a location visible from a public 

roadway. 
 
2.4.3 Land Use Bylaw Amendment Application Notification Signs shall display the following 

information, as per Figure 14: 
 

a) The legal description and municipal address of the subject property; 
 
b) The present land use district of the subject property; 
 
c) The proposed land use district of the subject property; and 
 
d) The contact information of the County in bold large font. 

 

 

70



 

33 

Figure 14. Land Use Bylaw Amendment Sign 

2.4.4 Within seven (7) days upon completion of a public hearing associated with a bylaw 
amendment application, the applicant shall remove the Land Use Bylaw Amendment 
Application Notification Sign. 

 

71



 

34 

3 Subdivision and Development Authorities 
 

3.1 Development Authority 
 
3.1.1 The Development Authority is established by bylaw in accordance with the Act. 
 
3.1.2 The Development Authority shall exercise development powers and duties on 

behalf of the County. 
 
3.1.3 The Development Authority shall be the Development Officer or, where the context 

of this Bylaw permits, the Municipal Planning Commission, the Inter-Municipal 
Planning Commission or County Council. 

 
3.2 Development Officers 
 
3.2.1 In accordance with the Act, the Development Officer is hereby established by this 

Bylaw as a Development Authority. 
 

3.2.2 The Chief Administrative Officer shall appoint the person to fill the position of 
Development Officer. 

 
3.2.3 The Development Officer is hereby designated to be an authorized person of the 

County to exercise Development  powers on behalf of the County. 
 
3.2.4 The Development Officer shall: 
 

a) Receive and process all development permit applications; 
 
b) Keep and maintain for inspection by the public during office hours, a copy of this 

Bylaw, as amended and ensure that copies are available to the public at a 
reasonable charge; 

 
c) Keep a register of all development permit applications, decisions thereon and the 

reasons therefore; 
 

d) Make decisions on all permitted use development permit applications; 
 
e) Make decisions on all permitted use development permit applications involving a 

maximum variance of 10% and refer variance greater than 10% to the Municipal 
Planning Commission for decision; Refer all discretionary use development   
permit applications to the Municipal Planning Commission for decision; 

 
f) Issue decisions on all development permit applications and state terms and 

conditions, as authorized by this Bylaw or Section 650 of the Act; and 
 

g) Refer all development permit applications in a Direct Control District to Council 
unless Council has specifically delegated approval authority to the Development   
Authority. 

 

72



 

35 

3.3 Municipal Planning Commission 
 
3.3.1 As a Development Authority, the Municipal Planning Commission shall issue 

decisions on all applications for: 
 
a) Discretionary uses; 
 
b) Variances greater than 10%; 
 
c) Permitted uses referred to it by the Development Officer; and 
 
d) Lands involving a Direct Control 2 (DC2) District. 

 
3.3.2 For the purpose of this section, an Inter-Municipal Planning Commission has the 

same roles and responsibilities as the Municipal Planning Commission. 
 
3.4 Council 
 
3.4.1 Council shall serve as the Development Authority for all applications in a Direct 

Control 1 (DC1) District. 
 

3.5 Subdivision Authorities 
 
3.5.1 The Subdivision Authority is established by bylaw in accordance with the Act. 
 
3.5.2 The Subdivision Authority shall exercise subdivision powers and duties on behalf of 

the County. 
 
3.5.3 The Subdivision Authority shall be, where the context of this Bylaw permits, the 

Municipal Planning Commission, the Inter-Municipal Planning Commission or 
County Council. 

 
3.5.4 The Subdivision Authority may also be, where appointed by bylaw, an external 

subdivision agency. 
 
3.6 Subdivision and Development Appeal Board 
 
3.6.1 The Subdivision and Development Appeal Board shall be established by separate 

bylaw and the Board shall carry out the duties and responsibilities pursuant to the 
bylaw that creates it. 
 

3.7 Inter-Municipal Subdivision and Development Appeal Board 
 
3.7.1 The Inter-Municipal Subdivision and Development Appeal Board shall be 

established by a separate bylaw and the Board shall carry out the duties and 
responsibilities pursuant to the bylaw that creates it. 
 

 

73



 

36 

4 Development Permits 
 

4.1 Need for Development Permit 
 
4.1.1 Except as provided in subsection 4.3, no person shall commence a development in 

the County unless a development permit has first been issued pursuant to this 
Bylaw and the development is in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
development permit. 

 
4.2 Fees 
 
4.2.1 The fees to be charged by the County on all applications and other matters arising 

under this Bylaw are set forth by Council. Council may at any time revise any fee or 
specify a fee for any other matter arising under this Bylaw. 

 
4.2.2 All development permit applications and Bylaw amendment applications shall be 

accompanied by a fee established by Council. 
 
4.2.3 The Development Officer may waive or reduce the development permit  application 

fee if: 
 

a) The applicant is a non-profit organization and the proposed development is 
intended to promote the general welfare of residents within the County; or 

 
b) A waiver is authorized by motion of Council. 

 
4.2.4 A development permit application for a Dugout shall not require a fee. 

 
4.3 When a Development Permit is Not Required 
 
4.3.1 The following developments shall not require a development permit, but must 

otherwise comply with all other provisions of this Bylaw: 
 
a) Minor renovations to an existing building provided that: 

 
i. The building use and the number of Dwelling Units within the building or 

subject site does not increase; and 
 
ii. Such works do not include major renovations or construction of a deck. 

 
b) Completing a building and continuing the use thereof that: 

 
i. Was lawfully under construction at the date of this Bylaw adoption; 
 
ii. Will be completed, in accordance with the terms of the issued development   

permit, within 24 months from the date of this Bylaw adoption. 
 

74



 

37 

c) The construction or maintenance of gates, fences, walls, or other means of 
enclosure 1.2m (4.0ft) or less in height within any front yard and 1.8m (6.0ft) or less 
in any side or rear yards pursuant to subsection 8.14; 

 
d) Satellite dishes and antennas located in: 

 
i. Rural areas; and 
 
ii. Hamlet areas provided they are less than 0.9m (3.0ft) in diameter. 

 
e) Stripping of topsoil for agricultural purposes, but not including the removal or 

stockpile of topsoil for non-agricultural purposes; 
 

f) Constructing or using a temporary building for fire prevention or suppression; 
 
g) Up to two (2) Accessory Buildings, each having a floor space not more than 

18.58m2 (200ft2) and not permanently attached to the ground. All other provisions 
in this Bylaw shall be met, such as maximum lot coverage and height restrictions; 

 
h) Erecting temporary Signs which will be removed from the premises within 30 

days; 
 
i) Demolition / removal of a building having a floor area of less than 18.58m2 

(200.0ft2); 
 
j) In residential land use districts, construction of a patio, a fire pit, or an 

unenclosed deck where the structure is no more than 0.6m (2ft) above finished 
grade provided all applicable land use district setback requirements are met; 

 
k) Use of part of a residential building for hosting a home party for catalogue sales or 

for the presentation and promotion of product sales other than the vendor’s 
residence; 

 
l) Trapper’s Cabins for use with a licensed trap line; 
 
m) Fishing Cabins for use with a commercial fishing license; 
 
n) Above–ground, pre-manufactured swimming pools with a water volume less than 

6.11m³ (215.8ft³); and 
 

o) Industrial Camp providing accommodations for less than 25 employees and for 
less than 60 days on Crown land; 

 
p) Farm buildings & grain bins that are the minimum setback of the district; 

 
q) Grain dryer, not less than 200 feet from the property line. 

 
4.3.2 If there is any doubt as to whether or not a development permit is required, the 

Development Authority shall require a development permit. 
 

75



 

38 

4.4 Non-Conforming Buildings and Uses 
 
4.4.1 In accordance with Section 643 of the Act, if a development permit has been issued 

on or before the day on which a Land Use Bylaw or a Land Use Amendment Bylaw 
comes into force in a municipality and the Bylaw would make the development for 
which the permit was issued a non-conforming building or use, the development   
permit continues to be in effect in spite of the coming into force of the Bylaw. 

 
4.4.2 A non-conforming use of land or a building may be continued but if that use is 

discontinued for a period of six (6) consecutive months or more, any future use of the 
land or building shall conform to the provisions of this Bylaw. 

 
4.4.3 A non-conforming use of part of a building may be extended throughout the 

building, whether or not it is a non-conforming building, but the building shall not 
be enlarged or added to and no structural alterations may be made to or within it. 

 
4.4.4 A non-conforming use of part of a parcel shall not be extended or transferred in 

whole or in part to any other part of the parcel and no additional buildings shall be 
constructed upon the parcel while the non-conforming use continues. 

 
4.4.5 A non-conforming building may continue to be used but the building shall not be 

enlarged, added to, rebuilt or structurally altered except: 
 

a) As may be necessary to make it a conforming building; or 
 
b) As the Development Officer considers necessary for the routine maintenance of 

the building. 
 
4.4.6 If a non-conforming building is damaged or destroyed to the extent of more than 75 

percent of the value of the building above its foundation, the building shall not be 
repaired or rebuilt except in accordance with this Bylaw. 

 
4.5 Compliance Certificates 
 
4.5.1 A request for a Compliance Certificate shall include a Real Property Report provided by 

the applicant and prepared by a certified legal land surveyor at no cost to the County. 
 

4.5.2 The Development Officer may issue a Compliance Certificate when in their opinion: 
 

a) The buildings shown in the Real Property Report are located on the site in 
accordance with the setback regulations of this Bylaw; or 

 
b) The buildings shown in the Real Property Report are located on the site in 

accordance with the setback regulations specified in any development permit that 
has been issued for the site. 

 
4.5.3 The Compliance Certificate shall only address those buildings, or parts thereof, shown 

on the Real Property Report. 
 

4.5.4 When a Real Property Report is older than six (6) months and no changes have been 

76



 

39 

made on the property, the Development Officer may allow an affidavit to be 
submitted in conjunction with the Real Property Report for Compliance Certificate 
consideration. 

 
4.5.5 Any Real Property Reports being one (1) year or older will not be accepted for 

Compliance Certificate consideration. 
 
4.5.6 The Development Officer may refuse to issue a Compliance Certificate when: 
 

a) The Real Property Report does not: 
 

i. Contain sufficient information to determine if the buildings as shown are in 
accordance with regulations of this Bylaw or any development permit issued; 
or 
 

ii. Indicate or accurately depict all developments that are located on the lot; 
 
b) Developments on the lot were constructed without the required development   

permits; and 
 
c) There are outstanding infractions with this or any other bylaw. 

 
4.5.7 The Development Officer shall not complete site inspections to verify the data 

contained within the Real Property Report or any affidavit in support of a Real Property 
Report. 
 

4.6 Application for Development Permit 
 
4.6.1 A development permit application shall be made to the Development Officer on the 

prescribed form and shall be signed by the applicant or their agent. 
 

4.6.2 In addition to the completed application the following are required: 
 

a) A legal description of the subject property; 
 
b) Municipal address, if applicable; 
 
c) A site plan of the proposed development drawn accurately and providing sufficient 

information to determine conformity with this Bylaw. Such site plans shall indicate 
building locations, access, parking areas and stalls, on-site circulation, off street 
loading, landscaping, screening, grading, or similar details of the development   
proposal. Architectural renderings and elevations may also be required where 
appropriate. The Development Officer, may at their discretion, require a Real 
Property Report completed by a registered surveyor; 

 
d) Proof of County approved access; 
 
e) Certificate of Title or proof of ownership of the subject property or the authorization 

of the landowner, at the discretion of the Development Officer; 
 

f) A description of the proposed use; 

77



 

40 

 
g) The anticipated commencement and completion dates; 
 
h) The estimated cost of the project; 
 
i) An accurate sketch plan or a plot  plan prepared by a registered surveyor at the 

discretion of the Development Officer; and 
 

j) A floor plan, building elevations, and cross sections of the proposed 
development. 

 
4.6.3 Subject to the scale and complexity of a proposed development, the Development   

Officer may also require: 
 
a) A site plan of the proposed development showing: 
 

i. Existing treed and landscaped areas; and 
 
ii. Trees or vegetation to be preserved and / or removed. 

 
b) A site plan of the proposed Development at a scale not less than 1:1000, including 

a contour interval of not more than 5.0m (16.4ft), and a document showing / 
describing: 
 
i. Vehicular access, on-site circulation, parking and loading facilities, camping 

areas, and emergency routes; 
 

ii. Provisions of utilities, including water and sewage facilities; 
 
iii. The location and distance to property lines of all existing and proposed 

buildings; 
 
iv. The provisions for landscaping, screening, and buffering; and 
 
v. Any other information as required by the Development Authority, including 

but not limited to the following a: 
 

a. Plan showing the proposed provisions of sewage, water, and other utilities 
as well as of on-street and off-street parking and loading facilities during the 
peak-use periods; 
 

b. Statement of the potential impacts of the proposed development on 
adjacent lands, and the proposed measures designed to minimize such 
adverse impacts; and 

 
c. A statement of measures, facilities and equipment available for fire 

prevention and firefighting. 
 

c) Studies, with associated costs borne by the applicant, regarding: 
 

i. projected traffic volumes; 

78



 

41 

 
ii. utilities; 
 
iii. landscaping; 
 
iv. urban design; 
 
v. parking; 
 
vi. social and economic effects; 
 
vii. an environmental impact assessment; 
 
viii. an environmental audit; 
 
ix. slope, soil and flood plain conditions, including a geotechnical or floodplain 

study prepared by a qualified engineer recognized by APEGA if, in the opinion 
of the Development Authority, the site is potentially hazardous or unstable; 

 
x. sun and wind impact studies; or 
 
xi. any other information as required by the Development Authority. 

 
d) Documentation generated through Alberta Energy Regulator’s (AER) online Alberta 

Abandoned Well Locations mapping resource that identifies the location of any 
abandoned wells within the subject property; and 

 
e) A statement of the maximum number of persons anticipated to be on the site 

during peak use periods. 
 

4.6.4 As part of the development permit application for Developments Adjacent to slopes, 
the applicant shall be required to submit a sketch including the assessment of the 
slope percentage. 
 

4.6.5 A development permit application is deemed accepted when all information needed 
by the Development Authority to render a decision has been received. In the event 
that the Development Authority considers an application as incomplete or containing 
insufficient information, the Development Authority may return the application to the 
applicant for further submission. 

 
4.7 Decision on Development Permit Applications 
 
4.7.1 In making a decision on a development permit application for a permitted use, the 

Development Authority shall: 
 
a) Approve the application, with or without conditions, if the proposed development   

conforms to this Bylaw; or 
 
b) Refuse the application if the proposed development does not conform to this 

Bylaw. 

79



 

42 

 
4.7.2 In making a decision on a development permit application for a discretionary use, 

the Development Authority: 
 
a) May approve the application, with or without conditions, if the proposed 

development conforms to this Bylaw; 
 
b) May refuse the application if the proposed development does not conform with the 

existing surrounding neighbourhood character; or  
 
c) Shall refuse the application if the proposed development does not conform to this 

Bylaw. 
 
4.7.3 In reviewing a development permit application for a discretionary use, the 

Development Authority shall have regard to: 
 
a) The circumstances and merits of the application, including but not limited to: 
 

i. The impact on properties in the vicinity of such nuisance factors as smoke, 
airborne emissions, odours and noise; 
 

ii. The impact of natural hazards such as flooding, erosion, and wildfire on the 
proposed development;  
 

iii. The design, character and appearance of the proposed development and in 
particular whether it is compatible with and complementary to the surrounding 
properties; and  

 
iv. The servicing requirements for the proposed development. 

 
b) The purpose and intent of any statutory plan adopted by the County; and 
 
c) The purpose and intent of any non-statutory plan and pertinent policy adopted by 

the County. 
 
4.7.4 Notwithstanding any requirements of this Bylaw, the Development Authority, at their 

discretion, may establish a more stringent standard for a discretionary use. 
 
4.7.5 A development permit may be issued on a temporary basis for a period specified by 

the Development Authority but not longer than two (2) years from the date of its 
issuance. 

 
4.8 Validity of Development Permits 
 
4.8.1 A development permit is valid for twelve (12) months from the date of its issuance, 

after which it becomes expired and void if construction has not commenced. 
 
4.8.2 A development permit is deemed invalid if the construction is not complete within 

twenty-four (24) months from the date the construction has commenced in accordance 
with subsection 4.8.1. 

80



 

43 

 
4.8.3 If the development, authorized by the Development Authority, is not commenced 

prior to its expiry date, the Development Authority may grant a maximum of two one 
(1) year extensions to the approval of the development permit. 

 
4.8.4 A development permit issued for a permitted use does not come into effect until 

fourteen (14) days after a notice of decision is communicated. Any development   
proceeded with by the applicant prior to the expiry of this period is done solely at the 
risk of the applicant. 

 
4.8.5 A development permit issued for a permitted use requiring a variance or a 

discretionary use does not come into effect until twenty one (21) days after a notice 
of decision appears in a local newspaper and provided no appeal has been received 
against the development. 

 
4.9 Development Permit Referrals 
 
4.9.1 When reviewing a development permit application for proposed land uses which may 

impact a historical site, the Development Authority: 
 

a) Shall refer a development permit application to Alberta Cultural and Community 
Spirit and Historical Resources Division for review and comment if the application 
includes: 

 
i. Structural renovation and relocation of, or addition to, an identified historical 

building; and 
 

ii. Disturbance or excavation of soil more than 0.3m (1.0ft) below the natural 
surface of a property containing a historical site for land uses, such as 
basements, water reservoirs, swimming pools or the installation of roads and 
utilities. 

 
4.9.2 When the County receives an application for a development permit that may impact 

on a highway, Airport, bridge, ferry, or other development administered by Alberta 
Transportation, a copy of the application shall be forwarded to Alberta Transportation 
for comments and recommendations. 

 
4.9.3 Referrals to Alberta Transportation are required for the following site locations: 
 

a) A development permit application within 300.0m (984.3ft) of a highway; and 
 

b) A development permit application within 0.8km (0.5miles) of a highway 
intersection. 

 
4.9.4 As required by the provisions of an adopted Inter-Municipal Development Plan, the 

Development Authority shall forward copies of all development proposals that are 
located within an approved Inter-municipal Planning Area to the appropriate 
municipality for their review and comment. 

81



 

44 

 
4.9.5 The Development Authority may use its discretion to refer an application to any other 

agency for comments. 
 

4.9.6 The Development Officer may refer any development permit application to the 
Municipal Planning Commission or Inter-Municipal Planning Commission for a 
decision, support, or advice. 

 
4.10 Rear Laneways 

 
4.10.1 Development of any kind is prohibited in rear laneways and road right of way. 

 
4.11 Variance of Authority 
 
4.11.1 The Development Authority may approve a variance that is no more than 25% 

difference for any urban land use district and 50% difference for any rural land use 
district from the requirements of setback, development area, floor area, or height as 
stipulated in this Bylaw. 

 
4.11.2 The Development Authority may approve a variance of up to forty percent (40%) for 

the Urban Fringe ‘UF’ District. 
 
4.11.3 A variance may only be granted if, in the opinion of the Development Authority the 

subject site: 
 

a) Conforms to the use prescribed in this Bylaw; 
 
b) Does not unduly interfere with the amenities of the neighbourhood; 
 
c) Does not materially interfere with or affect the use, enjoyment or value of 

neighbouring parcels of land, and the proposed development conforms with the 
use prescribed for that in this Bylaw; and / or 

 
d) Has irregular lot lines or shape which creates difficulties in positioning a structure 

within the required setbacks, in which case the Development Authority may 
permit the development and vary the setback or average the setbacks, such that 
the proposed variance would not result in a contravention of the above conditions 
and would not result in a development that will restrict: 

 
i. Access for emergency response; and 
 
ii. The safe passage for pedestrians and vehicles on adjoining sidewalks and 

roadways. 
 
e) Notwithstanding subsection (c), the Development Authority may refuse a 

development permit for a use or development that is not listed as a permitted 
use or discretionary use. 
 

 

82



 

45 

4.12 Development Permit Conditions 
 
4.12.1 The Development Authority, may issue a development permit set out in Section 

650 of the Act requiring that the applicant enter into a Development Agreement with 
any or all the following conditions to: 
 
a) Construct or pay for the construction of a road required to give access to the 

development; 
 
b) Construct or pay for the construction of; 
 

i. A pedestrian walkway system to serve the development; or 
 
ii. Pedestrian walkways to connect the development with a pedestrian walkway 

system that serves or is proposed to serve adjacent development. 
 

c) Install or pay for the installation of public utilities, other than telecommunications 
systems or works, that are necessary to serve the development; 
 

d) Construct or pay for the construction of; 
 

i. Off-street or other parking facilities; and 
 
ii. Loading and unloading facilities. 

 
e) Pay an off-site levy or re-development levy; 
 
f) Provide security to ensure that the terms of the agreement under this section are 

carried out. 
 
4.12.2 The County may register a caveat in respect of a Development Agreement, made 

under this section, for land subject to development. The Development Agreement will 
be discharged when all conditions contained therein have been fulfilled to the 
satisfaction of the Development Authority. 
 

4.12.3 Subject to this Bylaw, any statutory plan and the Act, the Development Authority 
may attach whatever conditions they consider appropriate to a development permit 
for either a discretionary use or permitted use, including but not limited to the 
following: 

 
a) Landscaping requirements; 
 
b) Noise attenuation; 
 
c) Special parking provisions; 
 
d) Location, appearance, and character of a building; 
 
e) Grading of a site to protect adjacent properties; 
 
f) Ensuring the proposed development is compatible with the surrounding land uses; 

83



 

46 

and 
 
g) Repair, reinstate, or pay for the repair or reinstatement to original condition of, any 

street furniture, curbing, sidewalk, boulevard, tree or other landscaping features, 
that may be damaged or otherwise affected by the development; 

 
4.12.4 No development, except for yard site preparation, shall be permitted on any property 

until the County has approved an access to the property from a road. 
 

4.13 Permit Approval and Notifications 
 
4.13.1 All approvals on development permits shall be in writing and mailed by the 

Development Authority to the applicant in accordance with the Act. 
 
4.13.2 All refusals on development permits shall be in writing and sent via mail by the 

Development Authority to the applicant. 
 
4.13.3 When the Development Authority refuses an application for a development   

permit, or refuses to grant an extension to the approval of a development permit, the 
reasons for such refusal shall be contained in the decision. 

 
4.13.4 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Bylaw, the granting of a development   

permit shall: 
 

a) Indicate that the development to which the development permit relates is 
authorized in accordance with the provisions of this Bylaw, and shall not relieve or 
excuse any person from complying with this or any other bylaws or regulations that 
affect the proposed development; and 

 
b) Not deprive the Development Authority’s right of refusing the issuance of a permit 

or approval that may be required by this or other bylaws, regarding other 
development on the same property. 

 
4.13.5 Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the granting of a 

development permit shall be without prejudice to the Development Authority’s 
rights to refuse or approve any other permit as may be required with respect to this or 
any other bylaw regarding other development on the same property. 

 
4.13.6 When a development permit has been approved for a permitted use involving a 

variance, the Development Authority may mail a notice immediately to all adjacent 
landowners when it is deemed that amenities, use or enjoyment of adjacent lands 
may be affected. 

 
4.13.7 When a development permit has been approved for a discretionary use, the 

Development Authority:  
 

a) Shall immediately publish a notice in a newspaper circulating in the County stating 
the location of the property for which the application has been made and the use 
approved; 

 

84



 

47 

b) May mail a notice immediately to all adjacent landowners when it is deemed that 
amenities, use or enjoyment of adjacent lands may be affected; 

 
4.14 Resubmission Interval 
 
4.14.1 In the case where an application for a development permit has been refused 

pursuant to this Bylaw, by the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board or the 
Inter-Municipal Subdivision and Development Appeal Board or the Land and 
Property Rights Tribunal or the Alberta Court of Appeal, the submission of another 
application for a development permit on the same property and for the same or 
similar use of the land by the same or any other applicant may not be accepted by the 
Development Officer for at least six months after the date of the previous refusal. 

 
4.15 Deemed Refusal 
 
4.15.1 An application for a development permit may be deemed to have been refused if no 

decision is made by the Development Authority within forty (40) days, from the date 
of receipt of the completed application, unless the applicant has agreed to extend the 
forty (40) day period. 
 

 
 

85



 

48 

5 Enforcement 
 

5.1 Contravention and Stop Orders 
 
5.1.1 The Authority may act under subsection 5.1.2 pursuant to Section 645 of the Act, if a 

Development Authority finds that a development, land use, or use of a building is 
not in accordance with: 
 
a) The Act or the Matters Related to Subdivision and Development Regulation (AR 

84/2022); 
 
b) A development permit or subdivision approval; or 
 
c) This Bylaw. 

 
5.1.2 If Subsection 5.1.1 applies, the Development Authority may, by notice in writing, 

order the registered owner, the person in possession of the land or buildings, or the 
person responsible for the contravention, or any or all of them to: 
 
a) Stop the development or use of the land or buildings in 

whole or in part as directed by the notice; 
 
b) Demolish, remove or replace the development; or 
 
c) Take such other measures as are specified in the notice so that the development   

or use of the land or buildings is in accordance with the Part 17 of the Act, the 
regulations, a development permit, subdivision approval, or this Bylaw, as the 
case may be. 

 
5.1.3 Pursuant to Section 646 of the Act, if a person fails or refuses to comply with an order 

directed to the person under Section 645 or an order of an SDAB under Section 687, 
the municipality may, in accordance with Section 542, enter on the land or building 
and take any action necessary to carry out the order. 
 

5.1.4 A municipality may register a caveat under the Land Titles Act in respect of an order 
referred to in subsection 5.1.2 against the certificate of title for the land that is the 
subject of the order. 

 
5.1.5 If a municipality registers a caveat under subsection 5.1.4, the municipality must 

discharge the caveat when the order has been complied with. 
 
5.1.6 Costs and expenses incurred in carrying out the order may be placed on the tax roll for 

the subject property and shall be collected in the same manner as property taxes. 
 
5.1.7 Where a notice is issued under subsection 5.1.2, the notice may state the following 

and any other information considered necessary by the Development Authority: 
 

a) An explanation of the contravention, and a statement indicating under which 
provisions of this Bylaw or the Act the order is being carried out; 

86



 

49 

 
b) The alternatives and processes which the person responsible for the contravention 

may pursue in order to correct the contravention; 
 

c) A time frame in which the contravention must be corrected prior to Mackenzie 
County pursuing further action; and 

 
d) Advise the person of their right to appeal the notice to the Subdivision and 

Development Appeal Board or Land and Property Rights Tribunal. 
 
5.1.8 A person who receives a notice referred to in subsection 5.1.2 may appeal to the 

SDAB in accordance with Section 685 of the Act. 
 
5.2 Prohibitions 
 
5.2.1 No person shall contravene or permit a contravention of this Bylaw. No person shall 

commence or undertake a development, use, or Sign that is not permitted by this 
Bylaw. 
 

5.2.2 No person shall contravene a condition of a permit issued under this Bylaw. 
 
5.2.3 No person shall authorize or do any development that is at variance with the 

description, specifications or plans that were the basis for the issuance of a 
development permit. No person shall modify any description, specifications, or plans 
that were the basis for the issuance of any permit by a Development Officer. 

 
5.3 Non-Compliance 
 
5.3.1 If, after a development permit has been issued, the Development Authority 

becomes aware that: 
 
a) The application for the development contains a misrepresentation; 
 
b) Facts concerning the application or the development were not disclosed which 

should have been disclosed at the time the application was considered; 
 

c) The development permit was issued in error; 
 
d) The application was withdrawn by way of written notice from the applicant; or 
 
e) If the condition(s) imposed in the development permit have not been complied 

with; 
 

The Development Authority may cancel, suspend, or modify as considered 
appropriate, the development permit by notice, in writing, to the holder of the 
permit. 

 
5.3.2 A person whose development permit is cancelled, suspended or modified under this 

subsection may appeal to the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board or Land 
and Property Rights Tribunal in accordance with section 7.1 within twenty one (21) 

87



 

50 

days of notice of such action. 
 
5.4 Warning Notice 
 
5.4.1 A Designated Officer may issue a warning notice outlining the nature of the violation, 

corrective measures that may be taken, and the deadline for corrective measures. 
 

5.5 Right of Entry 
 
5.5.1 Where the Development Authority finds that a development or use of land or 

buildings is not in accordance with: 
 

a) Part 17 of the Act, Matters Related to Subdivision and Development Regulation (AR 
84/2022) thereto, and / or the Land Use Bylaw; or 

 
b) A development permit. 

 
The Development Authority may take such action as specified in Sections 542 and 
543 of the Act. 

 
5.6 Offenses and Penalties 
 
5.6.1 Any person who contravenes or does not comply with any provision of this Bylaw, or a 

development permit or subdivision approval, or a condition of a permit or approval, 
an order, notice or direction given under this Bylaw, or a decision of the Subdivision 
and Development Appeal Board or Land and Property Rights Tribunal is guilty of 
an offense and is liable upon conviction. 

 
5.6.2 Penalties for offences shall be in accordance with the County’s Fee Schedule Bylaw. 
 

88



 

51 

6 Subdivision Administration and Procedures 
 

6.1 Subdivision Application Procedures 
 

6.1.1 Subdivision applications shall be submitted to the Subdivision Authority on the 
prescribed form signed by the landowner or agent. 

 
6.1.2 After having received the subdivision application, the Subdivision Authority shall refer 

it to other agencies, as listed in Section 6.2. 
 
6.1.3 On receipt of an application for subdivision approval, the Subdivision Authority shall 

give notice of the application to adjacent landowners of the subject of property. 
 

6.1.4 A notice of a subdivision application shall: 
 

a) Contain: 
 

i. The municipal address, if any, and the legal address of the parcel of land; 
 

ii. A map showing the location of the parcel of land; and 
 

iii. A description of the nature of the application, the method of obtaining further 
information about the application and the manner in which and time within 
which written submissions may be made to the Subdivision Authority. 

 
b) Be given by at least one of the following methods: 

 
i. Mailing the notice to each owner of land that is adjacent to the land that is the 

subject of the application; 
 

ii. Posting the notice on the land that is the subject of the application; and / or 
 

iii. Publishing a notice in a newspaper that has general circulation in the County. 
 

6.1.5 The Subdivision Authority may approve an application for subdivision only if it meets 
the requirements of Part 17, Division 7 of the Act, Subdivision and Development 
Regulations, other plans and / or bylaws and including this Bylaw. 

 
6.1.6 When reviewing an application for subdivision the Subdivision Authority may consider 

the following: 
 

a) Access to the subject property and the construction standards for roads to be built; 
 

b) The provision, operation and maintenance of water and sewer facilities; 
 

c) Water supply for firefighting purposes; 

89



 

52 

 
d) Site drainage; 

 
e) Development of parks and recreation areas;  

 
f) Connection to the municipal water and sewer system; and 

 
g) Relevant County policies and the Matters Related to Subdivision and Development 

Regulation (AR 84/2022). 
 

6.2 Subdivision Referrals 
 

6.2.1 When reviewing a subdivision application for proposed land uses which may impact a 
historical site, the Subdivision Authority: 

 
a) Shall refer a subdivision application to Alberta Cultural and Community Spirit and 

Historical Resources Division for review and comment if the application includes: 
 

i. Structural renovation and relocation of, or addition to, an identified historical 
building; and 

 
ii. Disturbance or excavation of soil more than 0.3m (1.0ft) below the natural 

surface of a property containing a historical site for land uses, such as 
basements, water reservoirs, swimming pools or the installation of roads and 
utilities. 

 
6.2.2 When the County receives an application for subdivision that may impact on a 

highway, Airport, bridge, ferry, or other development administered by Alberta 
Transportation, a copy of the application shall be forwarded to Alberta Transportation 
for comments and recommendations. 

 
6.2.3 Referrals to Alberta Transportation are required for the following site locations: 
 

a) Subdivision applications within 0.8km (0.5miles) of a highway. 
 

6.2.4 As required by the provisions of an adopted Inter-Municipal Development Plan, the 
Subdivision Authority shall forward copies of all development proposals that are 
located within an approved Inter-municipal Planning Area to the appropriate 
municipality for their review and comment. 

 
6.2.5 All subdivision applications received by the County shall be referred to ATCO 

Electric, Northern Lights Gas Co-op, TELUS, Fort Vermilion School Division, 
Mackenzie County Operational Services Department and Utilities and Agricultural 
Departments for their review and comments / requirements. 

 

90



 

53 

6.2.6 The Subdivision Authority may use its discretion to refer an application to any other 
agency for comments. 

 
6.3 Subdivision Decision 
 
6.3.1 A Notice of Decision of a Subdivision Authority must state whether an appeal lies to a 

Subdivision and Development Appeal Board or Inter-Municipal Subdivision and 
Development Appeal Board or to the Municipal Government Board, and if an 
application for subdivision approval is refused, the reasons for the refusal. 

 
6.3.2 Once approval has been granted, the developer shall have a period of one (1) year, or 

as required by the Subdivision Authority, to develop the subdivision including, but not 
limited to, the installation of utilities, roads and plan registration. 

6.4 Development Agreement 
 
6.4.1 Once approval has been granted, the developer shall have a period of one (1) year, or 

as required by the Subdivision Authority, to develop the subdivision including, but not 
limited to, the installation of utilities, roads and plan registration. 

 
6.4.2 The Development Agreement will contain, but is not limited to, the conditions as listed 

in the subdivision decision. 

6.5 Securities 
 
6.5.1 Security for multi-lot / urban subdivisions shall be in the form and amount as required 

in multi-lot / Urban Subdivision Construction and Registration Policy DEV003. 
 
6.5.2 Security, in the form of a 100% performance bond, will be accepted. 

 
6.5.3 Where servicing is required for individual parcels or bare land condominium parcels, a 

Development Officer may impose a condition requiring the applicant to provide a 
guaranteed security to ensure that all landscaping, on-site utilities, including surface 
drainage, are constructed to the satisfaction of the County Engineer. The security may 
take the following forms:  

 
a) Cash to a value equal to 25% of the estimated costs; or  

 
b) An irrevocable letter of credit having the value equivalent to 25% of the established 

costs. 

6.6 Registrations 
 
6.6.1 Subdivision registration of all multi-lot/urban subdivisions shall be completed in 

accordance with the County’s multi-lot/Urban Subdivision Construction and 
Registration Policy DEV003. 

 

91



 

54 

6.6.2 Subdivision registration of rural single lot subdivisions will be endorsed by the 
County and submitted to the surveyor for submission to Alberta Land Titles once the 
County is satisfied that all the conditions in the subdivision decision and 
Development Agreement have been fulfilled. 

6.7 Subdivision Approval Process 
 
6.7.1 The process of a subdivision approval within the County is illustrated within Figure 

15. 

 

 

 
Figure 15. Subdivision Approval Process 

 

92



 

55 

6.8 Growth Nodes 
 
6.8.1 Multi-lot subdivisions are preferred within the growth nodes as identified in the 

Mackenzie County Municipal Development Plan. 

93



 

56 

7 Appeals 
 

7.1 Development Permit Appeals 
 
7.1.1 The applicant for a development permit may appeal to the Subdivision and 

Development Appeal Board or an Inter-Municipal Subdivision and Development   
Appeal Board if the Development Authority: 
 
a) Refuses or fails to make a decision on a development permit within forty (40) 

days of receipt of a completed application; or 
 
b) Issues a development permit subject to conditions. 

 
7.1.2 In addition to the applicant, any person affected by a development permit or the 

decision on it, may appeal to the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board or 
Inter-Municipal Subdivision and Development Appeal Board. 
 

7.1.3 Notwithstanding Subsections 7.1.1 and 7.1.2, no appeal lies in respect of the issuance 
of a development permit for a permitted use unless the provisions of this Bylaw are 
relaxed, varied, or misinterpreted. 

 
7.1.4 A development appeal to a Subdivision and Development Appeal Board or Inter-

Municipal Subdivision and Development Appeal Board is to be commenced by 
filing a notice of the appeal, containing reasons, to the Clerk of the Subdivision and 
Development Appeal Board or Inter-Municipal Subdivision and Development 
Appeal Board within twenty one (21) days in the case of an appeal by: 

 
a) The applicant after: 
 

i. The date the applicant is notified of the decision; or 
 
ii. If no decision is made on the development permit application within forty (40) 

days of the application being made or the date that period of any extension of it 
expires. 

 
b) A person affected, after the date on which the County publishes notice of the 

development permit decision in a newspaper circulating in the County. 
 

7.1.5 The Subdivision and Development Appeal Board or Inter-Municipal Subdivision 
and Development Appeal Board must hold a public hearing within thirty (30) days 
after receipt of a notice of appeal. 

 
7.1.6 Where an appeal is lodged against a development, the development permit that has 

been granted shall not come into effect until the Subdivision and Development   
Appeal Board or Inter-Municipal Subdivision and Development Appeal Board or 
the Land and Property Rights Tribunal has rendered a decision. 

 
7.1.7 With the exception of Crown Land, there is no appeal to the Subdivision and 

Development Appeal Board or Inter- Municipal Subdivision and Development 

94



 

57 

Appeal Board in the case of a Council decision on a development permit application 
in a Direct Control District. 
 

7.2 Subdivision Appeals 
 
7.2.1 After a decision on the proposed subdivision has been made, the parties outlined in 

Section 678 of the Act may appeal the decision to the appropriate appeal board, as 
listed below, within fourteen (14) days after receipt of the written decision: 

 
a) Appeals are filed with the Land and Property Rights Tribunal if the land that is 

the subject of the application is within the Green Area, as classified by the Minister 
responsible for the Public Lands Act, or is within the distance of a highway, a body 
of water or a sewage treatment or Waste Management facility set out in the 
Subdivision and Development Regulations, or 
 

b) In all other cases, with the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board or 
Inter-Municipal Subdivision and Development Board. 

 
7.2.2 An appeal lies to the Court of Appeal on a question of law or jurisdiction with respect to 

a decision of the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board or Inter-Municipal 
Subdivision and Development Board, or the Municipal Government Board on a 
decision on an appeal under Section 619 of the Act, an inter-municipal dispute under 
Part 17, Division 11 of the Act or a subdivision appeal under Section 688 of the Act. 

95



 

58 

8 General Regulations 
 

 
8.1 Accessory Building 
 
8.1.1 No Accessory Building or any portion thereof shall be erected or placed within a front 

yard in a hamlet residential land use district. 
 

8.1.2 No Accessory Building or any portion thereof shall be erected or placed within a front 
yard in a residential or non-residential land use district other than the Agricultural 
land use district unless otherwise approved by the Development Authority. 

 
8.1.3 An Accessory Building in a hamlet residential land use district shall be no more 

than 4.6m (15.0ft) in height. 
 
8.1.4 When a building is attached to the principal building on a site by a roof, an open or 

enclosed structure, a floor, or a foundation; it is to be considered a part of the principal 
building and not an Accessory Building. 

 
8.1.5 An Accessory Building erected on a site shall not be used as a dwelling unit. 
 
8.1.6 The combined area of all Accessory Buildings on a lot in a hamlet residential land 

use district shall not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the total area of the principal 
building. 

 
8.1.7 The combined area of all Accessory Buildings on a lot in a commercial or industrial 

land use district shall not exceed the total area of the principal building. 
 
8.1.8 Subject to the provisions of other Sections of this Bylaw, the Development   

Authority may regulate the maximum size of an Accessory Building on a site for 
development where a development permit is required based on size of yard, size of 
principal building on the site, aesthetics and other reasons deemed necessary by the 
Development Authority. 

 
8.2 Animals 
 
8.2.1 Please refer to subsection 8.51 for residents living on NW 29-106-15-W5M. 

 
8.2.2 No person shall keep, or permit to be kept, in any part of the hamlet  of La Crete or the 

hamlet of Fort Vermilion with the exception of  lands within the Urban Fringe (UF) land 
use district and Hamlet Country Residential (HCR) land use district: 

 
a) Livestock, with the exception of dogs, cats, and such other usual domestic pets 

are kept, providing that these pets are kept under the condition that they do not 
act as a nuisance or reduce the amenities of the area; and 
 

b) any pets or domestic animals on a commercial basis, except for an approved pet 
store or Kennel. 

 
8.2.3 In any Country Residential and Urban Fringe land use district the following shall 

96



 

59 

apply: 
 

a) Livestock shall be limited to no more than one (1) animal unit per 0.40 ha (1 
acre) or part thereof, to a maximum of three (3) animal units as defined in the 
following table: 

 
Type of Livestock Number of Animals Equivalent to One 

Animal Unit 
Cow (Plus calf under 6 months) 1 
Horses and Other Equine Animals 1 
Sheep/Goats 2 
Pigs 2 
Fowl 12 

 
 

b) Livestock consisting of up to three (3) hens shall be exempt from contributing to 
an animal unit count. 
 

c) Adequate fencing and/or buffering shall be constructed to the satisfaction of the 
Development Authority to ensure the on-site confinement of livestock and to 
reduce the impact of noise, odour or visual presence on surrounding properties. 
 

d) Adequate measures, if required by Alberta Agriculture, Food and Rural 
development and/or the local Health Authority, for the disposal of animal wastes 
shall be provided to the satisfaction of the Development Authority. 

 
8.2.4 In Hamlet Country Residential, the following shall apply: 

 
a) Livestock shall be limited to no more than one (1) animal unit per 0.40 ha (1 acre) 

or part thereof, to a maximum of three (3) animal units as defined in the following 
table: 
Type of Livestock Number of Animals Equivalent to One 

Animal Unit 
Fowl 12 

 
 
8.2.5 In all Residential land use districts, up to three (3) hens shall be allowed per property.  

 
8.2.6 Roosters are not permitted within hamlet boundaries. 
 
8.2.7 In Zama City, livestock is allowed and the following shall apply: 

 
a) Livestock shall be limited to no more than one (1) animal unit per 0.40 ha (1 

acre) as defined in the following table: 
 
Type of Livestock Number of Animals Equivalent to One 

Animal Unit 
Cow (Plus calf under 6 months) 1 
Horses and Other Equine Animals 1 
Goats 2 

97



 

60 

Pigs (includes gilts suckling) 2 
Fowl 12 
Elk (Plus calf under 6 months) 1 
Llama/Alpaca 2 
Ostrich/Emu 2 
Rabbits 15 

 
 

b) Livestock consisting of up to three (3) hens shall be exempt from contributing to 
an animal unit count. 
 

c) Sheep and roosters shall not be permitted. 
 

d) Adequate fencing and/or buffering shall be constructed to the satisfaction of the 
Development Authority to ensure the on-site confinement of livestock and to 
reduce the impact of noise, odour or visual presence on surrounding properties. 
 

e) Adequate measures, if required by Alberta Agriculture, Food and Rural 
development and/or the local Health Authority, for the disposal of animal wastes 
shall be provided to the satisfaction of the Development Authority. 

 
8.3 Applicability of General Regulations 
 
8.3.1 The general development regulations of this Section apply in all land use districts. In 

the event of a conflict the regulations in Section 12 shall take precedence. 
 

8.4 Building Demolition or Removal 
 
8.4.1 When a development permit is to be approved for the demolition or removal of a 

building, the Development Officer or the Municipal Planning Commission may 
require the applicant to provide a cash deposit or irrevocable letter of credit in such 
amount to cover costs of reclamation and damage to any Public Utility. 

 
8.4.2 A person responsible for building demolition or removal shall at their own expense: 
 

a) Protect any wall, sidewalk or roadway liable to be affected by such demolition to 
ensure pre demolition conditions of such are sustained; 
 

b) Ensure that adequate measures are taken by way of fencing and screening to 
ensure public safety; 
 

c) Remove all demolition debris from the subject site and clean up the lot and leave 
the subject site in a graded condition upon demolition completion; 
 

d) Ensure Measures are taken to ensure that the demolition is done in a safe and 
efficient manner in order to minimize disturbance and nuisances (dust, noise, 
debris, traffic, etc.) as a result of the demolition; 

 
8.4.3 A development permit for building demolition or removal shall provide details 

relating to: 

98



 

61 

 
a) Timelines for demolition and site restoration completion; 

 
b) Recent colour photographs showing all sides of the building to be demolished; 

 
c) A statement on the subject building age, size and structural condition; 

 
d) Salvage operation and stockpiling of building demolition material and fill from 

excavation; and 
 

e) Site restoration and land reclamation upon building demolition (filling, grading, 
landscaping, etc.). 

 
8.5 Building – Height, Design, Character and Appearance 
 
8.5.1 Subject to the provisions of other sections of this Bylaw, the Development Authority 

may regulate the height of buildings on a site for a development where a 
development permit is required based on firefighting capabilities, aesthetics, and / or 
other reasons deemed necessary by the Development Authority. 

 
8.5.2 The architecture, construction materials, character and appearance of any building, 

structure or Signs proposed to be erected or located in any district must be acceptable 
to the Development Authority, having due regard to the amenities, natural features of 
the site and the character of existing development in the district, as well as to its 
effect on development in adjacent districts. 

 
8.5.3 All mechanical equipment shall be screened from view or incorporated into the roof 

envelope. 
 
8.5.4 All street sides of corner lots and those backing onto parkland, green spaces or major 

roads shall be finished in an aesthetically pleasing manner to the satisfaction of the 
Development Authority. 

 
8.5.5 The finish and appearance of all the buildings  on a property, including accessory 

buildings , should complement the other structures and natural features on the same 
lot. 

 
8.5.6 The development of properties adjacent to residential uses must address potential 

land use conflicts through building orientation, landscaped buffers, lighting design, 
architectural treatments and operational requirements, to the satisfaction of the 
Development Authority. 

 
8.5.7 A property developed with multiple commercial buildings must be designed as a 

comprehensive development, considering the relation between the appearance and 
operational characteristics  of the different buildings and their individual uses. 

 
8.5.8 All outdoor storage and parking for commercial or industrial purposes shall be 

screened to the satisfaction of the Development Authority. 
 

99



 

62 

8.6 Building – Placement 
 
8.6.1 Unless otherwise provided for by this Bylaw, all buildings  erected or placed on a site 

shall meet the minimum yard requirements of the applicable land use district, with the 
exception of: 

 
a) In the case of a Dwelling – Duplex or Dwelling – Row, no side yard is required 

if each Dwelling Unit is located on a separate lot and the common wall follows a 
property line; 

 
b) Where the Dwelling Unit of a Dwelling – Row are to be contained in separate 

parcels or titles, no side yards shall be required on either side in the case of an 
internal Dwelling Unit and no side yard shall be required on the interior side of 
the end Dwelling Unit; and 
 

c) Where the end of a Dwelling – Row has no doors, windows or other openings, 
the side yard shall be at the discretion of the Development Authority. 

 
8.7 Businesses – Drive-Through 
 
8.7.1 A drive-through business shall not be located on sites where, in the opinion of the 

Development Authority, the drive-through business would create unsafe vehicle 
circulation or access or egress from the site. 

 
8.7.2 All parts of a site to which vehicles may have access shall be hard surfaced and 

drained to the satisfaction of the Development Authority to provide a durable dust-
free surface. 

 
8.7.3 No curb cut providing vehicle access onto the subject site shall: 
 

a) Be within 6.0m (19.7ft) from the nearest corner of an intersection of two roads; 
 

b) Have a width greater than 10.7m (35.1ft); 
 

c) Be located closer than 6.0m (19.7ft) from an adjacent curb cut on the same side 
of a site and measured along the lot line. 

 
8.7.4 A minimum of ten percent (10%) of the site area of a drive-through business shall be 

landscaped to the satisfaction of the Development Authority. 
 
8.7.5 Where a drive-through business is located abutting a residential district, screening 

shall be provided to the satisfaction of the Development Authority. 
 
8.7.6 The minimum required front landscaped yard shall be 3.0m (9.8ft), or such greater 

distance as prescribed within the applicable district within which the development is 
located. 

 
8.7.7 A minimum of two (2) queuing spaces shall be provided for each drive-in window to the 

following standards: 
 

100



 

63 

a) Minimum length of 6.5m (21.3ft) and width of 3.0m (9.8ft); 
 

b) Provide sufficient space for turning and maneuvering and not interfere with 
parking or access on the site. 

 
8.7.8 A drive through facility providing automotive servicing, such as quick lube, or similar 

facilities, shall provide sufficient vehicle stacking on the site for a minimum of five (5) 
passenger vehicles or three (3) large trucks. This requirement is in addition to the 
parking standards as outlined in Section 10. 

 
8.7.9 The on-site layout of vehicle circulation patterns shall be to the satisfaction of the 

Development Authority. 
 
8.7.10 Any lighting proposed to illuminate the site shall be located and arranged so that all 

direct rays of light are directed upon the site only and not on any abutting residential 
use. 

 
8.7.11 A sufficient number of catch basins to drain the site shall be provided, to the 

satisfaction of the Development Authority. 
 
8.7.12 Where the customer normally remains in the vehicle for service, the minimum site size 

shall be 930.0m2 (10,010.4ft2), and the minimum building area shall be 37.0m2 
(398.3ft2). 

 
8.7.13 The owner, tenant, operator, or person in charge of a drive-in business shall, at all 

times: 
 

a) Maintain the site and the buildings, structures, and improvements thereon in a 
clean, neat, tidy, and attractive condition, free from all rubbish and debris; 
 

b) Be responsible for the proper, safe, and orderly operation of the business and 
of motor vehicles using the site, and without restricting the generality of the 
foregoing, shall ensure: 

 
i. That operators of motor vehicles do not obstruct the sidewalks and 

boulevards abutting or adjacent to the site; and 
 

ii. That operators of motor vehicles enter and leave the site only at the 
entrances and exits provided for such purposes. 

 
8.8 Confined Feeding Operations 
 
8.8.1 Confined Feeding Operations (CFOs) are regulated by the Natural Resource 

Conservation Board (NRCB), as appointed within the Agricultural Operation Practices 
Act (AOPA), in accordance with provincial regulations and are exempt from municipal 
control under this Bylaw. 
 

8.8.2 Notwithstanding the above-mentioned, development of a CFO shall be consistent with 
the land use provisions of the County’s Municipal Development Plan. 

 

101



 

64 

8.8.3 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Bylaw that requires a minimum setback, 
the Minimum Distance Separation between a proposed Dwelling Unit and a CFO, as 
determined by the NRCB, shall be the required distance of separation between a 
proposed CFO and an existing Dwelling Unit. 
 

8.8.4 Where more than one (1) minimum setback distance is applicable under this Bylaw, the 
greater distance shall prevail. 

 
8.8.5 In all land use districts where multi-parcel residential development is allowed, it shall 

be a discretionary use if it is within the Minimum Distance Separation for a CFO, as 
determined by the NRCB. 

 
8.8.6 Applications for a development permit for a new residential use within a Country 

Residential district for which the proposed use does not comply with the Minimum 
Distance Separation from an existing CFO, as determined by the NRCB, may be 
approved as a discretionary use. If approved, the development permit may include 
as a condition of approval a restrictive covenant, which outlines the risk of a CFO in 
the area and may require additional buffering or vegetative screening on the part of 
the applicant in order to minimize adverse impacts from nearby CFO uses. 

 
8.9 Dangerous Goods 
 
8.9.1 Any development that includes dangerous goods shall be considered a discretionary 

use. 
 

8.9.2 The storage of dangerous goods shall be prohibited in all residential land use 
districts and within 100.0m (328.1ft) of an institutional, recreational or residential land 
use district. This includes the temporary (overnight) storage of dangerous goods on 
mobile equipment, such as ‘Sealed Sour Units’. 

 
8.10 Drainage 
 
8.10.1 All surface drainage and run-off of any development shall have a positive surface 

drainage that does not adversely affect the neighbouring properties. 
 

8.10.2 All roof drainage from a building shall be directed onto the parcel upon which the 
building is situated to the satisfaction of the Development Authority. 

 
8.10.3 Any doors, windows and other openings to any development shall be at the same or 

greater elevation as the downstream road centerline elevation to avoid overland flood 
damage, water seepage and other water related damage. 

 
8.11 Dugouts 
 
8.11.1 Unless a Dugout is exempted by subsection 4.3 from the requirement for a 

development permit, an applicant shall submit plans and specifications in accordance 
with subsection 4.6. 
 
a) As per sub-section 4.2 no fee shall be required for a development permit for a 

Dugout. 

102



 

65 

 
8.11.2 Dugouts within all land use districts shall: 
 

a) Not be located within 41.1m (135.0ft) of any public road, or as approved by the 
Development Authority; and 
 

b) Meet the minimum setback requirements of the applicable land use district 
unless for irrigation purposes. 

 
8.11.3 Development permit applications for Dugouts within all land use districts, excluding 

Agricultural (A) and Forestry (F) Districts, shall: 
 
a) Specify where the soil from the excavation is to be stored or relocated to; 

 
b) Provide fencing around the proposed Dugout to the following requirements: 

 
i. Minimum height of 1.2m (3.9ft) measured from the outside or non-Dugout 

side grade; 
 
ii. Constructed of a material and design so as to limit ease of passage through 

or over the fence; and 
 
iii. Gates with self-latching devices to prevent access to the water by 

unauthorized persons. 
 

c) At the discretion of the Development Authority, provide a berm around the 
proposed Dugout to the satisfaction of the Development Authority as an 
alternative to providing fencing; and 
 

d) Not contain proposed plantings of deciduous trees within 50.0m (164.0ft) or 
shrubs / coniferous trees within 20.0m (65.6ft) of the proposed Dugout. 

 
8.12 Dwelling Units per Parcel 
 
8.12.1 No person shall construct, locate or cause to be constructed more than one Dwelling 

Unit on a lot within a hamlet unless provided for in this Bylaw. 
 

8.12.2 Notwithstanding subsection 8.12.1, a second or additional Dwelling Unit on a parcel 
may be permitted if such Dwelling Unit is: 
 
a) Contained in a building designed for, or divided into, two or more Dwelling Unit 

and is located in a land use district which permits multiple units; 
 
b) A Manufactured Home forming part of a Manufactured Home Community for 

which a development permit has been issued; 
 
c) A building as defined in the Condominium Property Act that is the subject of an 

approved condominium plan registered in the Land Titles Office; 
 
d) A Garden Suite or Secondary Suite. 

103



 

66 

 
8.13 Easements/Rights-of ways 
 
8.13.1 Without a written consent given by the easement / right-of-way owner (or that whose 

utility line is found in the easement / right-of-way), the Development Authority may 
not issue a permit for development (except for the erection of a fence or construction 
of an access) that encroaches into or over a utility easement / right-or-way, even if the 
proposed development conforms to the provisions of this Bylaw. 
 

8.13.2 Subject to the conditions of a utility easement, no permanent structure other than a 
fence shall be constructed or placed on that utility easement unless: 

 
a) In the opinion of the Development Authority the said structure does not restrict 

access to the utility easement for the purpose of installation and maintenance of 
the utility; and 

 
b) Written consent has been obtained from the person for whose use the easement 

has been granted. 
 
8.14 Fences 
 
8.14.1 In a hamlet, no fence within the yard – front setback shall exceed 1.2m (3.9ft) in 

height, as shown in Figure 16, with exception as approved by the Development   
Authority. 
 

8.14.2 In a hamlet , no fence within a yard – side or yard – rear shall exceed 1.8m (5.9ft) in 
height, as shown in Figure 16, with exception as approved by the Development   
Authority. 

 

 

Figure 16. Fence Height 

 
8.14.3 No fence on a corner lot within a sight triangle shall exceed 1.2m (3.9ft) in height, 

with exception as approved by the Development Authority. 
 

8.14.4 In a hamlet, no person shall maintain or permit to be maintained a fence comprised of 

104



 

67 

barbed or tension wire. 
 
8.15 Flood Prone Lands (Flood Hazard Area and Pluvial Flooding) 
 
8.15.1 Development on land which may be subject to flooding or within an identified flood 

hazard area is prohibited unless a site specific assessment (to identify 1:100 Year 
Flood plain level) is conducted to determine the exact flood risk and flood mitigation 
measures are determined. 
 

8.15.2 Development on lands which have been identified within a flood hazard area and 
designated as a two-zone floodway/flood fringe as shown in Figure 17 flood area, shall 
be restricted to the following land uses: 

 
a) In floodway areas, new development shall not be allowed except for the 

following: 
 

i. Non-obstructing agricultural uses; 
 

ii. Recreational uses; 
 

iii. Flood control measures; and 
 

iv. Public works facilities. 
 

b) In flood fringe areas, new development shall not be allowed except for 
otherwise approved land uses which comply with all applicable flood-proofing 
measures as are required by the Development Authority and/or Canada 
Mortgage and Housing Corporation. 
 

 
Figure 17. Flood Hazard Area 

 
8.15.3 Notwithstanding subsection 8.15.2 b) and at the discretion of the Development   

Authority, infill development may be allowed on lands within the 1:100 year flood 
fringe area depending on confirmation from a water resource engineer, or other 
professional engineer registered in the Province of Alberta, that the lands are suitable 
for the proposed use. 

 
8.15.4 Any development permit issued for development within the 1:100 year flood fringe 

shall have, as a condition of approval, a restrictive covenant registered against the title 
of the subject property related to the approved development. 

 
8.15.5 Development permit applications for lands which are determined to be low lying, or 

105



 

68 

those which may be subject to seasonal flooding or that are caused by heavy rainfall, 
may be refused by the Development Authority. 

 
8.15.6 In addition to subsection 4.12, the Development Authority may provide additional 

conditions of approval to any development permit for any location that the 
Development Authority deems to be at risk of pluvial flooding, including but not 
limited to:  

 
a) All basement  or below grade development shall have an operational sump 

pump; 
 

b) No basement  or below grade development; 
 

c) Building development only being allowed above grade at an elevation 
determined by the Development Authority; and 

 
d) No site work or grading shall take place on the site that will alter existing 

drainage patterns or contribute to the flooding or inundation of adjacent 
properties. 

 
8.15.7 When an applicant wishes to develop on a lot determined to be low lying or deemed to 

be at risk of pluvial flooding the Development Authority may approve the 
application if certain flood mitigation measures are proposed by the applicant and 
deemed acceptable by the Development Authority. 
 

8.15.8 Where a parcel of land may experience seasonal or pluvial flooding the 
development may be brought to the Municipal Planning Commission for decision. 

 
8.16 Private Garages 
 
8.16.1 A property may have two Private Garages, one attached and one detached at the 

discretion of the Development Authority. 
 
8.16.2 No Private Garage shall be located with the vehicle entrance doors facing the public 

utility lot and/or lane. 
 
8.16.3 A Private Garage shall: 
 

a) Be located no closer to a front property line than the associated dwelling; and 
 

b) Have a maximum vehicle entrance door height of 4.6m (15.1ft). 
 

8.16.4 An attached Private Garage: 
 

a) May be required, at the discretion of the Development Authority, to be 
positioned in order to reflect the placement of a Private Garage on an adjacent 
property; and 
 

b) Shall not have a combined area, with Accessory Buildings on a property, that 
exceeds 85.0m2 (914.9ft2) or 80% of the associated dwelling floor area 

106



 

69 

whichever is greater. 
 
8.16.5 A detached Private Garage shall not: 

 
a) Be located within any yard – front setback requirement of the applicable district; 

 
b) Be located within 1.5m (4.9ft) of any side property line; 

 
c) Exceed 100.0m2 (1076.4ft2) in area; 

 
d) Exceed one storey in height unless to provide for a Secondary Suite on the 

second storey. 
 

8.16.6 A detached Private Garage shall be accessory to a principal dwelling within a hamlet  
residential land use district. 

 
8.17 Garden Suites 
 
8.17.1 A Garden Suite shall: 

 
a) Be limited to one per lot /residence; 

 
b) Be only allowed on a lot with an existing primary dwelling unit; and 

 
c) Notwithstanding 8.17.1 a), is allowed on the same lot as a Secondary Suite. 

 
8.17.2 Within hamlet boundaries, a Garden Suite shall be designed to reasonably 

complement the existing primary dwelling on the site through design aspects relating 
to: 
 
a) Roof pitch; and 

 
b) Exterior finishing with similar design, colour and material. 

 
8.17.3 A Garden Suite shall: 

 
a) Have an appearance and quality of finishing materials that reflect the fact that it 

is a Dwelling Unit; 
 

b) Be accessory to the principal Dwelling Unit and may have a maximum floor 
area of 45.0m2 (484.0ft2) for in-hamlet  or non-agricultural lands or a maximum 
floor area of 120.0m2 (1292.0ft2) for lands identified as rural or agricultural; 

 
c) Not have a height greater than the principal dwelling. 

 
8.17.4 A Garden Suite may be attached to or be developed above a detached Private 

Garage. 
 
8.17.5 A Garden Suite is permitted to have a second level if the total floor area remains 

within the 120m2 (1292 ft2) limit for lands identified as rural or agricultural zoned 

107



 

70 

property. For lands identified as in-hamlet  or non-agricultural lands, the total floor 
area remains within 45m2 (484ft2). 

 
8.18 Home Based Businesses  
 
8.18.1 A Home Based Business requires an approved and active business license. 

 
8.18.2 A Home Based Business shall be limited to those uses which do not interfere with the 

rights of other residents to quiet enjoyment of a residential neighbourhood. At all times, 
the privacy of the adjacent dwellings shall be preserved and shall not unduly offend 
the surrounding residents by way of, but not limited to excessive lighting, noise, traffic, 
congestion, late visitations by clients. 
 

8.18.3 All permits for a Home Based Business shall be subject to the condition that the 
permit may be revoked at any time, if, in the opinion of the Development Authority, 
the use is or has become detrimental or otherwise incompatible with the amenities of 
the neighbourhood. 

 
8.18.4 Permits for a Home Based Business will expire upon the expiration, cancellation or 

revocation of a business license. The development permit shall become null and void 
if a County business license is not maintained in good standing. 

 
8.18.5 Signage for a Home Based Business shall be limited to one (1) Sign not exceeding 

1.1m2 (12ft2) in area. Signage must conform to all other provisions of the Signs 
regulation contained in Section 11 of this Bylaw. 

 
8.18.6 A Home Based Business shall not include exterior storage. 

 
8.18.7 A Home Based Business shall be operated by the resident of the principal dwelling 

and may include one non-resident employee. 
 

8.18.8 A Home Based Business Medium shall meet all the following criteria: 
 

a) Not occupy more than thirty percent (30%) of the gross floor area of the principal 
dwelling, but may be located fully or partially in Accessory Buildings; 

 
b) Clients and customers of a Home Based Business Medium shall be permitted 

to visit the premises between the hours of 8:00am – 8:00pm, or as established by 
the discretion of the Development Authority; and 

 
c) The property of a Home Based Business Medium shall have no more than two 

(2) vehicles, used in conjunction with a Home Based Business Medium, parked 
and maintained on site. No vehicle, used in conjunction with a Home Based 
Business Medium, shall have a gross vehicle weight greater than 22,600.0kg 
(49,824.5lbs). 

 
8.18.9 Permits for a Home Based Business Medium may be renewed upon the issued 

permit expiration date if, in the opinion of the Development Authority, the use 
remains to not be detrimental or incompatible with the surrounding neighbourhood. 

 

108



 

71 

8.18.10 A Home Based Business Minor shall not be the primary use of the residential 
building and shall not: 
 
a) Change the appearance of the residential building or its Accessory Building, 

unless approved by the Development Authority; 
 

b) Require alterations to the building unless the alterations are approved by the 
Development Authority; 
 

c) Occupy more than fifty percent (50%) of the total floor area of the principal 
building; and 
 

d) Involve client and customer visits outside the hours of 8:00am – 6:00pm. 
 

8.18.11 A Home Based Business Minor is subject to all parking requirements and restrictions 
described in this Bylaw in Section 10. 

 
8.19 Illumination 
 
8.19.1 Illumination from commercial or industrial uses shall be shielded away from residential 

land use districts and streets. 
 
8.19.2 Outdoor lighting on a site shall be located and designed to not interfere with the use 

and enjoyment of neighbouring properties, or with the safe and effective use of public 
roadways. 

 
8.19.3 The maximum permitted height for a freestanding light pole is 9.0m (29.5ft) above 

building grade as regulated by the Airport Vicinity Protection Area or otherwise 
determined by the Development Authority who shall have regard for the scale and 
character of adjacent development and any matters of aesthetics or public safety 
considered to be relevant. 

 
8.20 Industrial Camps 
 
8.20.1 Unless exempt from requiring a development permit, as outlined in subsection 4.3, a 

specialized fee shall be required for the construction of an Industrial Camp providing 
accommodations for 25 or more employees. 
 

8.20.2 When reviewing an application under this subsection, the Development Authority 
shall consider the following: 

 
a) The location, type, and purpose of the Industrial Camp; 

 
b) Access to the Industrial Camp; 

 
c) The provision of services to the Industrial Camp; and/or 

 
d) Adjacent land uses. 

 
8.20.3 The minimum setbacks shall be provided in accordance with the applicable land use 

109



 

72 

district. 
 

8.20.4 If an Industrial Camp development permit is temporary and the Industrial Camp 
needs to remain on location past the expiry date, a time extension may be granted by 
the Development Authority.  

 
8.20.5 All Industrial Camps located on Crown lands shall be subject to conditions of an 

approved lease applicable to the location from Alberta Environment and Protected 
Areas and Alberta Agriculture and Irrigation and Alberta Forestry and Parks. 

 
8.20.6 All parking must be provided on-site and parking areas, where required, shall be 

developed to the satisfaction of the Development Authority. 
 
8.20.7 Provision of access shall be provided to the satisfaction of the Development   

Authority. 
 
8.21 Kennels 
 
8.21.1 Kennels may be established in accordance with the appropriate development permit 

conditions in an existing building. 
 

8.21.2 Minimum building setbacks: 
 

a) 90 m (295 ft) from any dwelling on an adjacent property; and 
 

b) 30 m (98 ft) from any other property lines. 
 

8.21.3 All Kennel buildings and exercise areas shall be located behind the principal building 
on the property. 
 

8.21.4 The developer shall set up sound barriers for a Kennel. 
 

8.21.5 The Kennel shall meet all current National Building Code Alberta Edition requirements 
for buildings and any other requirements specified by Superior Safety Codes.  
 

8.21.6 The applicant must have a valid business license with Mackenzie County. 
 

8.21.7 Dogs are not allowed outside between the hours of 10 p.m. and 7 a.m. daily. 
 

8.21.8 Facilities must be cleaned regularly. 
 

8.21.9 The development permit and business license for a Kennel shall not be transferable 
and a new development permit and business license application is required any time 
there is a change in ownership or change in operation including the maximum number 
of dogs. 
 

8.21.10 The maximum number of adult dogs allowed per Kennel will be forty-five (45). 
 

8.21.11 Exterior exercise areas/runs must be enclosed with an acceptable fence. 
 

110



 

73 

8.21.12 At all times, the Kennel shall not cause a nuisance or interfere with the general 
enjoyment of neighbouring property owners. 
 

8.21.13 The permit for a Kennel may be revoked at any time, if, in the opinion of the 
Development Authority, the Kennel has become detrimental or otherwise 
incompatible with the amenities of the neighbourhood. 

 
8.22 Manufactured Homes 
 
8.22.1 All Manufactured Homes shall conform to the Alberta Building Code. 

 
8.22.2 Manufactured Homes shall be factory built with walls of pre-finished baked enamel 

aluminum siding, or equivalent sound construction and appearance at the discretion of 
the Development Authority. 
 

8.22.3 A Manufactured Home shall have: 
 

a) A minimum roof pitch of 5.0cm (1.97inches) of vertical rise for every 30.0cm 
(11.81inches); 
 

b) A minimum overhang of 15.24cm (6.0inches);  
 

c) A minimum length to width ratio of 3:1; and 
 

8.22.4 Any exterior renovation requirements imposed by the Development Authority to a 
Manufactured Home shall be completed prior to the placement of the building on the 
site. 

 
8.22.5 The undercarriage of a Manufactured Home – Mobile shall be screened from view 

by the foundation or skirting similar to that of the siding materials or other means 
satisfactory to the Development Authority. 

 
8.22.6 All additions, patios, porches, and skirting shall be of a quality and appearance 

equivalent to the Manufactured Home and reflect with the standard of the 
neighbourhood to the satisfaction of the Development Authority. 

 
8.22.7 All connections to municipal water and sewer systems shall be adequately insulated. 
 
8.23 Objects Prohibited or Restricted in Yards 
 
8.23.1 No trucks, trailers, or tankers with a gross vehicle weight (G.V.W.) rating in excess of 

4,082.0kg (9,000.0lbs), excluding school buses, shall be allowed in a hamlet  
residential land use district, excluding Zama City Mixed Use (Z-MU) and Zama City 
Residential-Business (Z-RB) districts, for longer than is reasonably required to load or 
unload such a vehicle. 
 

8.23.2 No person shall keep in any yard, within a hamlet  residential land use district, any 
object which in the opinion of the Development Authority contravenes the County’s 
Unsightly Premises Bylaw and may be unsafe, unsightly, or adversely affects the 
amenities of the neighbourhood. This includes, but not limited to: 

111



 

74 

 
a) Dismantled or wrecked vehicles; 

 
b) Farm / industrial / commercial equipment; and 

 
c) Excavation, stockpiling, or storage of materials, explosives, flammable liquids, 

diesel fuel, and gasoline products, other than typically required for home use. 
 
8.23.3 The storage of materials and equipment that are specifically intended as attractions for 

wildlife (e.g. bear, coyotes, moose) shall not be permitted within hamlets, or within 
800.0m (2,624.7ft) of Country Residential or Institutional land use districts. 

 
8.24 Pressure Vessel Storage 
 
8.24.1 All Pressure Vessel Storage containers shall be constructed, located, and inspected 

in accordance with the provisions of the Alberta Safety Codes Act and/or Safety Code 
Council, and its regulations. 

 
8.24.2 No pressurized vessels over 45.36 kg (100 pounds) shall be allowed within the 

hamlets for residential purposes. Temporary use of pressurized vessels may be 
allowed at the Development Authority’s discretion during winter conditions. 

 
8.24.3 Pressurized vessels for the purpose of providing primary heat to any residential 

building within the hamlet shall not be permitted where natural gas is available. 
Where natural gas servicing is not available, pressurized vessels shall be considered 
discretionary uses and may be allowed at the discretion of the Development   
Authority to a maximum tank size of 568 L (125 gallons). 
 

8.24.4 Pressure Vessel Storage facilities for materials, including but not limited to anhydrous 
ammonia, propane, and oxygen, with a liquid volume/capacity exceeding 45,460 L 
(10,000 gallons) shall not be allowed in the following areas: 

 
a) Inside and within a 3.2km (2.0 mile) radius of the designated boundaries of any 

settlement, hamlet or town; 
 

b) Within a 1.0 mile (1.6km) radius of any public or private school sites; or 
 

c) Within a distance of 450.0m (1,476.0ft) from any existing Dwelling Unit. 
 
8.24.5 Upon receipt of a development permit application for a development which includes 

a pressure vessel container with a liquid volume/capacity exceeding 4,546 L (1,000 
gallons), the Development Officer may require the applicant to include: 
 
a) A site plan detailing the location of each pressure vessel; 

 
b) An approved emergency response plan detailing procedures in the event of a 

pressure vessel rupture or explosion; and 
 

c) Where applicable, a contact person and the location of the nearest emergency 
response team provided by the product vendor. 

 

112



 

75 

8.24.6 Upon receipt of an application for a development permit which includes a pressure 
vessel with a liquid volume/capacity in excess of 4,546 L (1,000 gallons), the 
Development Officer shall refer the development proposal to the applicable fire 
department Fire Chief for comments and recommendations. 
 

8.24.7 Notwithstanding other provisions of this Bylaw, no residential development shall be 
allowed within 450.0m (1,476.0ft) of existing Pressure Vessel Storage with a liquid 
volume/capacity exceeding 5,460 L (10,000 gallons). 

 
8.24.8 When reviewing development proposals for the placement of commercial pressure 

vessels with a liquid volume/capacity less than 4,546 L (1,000 gallons) within a 
hamlet, the Development Authority shall consider the: 

 
a) Material to be stored in the pressure vessel; 

 
b) Orientation of the pressure vessel to buildings in the surrounding neighbourhood, 

especially those which are used for residential use or public assembly; 
 

c) Ability of the local fire department to respond to an accident involving the proposed 
development as specified by the Fire Chief of the responding Fire Department; 
and 
 

d) Truck route through the community which will be used to service the proposed 
development. 

 
8.24.9 Notwithstanding other provisions of this Bylaw, no residential development shall be 

allowed within 450.0m (1,476.0ft) of existing Pressure Vessel Storage with a liquid 
volume/capacity exceeding 5,460 L (10,000 gallons). 

 
8.25 Primary Dwelling – Hamlet 
 
8.25.1 Unless otherwise approved by the Development Authority, all principal dwelling 

units in Hamlets will connect directly to and be serviced by municipal infrastructure. 
 
8.26 Private Sewage Treatment Systems 
 
8.26.1 All private sewage treatment systems shall conform to the current Safety Code 

Standard. 
 

8.26.2 All private sewage treatment systems shall require safety code permit approval prior to 
installation. Applications shall be accompanied by a site evaluation report indicating 
the need for such a system, as well as site suitability. Such site evaluation shall be 
carried out in accordance with the requirements outlined in the current Safety Code 
Standard, as amended from time-to-time. 

 
8.26.3 Notwithstanding subsection 8.26.1 the soil-based treatment component of a private 

treatment system shall: 
 

a) Be located not less than 90.0m (295.3ft) from the shore of a permanent water 
body such as a lake, river, stream, or creek; or 

113



 

76 

 
b) Where a principal building is located between the system and a water body, the 

setback distance may be reduced in accordance with the minimum separation 
standards for the specific type of system, as identified within the current Safety 
Code Standard, as amended from time-to-time. 
 

8.27 Projection over Yards 
 
8.27.1 The portions of and attachments to a main building which may project over or onto a 

minimum yard - setback are as follows and illustrated in Figure 18: 
 

a) On a site in a residential district, architectural or ornamental features, such as a 
cornice, sill, canopy or eaves which do not project more than one-half of the 
minimum side yard required for the site, but not less than 1.2m (3.94ft) from the 
side boundary of the site, for maintenance and access purposes; 

 
b) A chimney which projects 0.6m (2.0ft) or less provided that in each case it is not 

less than 0.9m (3.0ft) from the side property line; and 
 

c) Unenclosed steps with or without a landing and less than 0.61m (2.0ft) above the 
surface of the yard if they do not project more than 2.4 m (7.9ft) over or on a 
minimum front or rear yard or more than 0.9m (3.0ft) in a side yard. 

 
 

 

Figure 18. Projections Over Yards 

 

114



 

77 

8.28 Recreational Uses 
 

8.28.1 A Recreation Centre or Lodge may have Accessory Buildings available for the 
lodging of its patrons. A Recreation Centre or Lodge shall not provide any form of 
permanent habitation of the rooms by its patrons. 

8.29 Recreational Vehicles 
 
8.29.1 Within any hamlet residential land use district: 

 
a) No more than one (1) recreational vehicle shall be allowed to be stored on a lot; 
 
b) No recreational vehicle shall be permitted on a lot that does not contain a 

principal building with the exception of Zama City; and 
 
c) Notwithstanding subsection (b) above, a recreational vehicle may be located on a 

lot during the construction of a principal building. 
 

d) No person shall park or permit parking of a recreational vehicle on any private 
property without prior permission of the owner, tenant, occupant, or person in 
control of the property; and 

 
e) No person shall drive or park any recreational vehicle or other vehicle, on any land 

owned by Mackenzie County which the County uses or permits to be used as a 
playground, recreation area, public park, parkway, open space area or beautification 
area whether improved or in a natural state unless that person is an employee of 
Mackenzie County in the performance of their duties or other authorized person 
working at Mackenzie County’s request. 
 

8.29.2 Within all land use districts, excluding hamlet residential and agricultural land use 
districts, no more than two (2) recreational vehicles shall be stored on a lot except 
where approved by the Development Authority. 

 
8.30 Residential Sales Centre 
 
8.30.1 A development permit application for a Residential Sales Centre shall be 

accompanied by the following information in addition to the information required within 
subsection 4.6 of this Bylaw: 
 
a) A context plan identifying the nature of land uses and developments within a 

60.0m (196.9ft) radius of the subject site; 
 

b) A description of the exterior finish materials and colours for any structure including 
any proposed hoardings or false façades; 
 

c) Drawings showing the location, area, height, construction material, colour and 
method of support for any proposed on-site identification or advertising signs shall 
be displayed on a hoarding or false façades; 
 

115



 

78 

d) Drawings showing the area, height, construction materials and method of support 
for any proposed off-site Directional Signs, and a description of the proposed 
location for the Signs; and 
 

e) The security amount required within Subsection 8.30.9. 
 

8.30.2 The siting and development of a Residential Sales Centre shall be in compliance with 
the regulations of the land use district intended to be applied to the site to 
accommodate future residential development; provided that the Development 
Officer may attach additional conditions to minimize adverse impacts on adjacent 
development, including the construction of roadways or temporary turnarounds, in 
accordance with Mackenzie County’s General Municipal Improvement Standards. 
 

8.30.3 Excluding advertising signs, the colours and materials employed for the exterior 
finishes, whether permanent or temporary, shall be compatible with those commonly 
found in the applicable land use district. 

 
8.30.4 On-site parking shall be provided at a rate of parking spaces per 100.0m2 (1076.9ft2) of 

floor area of the Residential Sales Centre, and all curb crossings and access points 
shall be designed and located so as to minimize on-site and off-site traffic impacts, to 
the satisfaction of the Development Authority. 

 
8.30.5 Exterior lighting shall be designed and located such that: 

 
a) No lighting is directed at adjoining properties; and 

 
b) The effectiveness of any traffic control devices is not impaired. 
 

8.30.6 A development permit for a Residential Sales Centre shall be valid for a period of 
time specified by the Development Authority having regard for the amount of land or 
development being marketed, but in no case shall exceed two (2) years. 
 

8.30.7 Prior to the commencement of any clearing, excavation, or other work in respect of the 
construction of the Residential Sales Centre, the permit holder shall: 
 
a) Contact an Alberta Land Surveyor to survey the proposed lots in accordance with 

the plan of subdivision; 
 

b) Provide access to the Residential Sales Centre such that the total unobstructed 
distance from a fire hydrant / fire pond to the principal entrance of each 
Residential Sales Centre is not more than 90.0m (295.3ft) or such distance as 
approved by Fire Rescue Operations. An access road(s) shall be constructed to 
Mackenzie County’s General Municipal Improvement Standards suitable for fire 
truck use; and  

 
c) Have erected on the site a Signs bearing the words: 

“This Residential Sales Centre has been approved for the sole purpose of 
marketing homes in this area. Be advised that this Residential Sales Centre cannot 
be sold or occupied as a residential dwelling until such time that it has been 

116



 

79 

approved for occupancy by Mackenzie County. For more information call – Insert 
Developer Name and Phone Number”. 

 
8.30.8 Where full services are not available to the site, a Residential Sales Centre shall be 

provided with a sanitary privy which meets the standards of all applicable health and 
safety legislation. 

 
8.30.9 In the event either: 

 
a) The owner of the site on which a Residential Sales Centre is located fails to enter 

into a Development Agreement with the County within one (1) year following the 
issuance of a development permit for the Residential Sales Centre; or 
 

b) The owner of the site on which a Residential Sales Centre is located fails to 
register a plan of subdivision for the subject lands in accordance with an approval 
granted by the Subdivision Authority within one (1) year following the issuance of a 
development permit for the Residential Sales Centre; or 
 

c) The Residential Sales Centre is found not to meet the requirements of the 
development permit issued therefore or otherwise fails to meet the requirements 
of this Bylaw; or 
 

d) The owner of the site on which a Residential Sales Centre is located fails to 
adhere to the requirements of any Residential Servicing Agreement entered into 
with the County respecting the subject lands; or 
 

e) The development permit for a Residential Sales Centre expires without a 
replacement having been issued, 

 
f) The owner of the site on which a Residential Sales Centre is located shall 

immediately remove the Residential Sales Centre from the site, fill in any 
excavations within the site and shall return the site and the surrounding lands to 
substantially the same condition in which the site was prior to excavation for the 
Residential Sales Centre. The owner of the site on which a Residential Sales 
Centre is to be located shall deposit and shall maintain with the County, by way of 
cash or Letter of Credit to the satisfaction of the Chief Administrative Officer, 
security in the amount of ten thousand dollars ($10,000.00) against the 
requirements of this subsection. The said security, or so much thereof is then 
remaining, shall be returned, without liability for interest, upon either: 

 
i. The work outlined herein having been completed to the satisfaction of the 

Development Authority; or 
 
ii. A development permit for the conversion of the Residential Sales Centre 

to a Dwelling – Single Detached having been issued in accordance with this 
Bylaw. 

 
8.30.10 The owner of the site on which a Residential Sales Centre is located shall, within two 

(2) weeks or otherwise determined by the Development Authority following the 
placement of basement or foundation walls, provide to the Development Officer a 
Real Property Report confirming the location of the same on the site. 

117



 

80 

 
8.30.11 A development permit converting a Residential Sales Centre to a Dwelling – 

Single Detached may not be issued unless and until a Construction Completion 
Certificate has been issued, respecting all municipal services to the site in accordance 
with a Development Agreement made with the County. 

 
8.30.12 Upon the issuance of a development permit for a Residential Sales Centre, the 

County may register a caveat against the title to the subject lands advising 
prospective purchasers that the said lands have not been approved for residential 
occupancy. Any such caveat registered by the County shall be discharged upon the 
earlier of: 

 
a) The removal of the Residential Sales Centre in accordance with the requirements 

of subsection 8.30.9 and 
 
b) The issuance of a development permit for the conversion of the Residential 

Sales Centre to a Dwelling – Single Detached in accordance with this Bylaw. 
 

8.31 Roads and Highways 
 

8.31.1 All roads and accesses shall be constructed to a width and standard as specified in 
the General Municipal Improvement Standards or replacing standard and / or policy. 
The subdivision of land for any purpose will not be allowed unless the minimum road 
standard has been met. 
 

8.31.2 All applications for subdivision or development on lands adjacent to a highway 
shall be referred to Alberta Transportation for comments and approval. 

 
8.32 Secondary Suites 
 
8.32.1 A Secondary Suite shall: 
 

a) Be limited to one per lot /residence;  
 

b) Notwithstanding 8.32.1 a), is allowed on the same lot as a Garden Suite; and 
 

c) Be accessory to the principal dwelling unit.  
 
8.33 Service Stations and Bulk Fuel Storage 
 
8.33.1 The Safety Code Council is the designated approval authority for administration of 

Alberta Fire Code for Mackenzie County as it relates to petroleum and / or bulk fuel 
product storage and system construction, registration, upgrading, testing, closure, 
maintenance and operation standards. 
 

8.33.2 Prior to submitting a development permit application for a Service Station and Bulk 
Fuel Storage And Distribution, the applicant shall be required to seek a permit from 
Safety Code Council by submitting a completed application form and related 
information. The applicant will be required to submit the approved permit from Safety 
Code Council as part of their development permit application. 

118



 

81 

 
8.33.3 The setback requirements for the above-ground and underground storage tanks from 

buildings and property lines shall be to the satisfaction of Safety Code Council. 
 

8.33.4 All parts of the site to which vehicles may have access shall be hard-surfaced if the 
property is accessed from a paved public road or lane, and drained to the satisfaction 
of the Development Authority. 

 
8.34 Setbacks from Gas and Oil Wells 
 
8.34.1 The purpose of establishing setbacks around well sites is to allow for the maintenance 

of the well site to occur, to protect the well site, and to avoid damage to any 
construction or excavation equipment that may be used in construction of buildings or 
utilities on the site. Incorporating the setbacks and access area associated with a well 
site into a subdivision and development proposal may help in determining an 
effective subdivision design, the location of building sites, siting of underground 
utilities, and grading of land. 
 

8.34.2 A subdivision application or a development application shall not be approved if it 
would result in a permanent additional overnight accommodation or public facility, as 
defined by the Alberta Energy Regulator (AER), being located within 100.0m (328.1ft) 
of a gas or oil well or within a lesser distance approved in writing by the AER as shown 
in Figure 19. 

 
 

 
 

Figure 19. Setback from Gas and Oil Wells 

 
8.34.3 In accordance with the Alberta Energy Regulator (AER) recommendations, a setback 

consisting of a minimum of 10.0m (32.81ft) by 15.0m (49.21ft) work area surrounding a 

119



 

82 

reclaimed well shall be maintained at all times as shown in Figure 20. 
 

 
 
Figure 20. Reclaimed Well Work Area 
 

8.34.4 The setback property lines shall be established so that the well is no less than 5.0m 
(16.4ft) from the setback property line. A minimum 8.0m (26.25ft) width access to this 
setback area shall be maintained. 
 

8.34.5 Development setbacks from abandoned well sites shall be in accordance with Alberta 
Energy Regulator (AER) and other relevant provincial regulations as amended. 

 
8.35 Setbacks from Sour Gas Facilities and Gas and Oil Wells 
 
8.35.1 A development in proximity to sour gas facilities and oil and gas wells must be in 

accordance with the Matters Related to Subdivision and Development Regulation AR 
84/2022. 

 
8.36 Setbacks from Railway Right-of-way 
 
8.36.1 The minimum setback from railway right-of-way and station grounds for buildings  

shall be as follows: 
 
a) 30.0m (98.4ft) for all commercial, industrial, institutional, and recreational 

development or at the discretion of the Development Authority; and  
 

b) For residential and other sensitive land use development: 
 

i. 30.0m (98.4ft) in conjunction with a 2.5m (8.2ft) high earthen berm with 
2.5m (8.2ft) to 1.0m (3.3ft) side slopes, adjoining and parallel to the railway 

120



 

83 

right-of-way with returns at the ends; or 
 

ii. 120.0m (393.7ft) in the absence of a berm. 
 

8.36.2 The minimum setback from railway right-of-way and station grounds for residential and 
other sensitive land uses shall be as follows: 
 
a) 30.0m (98.4ft) in conjunction with a 2.5m (8.2ft) high earthen berm with 2.5m 

(8.2ft) to 1.0m (3.3ft) side slopes, adjoining and parallel to the railway right-of-
way with returns at the ends; or  
 

b) 120.0m (393.7ft) in the absence of a berm. 
 
8.36.3 When the County receives an application for subdivision or a development permit 

regarding a property situated within 300.0m (984.0ft) of railway tracks, a copy of the 
application shall be forwarded to the Canadian National Railways for comments and 
recommendations. 
 

8.36.4 All proposed residential or other sensitive use development within 300.0m (984.3ft) of 
a railway right-of-way may be required to: 
 
a) Undertake a noise study, to the satisfaction of the Development Authority in 

consultation with the appropriate railway; and 
 

b) Undertake appropriate measures to mitigate any adverse effects from railway 
noise identified within the completed noise study in order to ensure appropriate 
sound levels are achieved within the proposed development, particularly with 
respect to the 55 dBA outdoor living area criterion. 

 
8.36.5 All proposed residential or other sensitive use development within 75.0m (246.06ft) of 

a railway right-of-way may be required to undertake a vibrations study, to the 
satisfaction of the Development Authority in consultation with the appropriate railway 
and shall undertake appropriate measures to mitigate any adverse effects from 
vibration that were identified.  

 
8.36.6 All proposed development adjacent to railways shall ensure that appropriate safety 

measures such as setbacks, berms and security fencing are provided, to the 
satisfaction of the Development Authority in consultation with the appropriate 
railway. 

 
8.36.7 Any present or former railway right-of-way in place at the time of the passing of this 

Bylaw shall be used for railway purposes only, unless the right-of-way is consolidated 
with adjacent and, whereupon the land shall be used for the same purposes as the 
land with which it is consolidated. 
 

8.37 Setbacks from Slopes and Waterbodies 
 
8.37.1 Where a parcel of land borders on or contains a slope greater than fifteen percent 

(15%) the following minimum development setback from the top of the bank shall not 
be less than two times the height of the slope measured vertically from the toe of the 

121



 

84 

slope to the top of the bank (refer to Figure 21). 
 
8.37.2 As part of the development permit application for development adjacent to slopes, 

the applicant shall be required to submit a sketch including the assessment of the 
slope percentage. 

 
 

 

Figure 21. Setbacks From Slopes 

8.37.3 Where development is proposed to locate on a bench below the bank top, the 
development will be required to meet the yard – setback requirement from both the 
upper and lower benches. 

 
8.37.4 Notwithstanding the above, the Development Authority may increase a minimum 

yard – setback where deemed necessary. 
 
8.37.5 A required minimum yard – setback from a top of the bank may only be relaxed if it can 

be shown through an acceptable geotechnical analysis that the proposed development 
site is suitable for the proposed development. 
 

8.37.6 No lot boundary shall be closer to the top of the bank of a slope than the height of the 
slope measured vertically from the toe of the slope to the top of the bank. 

 
8.37.7 Where a parcel of land borders or contains a water body, the yard – setback from 

the top of the bank shall not be less than 30.5m (100.0ft). 
 

8.37.8 In making a decision on the setback from a water body, the Development Authority 
may refer the application for a development permit to Alberta Environment and 
Protected Areas for comments prior to issuing a permit. If the Province requires that 
the setback be greater than stated in this Bylaw, the provincial standard will apply. 

 

122



 

85 

8.37.9 Where a parcel of land borders or contains a water body the development may be 
brought to the Municipal Planning Commission for input. 

 
8.38 Shipping Containers  
 
8.38.1 Residential Use 
 
8.38.1.1 Shipping Containers may be used as a residential use: 

 
a) Within the Agricultural Districts (A1 and A2) as a principal building and 

Dwelling Unit at the discretion of the Development Authority and shall require 
a development permit. 
 

b) Within all Country Residential land use districts (CREC, CR, and CR2) as an 
Accessory Building to the principal building and shall require a development   
permit and be considered a Garden Suite. 

 
c) Within all Zama land use districts (Z-MU, Z-RB) as a principal building and 

Dwelling Unit at the discretion of the Development Authority or as an 
Accessory Building to the principal building be considered a Garden Suite and 
shall require a development permit. 

 
8.38.2 Storage Use 

 
8.38.2.1 Shipping Containers used for storage purposes shall be considered an Accessory 

Building excluding those within the Zama City Mixed Use land use district, where 
they may be considered a principal building. 
 

8.38.2.2 Shipping Containers shall: 
 

a) Be used for storage purposes excluding any dangerous or hazardous materials; 
 
b) Be restricted within any front yard; and  
 
c) Be positioned within a side or rear yard of a principal building. 

 
8.38.2.3 Within all Country Residential, Highway Commercial, Town Centre and Commercial 

Centre land use districts (H-CR, CR, CR2, CREC, H-HC, H-TC and H-CC) a 
Shipping Container shall: 

 
a) Require a development permit; 
 
b) Be visually screened from public roads and neighbouring properties to the 

satisfaction of the Development Authority; and 
 
c) Not exceed the maximum number of one Shipping Container per lot . 

 
8.38.2.4 Within all Industrial, Agricultural and Forestry land use districts (A, H-LI, H-HI, RIL, 

RIG, Z-I and F) all Shipping Containers shall: 
 

123



 

86 

a) Require a development permit; 
 

b) Be visually screened from public roads and neighbouring properties to the 
satisfaction of the Development Authority; 

 
c) Not be restricted to any maximum number; and 
 
d) Have a maximum height, if multiple Shipping Containers are stacked or one 

standalone Shipping Container, in accordance with height regulations of the 
applicable land use district. 

 
8.38.2.5 Within the Airport, Institutional, Recreational, Urban Fringe land use districts (AP, I, 

REC1, REC2, and UF) Shipping Containers shall: 
 

a) Require a development permit; 
 
b) Be visually screened from public roads and neighbouring properties to the 

satisfaction of the Development Authority; 
 
c) Not exceed a maximum number of Shipping Containers per Lot determined by 

the Development Authority; and 
 
d) Have a maximum height, if multiple Shipping Containers are stacked or one 

stand-alone Shipping Container, in accordance with the relevant land use 
district. 

 
8.39 Sight Triangle 
 
8.39.1 Within a sight triangle on a corner lot  no person shall place or maintain a fence, wall, 

tree, hedge, Signs or other structure/object with a height greater than 1.2m (4.0ft) if 
such structure/object, as shown in Figure 7, in the opinion of the Development   
Authority, would interfere with traffic safety. 
 

8.40 Solar Farms 
 
8.40.1 A Solar Farm shall: 

 
a) Provide development setbacks in conformance with setback requirements of the 

applicable land use district or to the satisfaction of the Development 
Authority; 

 
b) Not create undue glare on neighbouring parcels or public roadways; and 
 
c) Have a total combined area of ground coverage of 0.40ha (1.0ac) or greater and 

may be located on one or more parcels of land. 
 
8.40.2 A Solar Farm may: 

 
a) Be required to provide a landscaping plan, indicating landowner efforts to control 

soil erosion and weeds; 

124



 

87 

 
b) Be required to provide a decommissioning and or mitigation plan in order to ensure 

that the subject lands return to their original state if the Solar Farm is 
decommissioned; and 

 
c) Require approval from the Alberta Utilities Commission (AUC) and any other 

provincial or federal agency or utility company prior to the operation of any grid-
connected Solar Farm. 
 

8.41 Swimming Pools and Hot Tubs 
 
8.41.1 Private outdoor above and below-ground swimming pools and hot tubs shall conform 

to the following requirements, as outlined in Figure 22: 
 
a) Pools and hot tubs shall not be allowed on properties located within 20.0m (65.6ft) 

from the top or bottom of the escarpment bank or from any steep slope where the 
grade exceeds fifteen percent (15%); 

 
b) The entire area of the pool or hot tub shall be protected by a fence, building, wall, 

or enclosure that can prevent access by unauthorized persons, and the height of 
the fence above the outside ground level shall be not less than 1.8m (5.9ft); 

 
c) Openings for access through the fence or enclosure around a pool or hot tub shall 

be protected by a gate that is: 
 

i. The same height as the fence or enclosure; 
 
ii. Equipped with a self-closing device; and 
 
iii. Equipped with a self-latching device on the inside of the gate located not less 

than 1.5m (4.9ft) above the ground level; 
 

d) Shall not be located within any required front yard. 

 
Figure 22. Swimming Pools 
 

125



 

88 

8.41.2 All above-ground, pre-manufactured swimming pools with a water volume more than 
6.12m³ (216.12ft³) shall require a development permit. 

 
8.42 Tarp Shelters 
 
8.42.1 A tarp shelter shall not be permitted in districts that do not explicitly allow tarp shelters. 

 
8.42.2 A tarp shelter shall be considered a temporary Accessory Building structure for cold 

storage purposes only if it is the principal use and may be considered a permanent use 
if accessory to a principal use. 
 

8.42.3 An application for a development permit for a tarp shelter shall include photos of the 
structure and specify a timeline for construction of a permanent building. 

 
8.42.4 A development permit for a temporary tarp shelter in a hamlet shall be for a one (1) 

year period with the option for annual renewal subject to fees as indicated in the 
Mackenzie County Fee Schedule Bylaw. 

 
8.42.5 A tarp shelter shall be maintained in good repair. 

 
8.43 Tiny Homes 
 
8.43.1 All additions, patios, porches, and skirting shall be of a quality and appearance 

equivalent to the Tiny Home and reflect with the standard of the neighbourhood to the 
satisfaction of the Development Authority. 
 

8.43.2 Where a Tiny Home is located on the same lot as an existing dwelling, the style and 
character of the Tiny Home shall tie into the style and character of the existing dwelling. 
 

8.43.3 A Tiny Home shall be kept in a good state of repair at all times. 
 

8.44 Topsoil Removal 
 
8.44.1 A development permit may be required for the removal or stockpile of topsoil for non- 

agricultural purposes. 
 

8.44.2 A development permit for topsoil removal shall only be granted to a property located 
within a land use district where the commercial sale of topsoil is allowed, and where 
it is shown to the satisfaction of the Development Authority that the land or adjacent 
land will not be adversely affected by the removal of the topsoil. 

 
8.44.3 An application for the removal of topsoil may be referred to the applicable Province of 

Alberta Ministry for advice. 
 

8.45 Tourist Homes 
 
8.45.1 Where listed as a permitted use or discretionary use, a Tourist Home shall be 

developed and operated in accordance with the following regulations in order to 
ensure that associated impacts do not unduly affect the amenities of other residential 

126



 

89 

properties within a building, site or neighbourhood: 
 
a) The maximum number of bedrooms in a Dwelling Unit used for a Tourist Home 

shall be four (4), with a maximum of two (2) guests per bedroom; 
 
b) Parking shall be provided in accordance with the parking requirements of Section 

10; 
 
c) A Tourist Home shall not cause nuisances to adjacent properties; 
 
d) A Development Officer may inspect a Tourist Home to ensure conformance with 

the associated development permit and this Bylaw; 
 

e) The operator of the Tourist Home shall: 
 

i. Not advertise the Tourist Home unless in possession of a valid development   
permit at the time the advertisement is placed and displayed; 
 

ii. Not display any form of on-site advertising related to the Tourist Home; and 
 

iii. Ensure that the building conforms to the Alberta Building Code. 
 
8.46 Township Road 1062 (88 Connector Road) Setback 
 
8.46.1 Minimum setback for development along the south side of Township Road 1062 (88 

Connector road) shall be 82.3m (270.0ft) to maintain the future use as a major utility 
corridor. 
 

8.47 Waste Disposal 
 

8.47.1 As stated in the Alberta Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act (AEPA) 
Section 176, no waste shall be disposed of in any location other than a Waste 
Management facility. 
 

8.47.2 For more information on appropriate waste disposal or to report illegal dumping, call 1-
800-222-6514. 

 
8.48 Waste Management  
 
8.48.1 A development in proximity to landfills and waste sites must be in accordance with the 

subdivision and development Regulation. 
 

8.48.2 As stated in the Alberta Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act (AEPA) 
Section 176, no waste shall be disposed of in any location other than a Waste 
Management facility. 

 
 
8.49 Wildland/Urban Interface Development– Remote Areas 
 
8.49.1 When, in the opinion of the Development Authority, a proposed development   

127



 

90 

would be located in an area which may be a significant wildfire hazard area, or too 
remote for existing municipal services to be effective in an emergency, the 
Development Authority shall consider the following as a condition(s) to the issuance 
of a development permit for new development: 
 
a) The suitability of the site for the proposed use; 

 
b) Measures which can be taken to reduce fire hazard may include (as shown in 

Figure 23), at the discretion of the Development Authority, but not limited to: 
 

i. A 10.0m (32.8ft) minimum radius around all structural developments on the 
site which should be free of all trees, shrubs and fine fuels; 
 

ii. A reduced fuel zone radius of 20.0m (65.6ft) minimum from (i) above in which 
flammable trees are thinned, all dead & down and dead standing material is 
removed, all branches, living, or dead, on residual coniferous trees shall be 
removed to a height of 2.0m (6.6ft) above ground level; 
 

iii. The installation of spark arresters on all fire-places and chimneys; 
 
iv. Access standards shall meet FireSmart recommended guidelines and may 

include the provision of an emergency access; 
 

v. Roofs to be constructed of non-combustible or combustion retardant 
materials meeting a minimum ULC Class C rating; 
 

vi. The provision of an adequate on /off-site water supply and equipment for 
firefighting purposes such as fire extinguishers. A recommended water supply 
for residential developments is a minimum of 49.5 gallons (225.0L); and 
 

vii. All above-ground propane and overhead fuel storage tanks, greater than 
100.0 gallons (454.6L), shall have a minimum of 3.0m (9.8ft) non-combustible 
clearance from wildland fuels. 

128



 

91 

 
Figure 23. Fire Hazard Reduction 

 
8.49.2 When, in the opinion of the Development Authority, a proposed development   

would be located in an area which may be susceptible to wildfires from on-site or 
adjacent forested areas, the Development Authority may consult with Alberta 
Wildfire Management on FireSmart recommendations prior to the issuance of a 
development permit. 
 

8.50 Wind Farms 
 

8.50.1 Wind Farms shall not be permitted anywhere in Mackenzie County. 
 

8.51 Zoning Overlay for NW 29-106-15-W5M 
 
8.51.1 For residents living on NW 29-106-15-W5M Shop – Farm is considered a permitted 

use. 
 
8.51.2 In which livestock is allowed, the following shall apply: 
 

a) Livestock shall be limited to no more than one (1) animal unit per 0.40 ha (1 acre) 
or part thereof, to a maximum of ten (10) animal units as defined in the following 
table: 
 
Type of Livestock Number of Animals Equivalent to One 

Animal Unit 
Cow (Plus calf under 6 months) 1 
Horses and Other Equine Animals 1 
Sheep/Goats 2 
Pigs 2 
Fowl 12 

129



 

92 

 
b) Livestock consisting of up to three (3) hens shall be exempt from contributing to an 

animal unit count. 
 
c) Adequate fencing and/or buffering shall be constructed to the satisfaction of the 

Development Authority to ensure the on-site confinement of livestock and to 
reduce the impact of noise, odour or visual presence on surrounding properties. 

 
d) Adequate measures, if required by Alberta Agriculture, Food and Rural 

development and/or the local Health Authority, for the disposal of animal wastes 
shall be provided to the satisfaction of the Development Authority. 

 
8.52 Zoning Overlay for Footner Lake 

 
8.52.1 There shall be no development permitted within 100 m (328.1 ft.) of Footner Lake for 

the environmental protection of the lake. 
 

8.53 Zoning Overlay for Fort Vermilion Floodplain 
 

8.53.1 Within the hamlet of Fort Vermilion, no new development shall be permitted within the 
flood fringe and floodway as identified by Figure 24. 

 
8.53.2 Any existing development in the Fort Vermilion flood fringe and floodway must 

comply with the Alberta Building Code, and property shall be maintained in good 
repair.  

 
8.53.3 No development other than Shipping Containers for storage purposes only, 

development existing at the date of passage of this bylaw and open space is allowed 
within the Fort Vermilion flood fringe and floodway as identified by Figure 24. 
 

8.53.4 Maintenance and repair of existing development may occur within the Fort Vermilion 
flood fringe and floodway. If destroyed by fire, existing development at the date of 
passage of this bylaw may be replaced on the same building footprint.  

 
8.53.5 Outdoor recreational uses and parks shall be permitted in the area identified as flood 

fringe and floodway in Figure 24. 
 

130



 

93 

 
Figure 24. Fort Vermilion Floodway and Flood Fringe 
 
8.54 Zoning Overlay for Fort Vermilion Land Uses 
 
8.54.1 Within the hamlet of Fort Vermilion, additional uses may be permitted or 

discretionary if identified within the Fort Vermilion Use Overlay in a land use district. 
 
8.55 Zoning Overlay for the Fort Vermilion (Wop May Memorial) Airport 

Vicinity, the La Crete (Jake Fehr Memorial) Airport Vicinity, and the High 
Level Airport Vicinity 

 
8.55.1 This Overlay applies to those lands in the vicinity of the Fort Vermilion (Wop May 

Memorial) Airport, the La Crete (Jake Fehr Memorial) Airport, and the High Level 
Airport, as shown in Figures 25 through 27. 

131



 

94 

 
 Figure 25. Fort Vermilion (Wop May Memorial) Airport Vicinity 
 
 

 
Figure 26. La Crete (Jake Fehr Memorial) Airport Vicinity 

132



 

95 

 

 
Figure 27. High Level Airport Vicinity 
 

 
8.55.2 Those permitted and discretionary uses outlined in the specific land use district 

apply to the subject lands. However, if those land uses create conflicts such that they 
may attract birds, create electrical disturbances, create dust or smoke, or are in any 
other way deemed to be incompatible with the safe operations of the subject airport, 
they may be refused. 
 

8.55.3 Notwithstanding subsection 4.3 of this Bylaw, no development may take place unless 
a development permit has been issued, with exception of the following:  

 
a) The carrying out of works of maintenance or repair to any existing building if those 

works do not include structural alterations or major works of renovation;  
 

b) A building referred to in this subsection that is used for the purposes for which 
construction was commenced;  

 
c) The erection or construction of gates, fences, walls, or other means of enclosure 

less than 1.8 metres (6 feet) in height;  
 

d) A temporary building, the sole purpose of which is incidental to the erection of a 
building for which a permit has been issued under the provisions of this Bylaw; 

133



 

96 

and 
 

e) The maintenance and repair of public works, services, and utilities carried out or on 
behalf of federal, provincial, or municipal public authorities and land, which is 
publicly owned or controlled.  

 
8.55.4 Approval of a development shall be at the discretion of the Development Authority. 

The impact of the proposed development on the operations of the airport, and the 
impact of the airport operations on the proposed development shall be the primary 
consideration of the Development Authority.  
 

8.55.5 The Development Authority shall review all development permit applications for 
their potential to attract birds or create dust, smoke, or electronic interference with 
aviation related installations and determine if the impacts are significant and should 
preclude the approval of the development.  

 
8.55.6 In addition to subection 4.12 of this Bylaw, the Development Authority may provide 

additional conditions of approval to any development permit for any location within 
the airport vicinity, including but not limited to;  

 
a) The maximum height for any object, structure, or natural object shall be in 

accordance with the most current Airport Vicinity Protection Area (AVPA) Bylaw; 
 

b) That a caveat be registered on title with respect to maintaining tree heights at an 
acceptable level;  
 

c) Any other conditions which are similarly designed to ensure nothing on the land 
interferes with airport safety or operations.  

 
8.55.7 The Development Authority reserves the right to refuse any development which 

may be particularly sensitive to noise. 
 

134



 

97 

9 Landscaping, Screening and Sound Barriers 
 

9.1 Landscaping and Screening 
 
9.1.1 Native vegetation found on a site shall be maintained where possible to the 

satisfaction of the Development Authority. 
 

9.1.2 Any area required to be landscaped may, at the discretion of the Development   
Authority, be loamed and planted with grass, trees, shrubs, and/or flowers, or similar 
materials or a combination thereof, which will enhance the appearance of the site and 
complement the development on the site. 

 
9.1.3 Rural industrial subdivisions and residential subdivisions may require screening 

and/or vegetated buffer strip around the outside perimeter of the subdivision at the 
discretion of the Development Authority. 

  
9.1.4 A 20.0m (65.6ft) landscaping buffer shall be required for all development adjacent to 

Highway 88, Highway 697, Highway 35 and Highway 58.  
 

9.1.5 The Development Authority may require any discretionary use to be screened from 
view with a vegetated buffer strip and/or other screening of a visually pleasing nature, 
satisfactory to the Development Authority. 

 
9.1.6 Low Impact Development  (LID) features should be incorporated into commercial 

developments. Examples of LID are; landscape conservation, green roofs, rain 
gardens and rain barrels. 

 
9.1.7 Trees and shrubs shall be setback at least 1.5m (5.0ft) from the side and rear property 

lines to avoid overgrowth and leaf shed into neighbouring properties. No setback is 
required for the front property line. Owners of the trees and shrubs are responsible for 
their upkeep and maintenance, and to ensure they do not negatively impact 
neighbouring properties. 

 
9.1.8 Screening materials shall be satisfactory to the Development Authority and may 

consist of landscaping, trees, berms, hedges, opaque fencing, decorative walls, 
architectural features, similar techniques or any combination thereof. 

 
9.1.9 Where landscaped strips are required they shall be a minimum of 3.1m (10.2ft) in 

width and consist of a combination of grass, shrubs, and trees or as directed by the 
Development Authority. Decorative paving materials may be used instead of 
landscaping at the discretion of the Development Authority. 

 
9.1.10 Screening techniques and/or sound barriers may be used where a: 
 

a) Commercial or industrial use abuts a residential land use district; 
 

b) Dwelling – Row abuts a residential land use district where development is 
limited to Dwelling – Single Detached or Dwelling – Duplex. 

 

135



 

98 

9.1.11 The Development Authority may require additional setbacks as a means of minimizing 
conflicts between conflicting land uses, including but not limited to, incompatible uses 
that abut a railway line. 
 

9.1.12 The Development Authority may prescribe or approve screening for uses which 
involve the outdoor storage of goods, machinery, vehicles, building materials, waste 
materials or other similar uses. 
 

9.2 Sound Barrier 
 

9.2.1 Sound barriers may be required where truck parking areas abut a residential use or 
land use district. 

 

136



 

99 

10 Parking 
 

10.1 General Parking Requirements 
 
10.1.1 The following requirements shall apply to all parking facilities required by this Bylaw. 

Notwithstanding the requirements of this part, specific rules contained in any land use 
district shall govern the parking and loading requirements for that land use district. 

 
10.1.2 Where barrier free parking stalls are provided, such stalls shall be marked by signs on 

posts or on the wall of the building in a manner that they remain visible year-round. 
Signage shall also be painted onto the parking lot surface. 

 
10.1.3 Where the parking lot is designed with specific entry and exit, signage shall be placed 

on posts clearly marking the entry and exit. Such signs shall be placed in accordance 
with standard Signs requirements and to the satisfaction of the Development   
Authority. 

 
10.1.4 Unless otherwise allowed by the Development Authority, the minimum dimensions 

for the design of parking facilities shall be as set out in Table 1 and illustrated in Figure 
28. 

 
Table 1. Parking Dimensions 
A B C D E 
Stall Width Parking Angle 

(Degrees) 
Aisle Width Stall Depth 

Perpendicular 
to Aisle 

Parking Unit 
Depth 

7.0m (23.0ft) 0° Parallel One Way: 
3.5m 
(11.5ft) 
 
Two Way: 
7.0m (23.0ft) 

2.9m (9.5ft) One Way: 
6.4m 
(21.0ft) 
 
Two Way: 
12.8m (42.0ft) 

3.1m (10.2ft) 45° 4.0m (13.1ft) 6.1m (20.0ft) 16.0m (52.5ft) 
3.1m (10.2ft) 60° 5.5m (18.0ft) 6.4m (21.0ft) 18.3m (60.0ft) 
3.1m (10.2ft) 90° 7.3m (24.0ft) 5.8m (19.0ft) 18.9m (62.0ft) 

 

137



 

100 

Figure 28. Parking Diagram 

 
10.2 Minimum Parking Stall Requirements 

 
10.2.1 Unless otherwise specified by the Development Authority, the parking standards 

outlined in Table B – Minimum Parking Standards shall apply to all land use districts. 
 
10.2.2 All commercial and/or industrial uses shall provide one (1) parking stall per full-time 

employee and one (1) parking stall per two (2) part-time employees unless otherwise 
specified in Table 2. 

 
Table 2. Minimum Parking Standards 
Use Minimum Parking 

Requirements 
AIRPORT 1 stall per 162.6m2 (1,750.2ft2) of gross floor 

area plus 1 parking stall per full-time employee 
and 1 parking stall per 2 part-time employees. 

Any Other Use 1 space per 37.2m2 (400.0ft2) of gross floor 
area 

AUCTION FACILITY Indoor: 1 stall per 45.0m2 (484.4ft2) of gross 
floor area  
 
Outdoor: 30 parking stalls per acre of the 
ground area used for auction sales 

AUTOMOTIVE & EQUIPMENT 
REPAIR, MINOR and 
AUTOMOTIVE & EQUIPMENT 
REPAIR, MAJOR and 
AUTOMOTIVE SALES AND 
RENTAL 

1 stall per 45.0m2 (484.4ft2) of gross floor 
area 

BED AND BREAKFAST 
BUSINESS 

1 stall per vehicle owned, plus 1 stall for each 
guest room 

DWELLING – APARTMENT 1 stall per 1 bedroom unit; 1.5 stalls per 2 
bedroom unit; 2 stalls per 3 bedroom unit; 1 
stall per 3 Dwelling Units for visitors 

DWELLING – DUPLEX 2 stalls per Dwelling Unit plus 1 stall for visitor 
parking 

DWELLING – ROW 2 stalls per Dwelling Unit plus 1 stall per 3 

138



 

101 

Dwelling Units for visitor parking 

DWELLING – SINGLE 
DETACHED 

2 stalls per Dwelling Unit 

EDUCATION FACILITY – 
Elementary and Junior High 

1 stall per 20 students based on the projected 
design capacity 

EDUCATION FACILITY – 
Senior High 

4 stalls per 20 students based on the projected 
design capacity 

HEALTH SERVICE 1 stall per 30.0m2 (323.0ft2) of gross floor 
area 

HOSPITAL 1 stall per 4 patients or resident beds plus, 1.5 
stalls per employee required during the 
maximum work shift 

HOTEL/MOTEL and INDUSTRIAL 
CAMP 

1 stall per guest room, plus additional stalls in 
accordance with the parking requirement of this 
section for any other use that forms part of the 
Hotel/Motel/ Industrial Camp 

MANUFACTURED HOME 
COMMUNITY 

2 stalls per lot plus 1 stall per 5 lot for visitor 
parking 

PERSONAL SERVICE 
ESTABLISHMENT 

1 stall per 30.0m2 (323.0ft2) of gross floor 
area 

PLACE OF WORSHIP 1 stall per 4 seating spaces 

PROFESSIONAL, FINANCIAL, 
OFFICE AND BUSINESS 
SERVICE 

1 stall per 45.0m2 (484.4ft2) of gross floor 
area 

RECREATIONAL FACILITY – 
THEATRE AND CINEMA 

1 stall per 30.0m2 (323.0ft2) of gross floor 
area or as required by the Development   
Authority 

RESIDENTIAL SALES CENTRE 1 stall per 100.0m2 (1076.9ft2) of floor area of 
the Residential Sales Centre 

 

RESTAURANT 1 stall per 3 seats 

RETAIL  1 stall per 30.0m2 (323.0ft2) of gross floor 
area 

 
10.2.3 All multi-residential development including Dwelling – Duplex shall require dedicated 

139



 

102 

parking to be paved. 
 

10.2.4 All minimum parking standards may be subject to revision at the discretion of the 
Development Authority on a “case by case basis”. 

 

140



 

103 

11 Signs 
 

11.1 General Requirements for Signs 
 
11.1.1 All Signs shall be considered a discretionary use in all land use districts. 

 
11.1.2 No Signs of advertising, directional or information nature that is attached to the ground 

or to any exterior surface of a building or structure shall be installed unless the 
Development Authority has approved a development application for this purpose 
and the business has a current business license. 

 
11.1.3 All Signs shall be kept in a safe, clean, and tidy condition, and may be required to be 

renovated or removed if not properly maintained. 
 
11.1.4 A Sign height must not exceed the maximum building height allowed in the land use 

district or the height of the principal building on the subject property. 
 
11.1.5 A Sign shall not; 

 
a) Obstruct the orderly and safe flow of vehicular or pedestrian traffic; 
 
b) Break sight triangle regulations within subsection 8.39 of this Bylaw; 
 
c) Unduly interfere with the amenities of the land use district and/or road/highway 

corridor in which they are located and/or adjacent to;  
 

d) Affect the use, character, enjoyment or materially interfere with the value of 
neighbouring properties; and  

 
e) Contain poor visuals or aesthetics. 
 

11.1.6 In considering of a development permit application for Signs, billboards, or 
advertising material, the Development Authority may consider such factors as: 

 
a) Location of the proposed signage; 
 
b) Distance from a roadway; 
 
c) Size; 
 
d) Height; 
 
e) Method of illumination;  

 
f) Quality, aesthetic character and finishing of Sign construction; and 
 
g) Such other considerations as the Development Authority may deem to be 

relevant. 
 

141



 

104 

11.1.7 A Signs in rural areas shall be located a minimum of: 
 

a) 200m (656.2ft) from regulatory Signs; 
 

b) 3.1m (10.2ft) from the outer edge of the road or not less than 1.5m (4.9ft) from the 
property line if on private property; and 
 

c) 1.5m (5.0ft) to a maximum of 2.5m (8.2ft) in height above the shoulder of the road. 
 

11.1.8 A Sign in a hamlet shall be located a minimum of: 
 
a) 20.0m (66.0ft) from a regulatory Sign; 

 
b) 1.5m (5.0ft) from the curb / sidewalk; and 

 
c) 2.0m (6.6ft) above the curb / sidewalk. 

 
11.2 Illuminated or Electronic Message Signs 

 
11.2.1 Illuminated or electronic message Signs shall: 
 

a) Not be allowed within residential districts; 
 
b) Have the ability to be dimmed to a level of satisfaction determined by the 

Development Authority; 
 

c) Not create hazards for pedestrians or motorists; 
 
d) Shall not have a light level exceeding 300 nits between the time of sunset and 

sunrise, nor 5,000 nits at other times; or 
 

e) Not display an intermittent flashing, rotating or moving light. 
 

11.2.2 Flashing, animated or interior illuminated Signs shall not be permitted in 
developments where they might, in the opinion of the Development Authority, affect 
residents in adjacent housing or residential areas; or interfere with the interpretation of 
traffic Signs or controls, or vehicular safety. 

 
11.2.3 No Signs shall be illuminated unless the source of light is suitably shielded and must 

not pose a safety hazard to an adjacent site or road. 
 
11.2.4 Wiring and conduits for electrified Signs must be concealed from view. 
 
11.3 Billboards 

 
11.3.1 Billboards are approved at the discretion of Council.  

 
11.3.2 With the application for a development permit for a billboard, the Development 

Officer may require additional details including, but not limited to:  
 

142



 

105 

a) safety matters related to vehicular traffic and sightlines; and 
 
b) positioning of billboard Signs in high traffic areas at the entrance of a hamlet. 

 
11.4 Temporary Signs 
 
11.4.1 Temporary Signs that are not attached to the ground, a building, or structure, and 

are portable, such as A-board Signs, construction site identification Signs, 
changeable copy portable Signs, election candidate Signs, temporary community 
event Signs and real estate Signs, do not require development permits but must 
contact the Municipal office and conform to the requirements of this Bylaw. 

 
11.4.2 Temporary Signs for events such as election candidate Signs and community event 

Signs shall be removed within three (3) days after conclusion of the event. 
 

11.5 Sign Removal 
 
11.5.1 Where the Development Authority finds a Sign that contravenes the provisions of 

this Bylaw, is abandoned, or in bad repair, they may by notice in writing, served 
personally or by registered mail, order the registered owner, person in possession of 
the land or building, or the person responsible for the Sign to: 
 
a) Remove the Sign within ten (10) days after receipt of the notice; 
 
b) Take such measures as are specified in the notice to alter the Sign so it complies 

with the provisions of this Bylaw; or 
 
c) Take such measures as are specified in the notice to refurbish or alter the Sign. 

 
11.5.2 For temporary Signs, the Development Authority or Enforcement Officer may 

remove Signs that do not conform to this Bylaw, is abandoned, or in bad repair. All 
costs associated with the removal of the Sign may be charged back to the owner of the 
Sign with a minimum charge of $50.00. 

 

 

 

 

 

143



 

106 

12 Land Use Districts 
 

12.1 Agricultural 1 (A1) 
 
12.1.1 Purpose: To provide for intact quarter sections of agricultural lands, which may 

include up to two subdivisions in an Agricultural land use district, to ensure a wide 
range of agricultural uses. 

 
12.1.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 
 

 
An Apiary shall be considered a discretionary use in this land use district if it is 
within: 

 
a) 150.0m (492.0ft) of a school or other public meeting place; or 

 

Permitted Discretionary 
Accessory Building Abattoir 
Agriculture Agricultural Supply Depot 
Apiary Auction Facility 
Automotive Equipment and Vehicle 
Services, Minor 

Automotive Equipment and Vehicle 
Services, Major 

Bed and Breakfast Barndominium 
Bunkhouse Breweries and Distilleries 
Cabin Cemetery 
Contractor Services without Outdoor 
Storage Communication Tower 

Dugout Confined Feeding Operation 
Dwelling – Single Detached Contractor Services with Outdoor Storage 
Dwelling – Single Detached – Tiny Home Day Care Facility 
Dwelling Unit Day Care Home 
Garden Suite Enviro-Tank 
Government Service Industrial Camp 
Home Based Business Medium Industrial Use, General 
Home Based Business Minor Intensive Recreational Use 
Manufactured Home – Mobile Kennel 
Manufactured Home – Modular Natural Resource Extraction 
Private Garage Pressure Vessel Storage 
Public Utility Residential Sales Centre 
Secondary Suite Rifle/Skeet Range 
Shipping Container Salvage Yard 
Shop – Commercial Signs 
Shop – Farm Solar Farm 
Shop – Personal Veterinary Clinic 
Tarp Shelter Waste Management 
Tourist Home Waste Transfer Station 
Yard Site Development Woodlot Management 

144



 

107 

b) 30.0m (98.5ft) of or within a multi-parcel residential, commercial or industrial 
subdivision. 

 
Breweries and Distilleries shall be considered a discretionary use in this land use 
district if the use is located north of the Township Road 1082 alignment across the 
County. 

 
12.1.3 Development Regulations 
 
12.1.3.1 Within the Agricultural 1 (A1) district a quarter section may be subdivided once to allow 

for: 
 
a) Two parcels of land, where one parcel must have a minimum area of 8.1 hectares 

(20.0 acres) up to a maximum area of 32.4 hectares (80.0 acres); or 
 

b) Three parcels of land, where one parcel is the balance of the quarter section and 
the other two parcels are any two of the following: 
i. Existing dwelling; 
ii. Vacant lot for a new dwelling; or  
iii. Fragmented parcel. 

 
c) A new parcel for a residential use shall have a parcel area as follows: 

i. Minimum of 1.2ha (3.0 acres); 
ii. Maximum of 4.1ha (10.0 acres); or 
iii. A larger parcel size no more than 8.1 hectares (20.0 acres) unless required 

due to yard site separation, or the subject site is a fragmented parcel that in 
the opinion of the Development Authority is difficult to farm. 

 
12.1.3.2 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front  41.2m (135.2ft) from road right-of-way 

70.1m (230.0ft) from centre line of provincial highway 
Or a greater distance as specified by Alberta 
Transportation from road right-of-way 

 
Yard – Interior Side 15.2m (50.0ft)  
 
Yard – Exterior Side 41.2m (135.2ft) from road right-of-way 

70.1m (230.0ft) from centre line of provincial highway 
Or a greater distance as specified by Alberta 
Transportation 

 
Yard – Rear   15.2m (50.0ft)  

 
12.1.3.3 Subdivision of new panhandle/flag lots shall only occur at the discretion of Municipal 

Planning Commission. 
 

12.1.3.4 A development permit is required for earthworks prior to preparing a site for a 
residence prior to the installation of power, phone, private sewer system, water supply 
and landscaping.  

 

145



 

108 

12.1.3.5 A tarp shelter may be located within this land use district subject to the discretion of 
the Development Authority. 

 
12.1.3.6 A Barndominium must be located on a lot with another dwelling. 

 

146



 

109 

12.2 Agricultural 2 (A2) 
 
12.2.1 Purpose: To provide for small scale, agricultural uses. 

 
12.2.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 

 
12.2.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.2.3.1 Minimum Setbacks 

Yard – Front 41.2m (135.2ft) from road right-of-way 
70.1m (230.0ft) from centre line of provincial highway 
Or a greater distance as specified by Alberta Transportation 
15.2m (50.0ft) from internal subdivision road 
 

Yard – Interior Side 7.6m (25.0ft) 
 
Yard – Exterior Side 15.2m (50.0ft) on a corner lot or a site abutting an Agricultural 

or Forestry district 
 
Yard – Rear 15.2m (50.0ft) on a corner lot or a site abutting an Agricultural 

or Forestry district 
7.6m (25.0ft)  

12.2.3.2 Lot Area 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Barndominium 
Agriculture Kennel 
Apiary Shop – Commercial 
Bed and Breakfast Signs 
Bunkhouse  
Cabin  
Dwelling – Single Detached  
Dwelling – Single Detached – Tiny Home  
Dwelling Unit  
Garden Suite  
Home Based Business Medium  
Home Based Business Minor  
Manufactured Home – Mobile  
Manufactured Home – Modular  
Public Utility  
Secondary Suite  
Shipping Container  
Shop – Farm  
Shop – Personal  
Tarp Shelter  
Tourist Home  
Yard Site Development  

147



 

110 

a) The minimum lot area is 4.0ha (10ac). 
 

b) The maximum lot area is 12.0ha (30ac). 
 

12.2.3.3 Principal Building Requirement 
 
The minimum principal building size is 140m2 (1500ft2). 
 

12.2.3.4 A Shop – Personal and a Shop – Commercial shall have a maximum building: 
 
a) Area of 223.0m2 (2400.0ft2); and 

 
b) Height of 6.1m (20.0ft) 

 
12.2.3.5 A development permit is required for earthworks prior to preparing a site for a 

residence and prior to the installation of power, phone, private sewer system, water 
supply and landscaping. 
 

12.2.3.6 Accessory Buildings 
 

a) The maximum height shall be 8.0m (26.0ft) except for an agricultural structure such 
as a silo or grain bin, or where restricted by the Airport Vicinity Protection Overlay.  
 

b) The minimum setback from a rear lot line shall be 10.0m (32.0ft).  
 

c) The maximum ground floor area of a single accessory building shall not exceed 
425.0m² (4575.0ft2). The Development Authority may consider an additional 
ground floor area of 100.0m2 (1076.4ft2) where the building is accessory to a 
proposed agriculture use.  
 

d) The maximum combined ground floor area of all accessory buildings on a lot shall 
not exceed 600.0m² (6458.4ft2).  

 
12.2.3.7 In order to ensure a firm commitment for development has been received, rezoning 

applications shall provide the following: 
 
a) A minimum of 5 parcels per rezoning application. Where the lands contain proven 

water body/wetlands and/or topographical challenges that prevent the minimum of 
five (5) lots from being created, the minimum number of lots may be decreased; 

 
b) The subdivision must have legal access that meets County standards; and 
 
c) Where the existing municipal road is not up to the standard required for the parcel, 

a road request or upgrade must be part of the subdivision application. 
 

12.2.3.8 A Barndominium must be located on a lot with another dwelling. 

148



 

111 

12.3 Forestry (F) 
 
12.3.1 Purpose: To provide for forestry related development within the County’s Green 

Area. 
 
12.3.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Campground 
Cabin Community Pasture 
Communication Tower Emergency Services Facility 
Dugout Extensive Recreational Use 
Dwelling – Single Detached – Tiny Home Natural Resource Extraction 
Forest Based Industry Recreational Service, Outdoor 
Government Service Rifle/Skeet Range 
Industrial Camp Solar Farm 
Industrial Use, General  
Industrial Use, Heavy  
Public Utility  
Shipping Container  
Tarp Shelter  
Woodlot Management  

 

12.3.3 Development Regulations 
 

12.3.3.1 Minimum Setbacks 
 
Yard – Front 41.2m (135.2ft) from road right-of-way 

70.1m (230.0ft) from centre line of provincial highway 
Or a greater distance as specified by Alberta Transportation 

 
Yard – Interior Side 15.2m (50.0ft)  
 
Yard – Exterior Side 15.2m (50.0ft) 
 
Yard – Rear 15.2m (50.0ft)  

 
12.3.3.2 A development permit may be issued for development on Crown land subject to 

approval being obtained from the appropriate provincial ministry. 
 

 

 

149



 

112 

12.4 Country Residential (CR)(CRm) 
 
12.4.1 Purpose:  (1) To provide for the development of multi-lot country residences with 

single-detached dwellings. 
 

(2) Parcels designated CRm may accommodate Manufactured Homes in 
addition to Dwelling – Single Detached. 

 
12.4.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 
Accessory Building Barndominium 
Dwelling – Single Detached Bed and Breakfast Business 
Home Based Business Minor Day Care Facility 
Livestock Day Care Home 
Private Garage Dwelling – Single Detached – Tiny Home 
Public Utility Garden Suite 
Shop – Personal  Home Based Business Medium 
Tourist Home Residential Sales Centre 
Yard Site Development Secondary Suite 
 Signs 
Parcels designated CRm have the 
following additional Permitted Uses 

 

Manufactured Home – Mobile   
Manufactured Home – Modular   

 

12.4.3 Development Regulations 
 

12.4.3.1 Minimum Setbacks 
 
Yard – Front 41.2m (135.2ft) from road right-of-way 

70.1m (230.0ft) from centre line of provincial highway 
Or a greater distance as specified by Alberta Transportation 
15.2m (50.0ft) from internal subdivision road 
 

Yard – Interior Side 7.6m (25.0ft) 
 
Yard – Exterior Side 15.2m (50.0ft) on a corner lot or a site abutting an Agricultural 

or Forestry district 
 
Yard – Rear 15.2m (50.0ft) on a corner lot or a site abutting an Agricultural 

or Forestry district 
7.6m (25.0ft)  
 

12.4.3.2 Lot Area 
 
a) The minimum lot area is 1.2ha (3.0ac). 

 

150



 

113 

b) The maximum lot area is 2.0ha (5.0ac). 
 
12.4.3.3 A Shop – Personal and a Shop – Commercial shall have a maximum building: 

 
a) Area of 223.0m2 (2400.0ft2); and 

 
b) Height of 6.1m (20.0ft) 

 
12.4.3.4 A development permit is required for earthworks prior to preparing a site for a 

residence and prior to the installation of power, phone, private sewer system, water 
supply and landscaping. 
 
 

 

 

151



 

114 

12.5 Country Residential 2(CR2)(CR2m) 
 

12.5.1 Purpose:  (1) To provide for the development of multi-lot  country residences with  
 single-detached dwellings adjacent to hamlet Boundaries. 
 

(2) Parcels designated CR2m may accommodate Manufactured Homes 
in addition to Dwelling – Single Detached. 

 
12.5.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 
Accessory Building Barndominium 
Dwelling – Single Detached Bed and Breakfast Business 
Home Based Business Minor Day Care Facility 
Private Garage Day Care Home 
Public Utility Garden Suite 
Shop – Personal  Home Based Business Medium 
Tourist Home Residential Sales Centre 
 Secondary Suite 
 Signs 
Parcels designated CR2m have the 
following additional Permitted Uses 

 

Manufactured Home – Mobile   
Manufactured Home – Modular   

 

12.5.3 Development Regulations 
 

12.5.3.1 Minimum Setbacks 
 
Yard – Front 41.2m (135.2ft) from road right-of-way 

70.1m (230.0ft) from centre line of provincial highway 
Or a greater distance as specified by Alberta Transportation 
15.2m (50.0ft) from internal subdivision road 
 

Yard – Interior Side 4.6m (15.0ft) 
 
Yard – Exterior Side 4.6m (15.0ft)  
 
Yard – Rear 7.6m (25.0ft)  
 

12.5.3.2 Lot Area 
 
a) The minimum lot area is 0.3ha (0.8ac). 

 
b) The maximum lot area is 0.6ha (1.5ac). 

 
 

152



 

115 

 
12.5.3.3 Principal Building Requirement 

 
The minimum principal building size is 140.0m2 (1500.0ft2). 
 

12.5.3.4 A Shop – Personal and a Shop – Commercial shall have a maximum building: 
 
a) Area of 223.0m2 (2400.0ft2); and 

 
b) Height of 6.1m (20.0ft) 

 
12.5.3.5 A development permit is required for earthworks prior to preparing a site for a 

residence and prior to the installation of power, phone, private sewer system, water 
supply and landscaping. 

153



 

116 

12.6 Country Residential 3 (CR3) 
 
12.6.1 Purpose: To provide for the development of single-lot country residences with 

multiple single – detached dwellings. 
 
12.6.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Barndominium 
Dwelling – Single Detached Bed and Breakfast Business 
Home Based Business Minor Day Care Facility 
Manufactured Home – Mobile Day Care Home 
Manufactured Home – Modular Garden Suite 
Private Garage Home Based Business Medium 
Public Utility Residential Sales Centre 
Shop – Personal Secondary Suite 
Tourist Home Signs 

 

12.6.3 Lot Area 
 
a) The minimum lot area is 1.2ha (3.0ac). 

 
b) The maximum lot area is 2.0ha (5.0ac). 

 
12.6.4 A Shop – Personal and a Shop – Commercial shall have a maximum building: 

 
a) Area of 223.0m2 (2400.0ft2); and 

 
b) Height of 6.1m (20.0ft) 

 
12.6.5 A development permit is required for earthworks prior to preparing a site for a 

residence and prior to the installation of power, phone, private sewer system, water 
supply and landscaping. 

 

154



 

117 

12.7 Country Recreational (CREC) 
 
12.7.1 Purpose: To provide for the development of seasonal or permanent residential areas 

in Mackenzie County. All developments  shall conform to a relevant Area Structure 
Plan. This district is specific to developments on lands within close proximity to 
significant natural features, lakes, and recreational developments. 

 
12.7.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Signs 
Cabin  
Dwelling – Single Detached  
Dwelling – Single Detached – Tiny Home  
Park Model  
Private Garage  
Public Utility  
Tourist Home  

 
12.7.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.7.3.1 Density 

 
a) The maximum density is 1 recreational vehicles and 1 Dwelling Unit/Park 

Model; or 2 recreational vehicles per lot. 
 

b) The maximum lot coverage is 25%. 
 
12.7.3.2 Lot Requirements 

 
a) The minimum lot width is 30.5m (100.0ft). 

 
b) The minimum lot depth is 45.7m (150.0ft). 

 
12.7.3.3 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 9.1m (30.0ft)  

 
Yard – Interior Side 3.1m (10.0ft) 
 
Yard – Exterior Side 3.1m (10.0ft) 
 
Yard – Rear  3.1m (10.0ft) 

 
12.7.3.4 The density of development  (number of lots per hectare/acre) shall be in 

accordance with the provisions of the relevant Area Structure Plan. 
 
12.7.3.5 The provision of access to each lot shall be as required by the Development   

Authority and developed in accordance with County standards. 

155



 

118 

 
12.7.3.6 A minimum of two (2) parking stalls is required for each lot, there shall be no 

allowance for on-street parking. 
 
12.7.3.7 Each lot shall be landscaped as required by the Development Authority to ensure 

proper vegetation and tree coverage for appearance and drainage purposes. 
Approval shall be required by the Development Authority prior to the removal of 
trees and/or vegetation from any lot. 

 
12.7.3.8 All development on a lot shall be of a style and appearance which is compatible 

with the natural qualities of the recreation area. The character and appearance of all 
development on each recreation lot shall be maintained to minimize any adverse 
impacts which may occur on adjacent recreation lot or the recreation area in 
general. 

 
12.7.3.9 All water and sewage disposal must conform to the requirements of the relevant 

Area Structure Plan and current safety code standards. 
 

12.7.3.10 A Development Permit is required for earthworks prior to preparing a site for a 
residence and prior to the installation of power, phone, private sewer system, water 
supply and landscaping. 

156



 

119 

12.8 Country Recreational 2 (CREC2) 
 

12.8.1 Purpose: To permit the development of permanent residential areas adjacent to the 
La Crete Golf Course in Mackenzie County. All developments shall conform to a 
relevant Area Structure Plan. This district is specific to developments on lands within 
close proximity to golf courses. 
 

12.8.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Cabin 
Dwelling – Single Detached Dwelling – Duplex  
Private Garage  
Public Utility  
Yard Site Development  
 

12.8.3 Development Regulations 
 

12.8.3.1 Lot Requirements 
 

a) The minimum lot width is 30.5m (100.0ft). 
 

b) The minimum lot depth is 45.7m (150.0ft). 
 
12.8.3.2 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 9.1m (30.0ft)  

 
Yard – Interior Side 3.1m (10.0ft) 

 
Yard – Exterior Side 3.1m (10.0ft) 

 
Yard – Rear  3.1m (10.0ft) 

 
12.8.3.3 The density of development (number of lots per hectare/acre) shall be in 

accordance with the provisions of the relevant Area Structure Plan. 
 

12.8.3.4 The provision of access to each lot shall be as required by the Development 
Authority and developed in accordance with County standards. 

 
12.8.3.5 A minimum of two (2) parking stalls is required for each lot, there shall be no 

allowance for on-street parking. 
 

12.8.3.6 Each lot shall be landscaped as required by the Development Authority to ensure 
proper vegetation and tree coverage for appearance and drainage purposes. 
Approval shall be required by the Development Authority prior to the removal of 
trees and/or vegetation from any lot. 

 

157



 

120 

12.8.3.7 All development on a lot shall be of a style and appearance which is compatible 
with the natural qualities of the recreation area. The character and appearance of all 
development on each recreation lot shall be maintained to minimize any adverse 
impacts which may occur on adjacent recreation lots or the recreation area in 
general. 

 
12.8.3.8 All water and sewage disposal must conform to the requirements of the relevant 

Area Structure Plan and current safety code standards.  
 

12.8.3.9 The architecture, construction materials and appearance of buildings and other 
structures shall be to accepted standards and shall complement adjoining 
development and character of the site to the satisfaction of the Development 
Authority. 

 
12.8.3.10 The Development Authority may decide on other requirements as are necessary 

having due regard to the nature of the proposed development and the purpose of 
this land use district. 

 
12.8.3.11 Rezoning applications involving the Country Recreational 2 (CREC2) district shall 

provide requirements as outlined in Section 2.  
 

12.8.3.12 All development on these lots shall conform to the restrictive covenant registered on 
the lots.

158



 

121 

12.9 Rural Industrial Light (RIL) 
 
12.9.1 Purpose: To provide for light industrial uses, located outside of hamlets, with limited 

outside storage areas that do not cause nuisances to adjacent land uses while 
offering a high quality of site aesthetics. 

 
12.9.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Automotive Equipment and Vehicle 
Services, Major 

Agricultural Machinery Sales and Service Bulk Fertilizer Storage and/or Sales 
Agricultural Supply Depot Bulk Fuel Storage and Distribution 
Automotive Equipment and Vehicle 
Services, Minor 

Cannabis Grower 

Business Support Services Crematorium 
Commercial School, Industrial Dwelling Unit 
Contractor Services without Outdoor 
Storage 

Kennel 

Dugout Manufactured Home Sales and Service 
Equipment Rental Facility Oilfield Service 
Government Service Self-Storage 1 
Hotel/Motel Self-Storage 2 
Industrial Use, General Service Station – Major 
Manufactured Home Sales and Services Shipping Container 
Professional, Financial, Office and 
Business Service 

Signs 

Public Utility  
Service Station – Minor  
Shipping Container  
Tarp Shelter  
Veterinary Clinic  

 
12.9.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.9.3.1 Lot Size 

 
The minimum lot size is 0.8ha (2.0 acres). 
 

12.9.3.2 Floor Area 
 
The minimum floor area is 92.9m2 (1000.0 ft2). 
 

12.9.3.3 Minimum Setbacks 
 
Yard – Front 41.2m (135.2ft) from road right-of-way 

70.1m (230.0ft) from centre line of provincial highway 
Or a greater distance as specified by Alberta Transportation 
15.2m (50.0ft) from internal subdivision road 

159



 

122 

 
Yard – Interior Side 15.2m (50.0ft) 
 
Yard – Exterior Side 15.2m (50.0ft) 
 
Yard – Rear 15.2m (50.0ft) 

 
12.9.3.4 A 20.0m (65.6ft) vegetated buffer/screening strip shall be provided for all 

development adjacent to Highways 35, 88, 58 and 697. 
 
12.9.3.5 A tarp shelter may be located within this land use district. subject to the discretion of 

the Development Authority. 
 

 

160



 

123 

12.10 Rural Industrial General (RIG) 
 
12.10.1 Purpose: To provide for heavy industrial uses on large land parcels, distant from 

residential uses, that utilize extensive outdoor storage areas and on-site operations 
are considered to be a nuisance to non-industrial and residential uses. 

 
12.10.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Auction Facility 
Agricultural Machinery Sales and Service Bulk Fertilizer Storage and/or Sales 
Agricultural Supply Depot Bulk Fuel Storage and Distribution 
Automotive Equipment and Vehicle 
Services, Major 

Enviro-Tank 

Automotive Equipment and Vehicle 
Services, Minor 

Grain Elevator 

Business Support Services Industrial Use, Heavy 
Commercial School, Industrial Kennel 
Contractor Services with Outdoor Storage Natural Resource Extraction 
Contractor Services without Outdoor 
Storage 

Oilfield Service 

Crematorium Self-Storage 2 
Dugout Shipping Container 
Equipment Rental Facility Signs 
Government Service Waste Management 
Industrial Use, General Waste Transfer Station 
Manufactured Home Sales and Service  
Public Utility  
Salvage Yard  
Service Station – Major  
Tarp Shelter  

 
12.10.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.10.3.1 Lot Size 

 
The minimum lot size is 0.4ha (1.0 acres). 

 
12.10.3.2 Floor Area 

 
The minimum floor area is 92.9m2 (1000.0ft2). 

 
12.10.3.3 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 41.2m (135.2ft) from road right-of-way 

70.1m (230.0ft) from centre line of provincial highway 
Or a greater distance as specified by Alberta Transportation 
15.2m (50.0ft) from internal subdivision road 
 

161



 

124 

Yard – Interior Side 15.2m (50.0ft) 
 

Yard – Exterior Side 15.2m (50.0ft) 
 

Yard – Rear 15.2m (50.0ft) 
 

12.10.3.4 A 20.0m (65.6ft) vegetated buffer/screening strip will be required for all 
development adjacent to Highways 35, 88, 58 and 697. 

 
12.10.3.5 A tarp shelter  may be located within this land use district. subject to the discretion 

of the Development Authority. 

162



 

125 

12.11 Airport (AP) 
 
12.11.1 Purpose: To provide for development immediately associated with an Airport. 
 
12.11.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Automotive Equipment and Vehicle 
Services, Minor 

Airport Bulk Fuel Storage and Distribution 
Commercial School Bus Depot 
Enviro-Tank Communication Tower 
Public Utility Restaurant 
Tourist Information Facility Retail 
 Service Station – Minor  
 Signs 

 
12.11.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.11.3.1 Lot Area 

 
The minimum and maximum lot area is at the discretion of the Development   
Authority. 

 
12.11.3.2 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 41.2m (135.2ft) from road right-of-way 

70.1m (230.0ft) from centre line of provincial highway 
Or a greater distance as specified by Alberta Transportation 
15.2m (50.0ft) from internal subdivision road 

 
All other Yards 1.52m (5.0ft) 

 
12.11.3.3 The Development Authority may require greater setbacks than the minimum as 

decided on a case-by-case basis. 
 

12.11.3.4 The maximum height for any use and development including all appurtenances and 
temporary construction equipment shall not penetrate the Approach/Departure 
Areas for each runway as established by each airport vicinity plan. 

 
12.11.3.5 Uses and developments on airport property must comply with all other authorities, 

either federal, provincial or municipal, each jurisdictions Airport Vicinity Protection 
Area. 

 
12.11.3.6 Uses, which would cause excessive discharge of toxic, noxious or other particulate 

matter into the atmosphere; radiation or interference by the use of electric or 
electronic equipment; fire and explosive hazards; lighting, and accumulation of any 
material or waste edible by, or attractive to birds, shall not be approved; 

 

163



 

126 

12.11.3.7 Approval of development shall be at the discretion of the Development Authority. 
The impact of the proposed development on the operations of the airport, and the 
impact of the airport operations on the proposed development shall be the primary 
considerations of the Development Authority. 

 
12.11.3.8 The County and the Town acknowledge the Inter-municipal Planning Commission is 

the Subdivision Authority and Development Authority for the Intermunicipal 
Development Plan Area, which includes the land around the Airport. The County and 
the Town agree to protect the land around the airport from land uses and 
developments that might interfere and conflict with the operation and future 
expansion of the Airport. 

 
 

 

164



 

127 

12.12 Institutional (I) 
 
12.12.1 Purpose: To provide for a variety of public and private uses that provide medical, 

public safety, religious and cultural services/amenities to the community. 
 
12.12.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Cemetery 
Assisted Living  Exhibition Grounds 
Day Care Facility Funeral Home 
Dwelling – Single Detached – Tiny Home Signs 
Education Facility Waste Management 
Emergency Services Facility  
Exhibition Facility  
Government Service  
Health Centre  
Hospital  
Museum  
Park  
Place of Worship  
Public Utility  
Recreation Service, Indoor  
Recreation Service, Outdoor  
Tourist Information Facility  

 
12.12.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.12.3.1 Lot Area 

 
The minimum lot size and dimensions is at the discretion of the Development   
Authority. 

 
12.12.3.2 Minimum Setbacks  

 
Within hamlet boundary 
Yard – Front  7.6m (25.0ft) 

 
Yard – Exterior Side 3.0m (10.0ft) 
 
Yard – Interior Side 1.5m (5.0ft) 
 
Yard – Rear 1.5m (5.0ft) for underground utilities 

 2.4m (8.0ft) for overhead utilities 
 

Outside hamlet boundary 
Yard – Front 41.2m (135.2ft) from road right-of-way 
 70.1m (230.0ft) from centre line of provincial highway 

Or a greater distance as specified by Alberta Transportation 

165



 

128 

15.2m (50.0ft) from internal subdivision road 
 

Yard – Interior Side 15.2m (50.0ft) 
 
Yard – Exterior Side 15.2m (50.0ft) on a corner lot or a site abutting an 

Agricultural or Forestry district 
 
Yard – Rear 15.2m (50.0ft) on a corner lot or a site abutting an 

Agricultural or Forestry district 
 
 
12.12.3.3 A Place Of Worship, Education Facility, Park, Day Care Facility or other similar 

use shall not be located within 152.4m (500.0ft) of a Direct Control District. 
 
 

 

166



 

129 

12.13 Recreation 1 (REC1) 
 
12.13.1 Purpose: To provide for general recreation uses on lands consisting of various natural 

features within rural and urban areas. 
 
12.13.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Rifle/Skeet Range 
Cabin Signs 
Campground  
Exhibition Facility  
Exhibition Grounds  
Extensive Recreational Use  
Museum  
Park  
Private Club  
Public Utility  
Retail  
Recreation Service, Indoor  
Recreation Service, Outdoor  

 
12.13.3 Development Regulations 
 
12.13.3.1 Exterior finish is required to meet the specifications of the Development Authority 

giving consideration to the location and surroundings. Exterior finish may be required 
to be wood, metal, or similar siding, brick or stucco. The finish and appearance of 
buildings  should complement other structures and natural site features to the 
satisfaction of the Development Authority. 

167



 

130 

12.14 Recreation 2 (REC2) 
 
12.14.1 Purpose: To provide for general recreation uses on lands consisting of various natural 

features within rural and urban areas. 
 
12.14.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Dwelling – Unit 
Campground Private Club 
Exhibition Facility Retail 
Exhibition Grounds Rifle/Skeet Range 
Extensive Recreational Use Signs 
Museum  
Park  
Public Utility  
Recreation Service, Indoor  
Recreation Service, Outdoor  
  
Uses that require approval from the 
Alberta Gaming and Liquor Commission 
with the exception of occasional licenses 
not exceeding 72 hours. 

 

 
12.14.3 Development Regulations 
 
12.14.3.1 Exterior finish is required to meet the specifications of the Development Authority 

giving consideration to the location and surroundings. Exterior finish may be required 
to be wood, metal, or similar siding, brick or stucco. The finish and appearance of 
buildings should complement other structures and natural site features to the 
satisfaction of the Development Authority. 

 

168



 

131 

12.15 Remote Recreation (RR) 
 
12.15.1 Purpose: To provide for general recreational uses accessed through Crown land or 

water bodies. 
 
12.15.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Extensive Recreational Use 
Cabin Signs 
Park  
Public Utility  

 
12.15.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.15.3.1 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 15.2m (50.0ft) 
 
Yard – Interior Side 15.2m (50.0ft) 
 
Yard – Exterior Side 15.2m (50.0ft) 
 
Yard – Rear 15.2m (50.0ft) 

 
12.15.3.2 A development permit may be issued for development on Crown land subject to 

approval being obtained from Alberta Environment and Protected Areas Ministry 
and/or the Alberta Forestry, Parks and Tourism Ministry. 

 
12.15.3.3 For developments where the existing title or lease was historically obtained, the 

developer shall be exempted from the County’s standard access requirements. Any 
newly titled lands or parcels that are not accessible will be required to construct a 
road and access to County standard. 

 

169



 

132 

12.16 Urban Fringe (UF) 
 
12.16.1 Purpose: To protect future growth areas within and surrounding hamlets through 

allowing for low intensity agricultural uses. 
 
12.16.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Public Utility Accessory Building 
 Agriculture 
 Bed and Breakfast Business 
 Cemetery 
 Communication Tower 
 Dwelling – Single Detached 
 Dwelling – Single Detached – Tiny Home 
 Dwelling Unit 
 Garden Suite 
 Home Based Business Medium 
 Home Based Business Minor 
 Manufactured Home – Mobile  
 Manufactured Home – Modular  
 Place of Worship 
 Private Garage 
 Shop – Commercial  
 Shop – Farm 
 Shop – Personal  
 Signs 
 Veterinary Clinic 

 
12.16.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.16.3.1 Density 

 
a) The maximum density for residential uses is 2 lots including the balance per 

unsubdivided quarter section. 
 

b) The maximum density for all other uses is at the discretion of the Development   
Authority. 

 
12.16.3.2 Lot Area 

 
a) The minimum lot  area for residential uses is 1.2ha (3.0ac). 

 
b) The minimum lot  area for all other uses is at the discretion of the Development   

Authority. 
 
12.16.3.3 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 41.2m (135.2ft) from road right-of-way 

170



 

133 

70.1m (230ft) from centre line of provincial highway 
Or a greater distance as specified by Alberta Transportation 
15.2m (50.0ft) from internal subdivision road 
 

Yard – Interior Side 7.6m (25.0ft) 
 
Yard – Exterior Side Same as setback from Highway, road or undeveloped road 

allowance 
 
Yard – Rear 15.2m (50.0ft) 

 
 

171



 

134 

12.17 Direct Control 1 (DC1) 
 
12.17.1 Purpose: To allow Council to exercise specific direction and control over the use and 

development of land and buildings  in particular areas of the County. 
 
12.17.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Public Utility Accessory Building 
 Adult Entertainment Business 
 Cannabis Grower 
 Cannabis Retailer/Distributor 
 Retail – Liquor 
 Signs 
 Any other use and accessory use 

deemed necessary by Council 
 Uses that require approval from the 

Alberta Gaming and Liquor Commission, 
with the exception of occasional licenses 
not exceeding 72 hours 

 
12.17.3 Development Regulations 
 
12.17.3.1 In addition to the regulations contained in Sections 8-11, the following standards 

shall apply to every development in this land use district. 
 
12.17.3.2 Development standards will be established at the discretion of Council having 

regard to the nature of the proposed land use and may include, but is not restricted 
to, the following: lot and floor area, development setbacks, design, character and 
appearance of buildings, access and parking. 

 
12.17.3.3 When making a decision on a development permit application, Council shall take 

into account the compatibility of the proposed land use with surrounding land uses 
and the character of the community. 

 
12.17.3.4 A Direct Control District shall not be located within 152.4m (500.0ft) of a Place Of 

Worship, Education Facility, Park, Day Care Facility, or Government Service 
unless otherwise approved by Council. 

 
12.17.3.5 There shall be no appeal allowed to the Subdivision and Development Appeal 

Board on decisions made by Council on application for proposed development on 
lands zoned Direct Control District. 

 
12.17.3.6 All site requirements shall be at the discretion of Council, based upon a site plan 

which is submitted as part of a development permit application. 
 
12.17.3.7 All development shall conform to the spirit and intent of the Municipal 

Development Plan.  
 

172



 

135 

12.17.3.8 Council may refer to other sections of this Bylaw to determine requirements for 
specific types of proposed land uses on property zoned under this land use district. 

 
12.17.3.9 Council may decide on other requirements as are necessary, having regard to the 

nature of the proposed Development. 
 

12.17.3.10 Council shall approve all applications for principal uses on property zoned under this 
land use district. Development proposals for secondary or ancillary uses may be 
delegated to the Development Authority at Council’s discretion. 

 

173



 

136 

12.18 Direct Control 2 (DC2) 
 
12.18.1 Purpose: To allow Municipal Planning Commission to exercise specific direction 

and control over the use and development of land and buildings  in particular areas 
of the County. 

 
12.18.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Public Utility Any other use and accessory use 
deemed necessary by Municipal 
Planning Commission 

 
12.18.3 Development Regulations 
 
12.18.3.1 In addition to the regulations contained in Section 8-11, the following standards shall 

apply to every development in this land use district. 
 

12.18.3.2 Development standards will be established at the discretion of the Municipal 
Planning Commission having regard to the nature of the proposed land use and 
may include, but is not restricted to, the following: lot and floor area, development 
setbacks, design, character and appearance of buildings, access and parking. 

 
12.18.3.3 When making a decision on a development permit application, the Municipal 

Planning Commission shall take into account the compatibility of the proposed land 
use with surrounding land uses and the character of the community. 

 
12.18.3.4 There shall be no appeal allowed to the Subdivision and Development Appeal 

Board on decisions made by the Municipal Planning Commission on application 
for proposed development on lands zoned Direct Control District. 

 
12.18.3.5 All site requirements shall be at the discretion of the Municipal Planning 

Commission, based upon a site plan which is submitted as part of a development 
permit application. 

 
12.18.3.6 All development shall conform to the spirit and intent of the Municipal 

Development Plan. 
 

12.18.3.7 The Municipal Planning Commission may refer to other sections of this Bylaw to 
determine requirements for specific types of proposed land uses on property zoned 
under this land use district. 

 
12.18.3.8 The Municipal Planning Commission may decide on other requirements as are 

necessary, having regard to the nature of the proposed development. 
 

12.18.3.9 The Municipal Planning Commission shall approve all applications for principal 
uses on property zoned under this land use district. Development proposals for 
secondary or ancillary uses may be delegated to the Development Authority at the 
discretion of the Municipal Planning Commission. 

174



 

137 

12.19 Hamlet Country Residential (H-CR) 
 
12.19.1 Purpose: To provide for single-detached dwellings and associated uses on large 

serviced lot in the outermost areas of hamlet boundary confines. 
 
12.19.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Bed and Breakfast Business 
Dwelling – Single Detached Day Care Home 
Dwelling – Single Detached – Tiny Home Home Based Business - Minor 
Garden Suite Manufactured Home – Mobile 
Private Garage Manufactured Home – Modular 
Public Utility Residential Sales Centre 
Shop – Personal  Secondary Suite 
 Signs 
 Tourist Home 

 
12.19.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.19.3.1 Lot Requirements 

 
a) The minimum lot area is 0.6ha (1.5ac). 

 
b) The maximum lot area is 1.0ha (2.5ac). 

 
12.19.3.2 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 41.2m (135.2ft) from road right-of-way 

70.1m (230.0ft) from centre line of provincial highway 
Or a greater distance as specified by Alberta Transportation 
15.2m (50.0ft) from internal subdivision road 
 

Yard – Interior Side 4.6m (15.0ft) 
 
Yard – Exterior Side 4.6m (15.0ft) 
 
Yard – Rear 7.6m (25.0ft)  

 
 
12.19.3.3 Livestock shall be limited to no more than one (1) animal unit per 0.40 ha (1 acre) or 

part thereof, to a maximum of three (3) animal units as defined in the following table: 
 
Type of Livestock Number of Animals Equivalent to One 

Animal Unit 
Fowl 12 

 
 

175



 

138 

12.19.3.4 Within the Hamlet Country Residential (HCR) district a Shop – Personal shall have 
a maximum building:  
 
a) Area of 223.0m2 (2400.0ft2); and 

 
b) Height of 6.1m (20.0 ft). 

 

176



 

139 

12.20 Hamlet Residential 1 (H-R1) 
 
12.20.1 Purpose: To provide for single-detached dwellings, within all hamlets, through a 

variety of building styles while considering medium density residential forms permitted 
context compatibility. 

 
12.20.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Bed and Breakfast Business 
Dwelling – Single Detached Day Care Facility 
Manufactured Home – Mobile Day Care Home 
Manufactured Home – Modular Dwelling – Duplex  
Private Garage Dwelling – Group Home 
Public Utility Dwelling – Multi-unit 
Secondary Suite Dwelling – Row  
 Dwelling – Stacked Row Housing 
 Garden Suite 
 Home Based Business - Medium 
 Home Based Business - Minor 
 Residential Sales Centre 
 Signs 
 Tourist Home 

 
12.20.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.20.3.1 Lot Requirements 

 
a) The minimum lot width is 16.8m (55.0ft). 

 
b) The minimum lot depth is 33.5m (110.0ft). 

 
12.20.3.2 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 7.6m (25.0ft) 
 
Yard – Interior Side 1.5m (5.0ft) 
 
Yard – Exterior Side 3.1m (10.0ft) 
 
Yard – Rear 2.4m (8.0ft) with overhead utility servicing 

1.5m (5.0ft) with underground utility servicing 
 

12.20.3.3 A Development Permit for a Garden Suite may only be approved on a lot with a 
Dwelling – Single Detached. A maximum of one Garden Suite may be allowed on 
a lot. 

177



 

140 

12.21 Hamlet Residential 1A (H-R1A) 
 
12.21.1 Purpose: To provide for single-detached dwellings with attached garages in hamlets. 
 
12.21.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Day Care Facility 
Dwelling – Single Detached Day Care Home 
Private Garage Dwelling – Group Home 
Public Utility Garden Suite 
Secondary Suite Home Based Business - Minor 
 Residential Sales Centre 
 Signs 
 Tourist Home 

 
12.21.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.21.3.1 Lot Requirements 

 
a) The minimum lot width is 16.8m (55.0ft). 

 
b) The minimum lot depth is 30.5m (100.0ft). 

 
12.21.3.2 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 7.6m (25.0ft) required setback 
 
Yard – Interior Side 1.5m (5.0ft) 
 
Yard – Exterior Side 3.1m (10.0ft) 
 
Yard – Rear 2.4m (8.0ft) with overhead utility servicing 

1.5m (5.0ft) with underground utility servicing 
 
12.21.3.3 Principal Building Requirement 

 
The minimum principal building size is 140m2 (1500ft2). 

  
12.21.3.4 An attached Private Garage is mandatory for all dwellings in this land use district. 

The Private Garage may be required to be located on the same side as the 
adjacent properties Private Garage at the discretion of the Development 
Authority. 
 

12.21.3.5 A Development Permit for a Garden Suite may only be approved on a lot with a 
Dwelling – Single Detached. A maximum of one Garden Suite may be allowed on 
a lot. 

 
 

178



 

141 

12.22 Hamlet Residential 1B (H-R1B) 
 
12.22.1 Purpose: To provide for single-detached dwellings with attached or detached garages 

in hamlets while considering duplexes at appropriate locations. 
 
12.22.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Day Care Facility 
Dwelling – Single Detached Day Care Home 
Private Garage Dwelling – Duplex  
Public Utility Dwelling – Group Home 
Secondary Suite Garden Suite 
 Home Based Business - Minor 
 Residential Sales Centre 
 Signs 
 Tourist Home 

 
12.22.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.22.3.1 Lot Requirements 

 
a) The minimum lot width is 16.8m (55.0ft). 

 
b) The minimum lot depth is 30.5m (100.0ft). 

 
12.22.3.2 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front  7.6m (25.0ft) required setback 
 
Yard – Interior Side  1.5m (5.0ft) 
 
Yard – Exterior Side  3.1m (10.0ft) 
 
Yard – Rear  2.4m (8.0ft) with overhead utility servicing 

 1.5m (5.0ft) with underground utility servicing 
 
12.22.3.3 For those residences constructed with a Private Garage, the Private Garage may 

be required to be located on the same side as the adjacent properties Private 
Garage at the discretion of the Development Authority. 
 

12.22.3.4 A Development Permit for a Garden Suite may only be approved on a lot with a 
Dwelling – Single Detached. A maximum of one Garden Suite may be allowed on 
a lot. 
 

 
 

179



 

142 

12.23 Hamlet Residential 2 (H-R2) 
 
12.23.1 Purpose: To provide for a mix of medium and high density residential forms within 

hamlets. 
 
12.23.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Assisted Living  
Dwelling – Apartment Day Care Home 
Dwelling – Duplex Dwelling – Group Home 
Dwelling – Multi-unit Home Based Business - Minor 
Dwelling – Row Signs 
Dwelling – Stacked Row Housing Tourist Home 
Private Garage  
Public Utility  
Residential Sales Centre  
Secondary Suite  

 
12.23.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.23.3.1 Lot Requirements 

 
a) The minimum lot width is 16.8m (55.0ft). 

 
b) The minimum lot depth is 30.5m (100.0ft). 

 
12.23.3.2 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 4.5m (14.8ft) 
 
Yard – Interior Side  1.5m (5.0ft) 
 
Yard – Exterior Side 3.1m (10.0ft) 
 
Yard – Rear 2.4m (8.0ft) with overhead utility servicing 

1.5m (5.0ft) with underground utility servicing 

12.23.3.3 All development shall provide: 
 

a) Provision and access to garbage storage; 
 

b) Lighting between Dwelling Units; 
 

c) Safe pedestrian access to and from the public sidewalk fronting the building; and 
 

d) Paved parking areas adjacent to streets 

180



 

143 

12.24 Hamlet Residential 2A (H-R2A) 
 
12.24.1 Purpose: To provide for entry-level dwellings to accommodate small lots within 

hamlets. 
 
12.24.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Assisted Living  
Dwelling – Duplex Day Care Home 
Dwelling – Multi unit Dwelling – Group Home 
Dwelling – Single Detached Home Based Business - Minor 
Private Garage Signs 
Public Utility  

 
12.24.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.24.3.1 Lot Requirements 

 
Single-detached 
 
a) The minimum lot width is 12m (39.4ft). 

 
b) The minimum lot depth is 30.5m (100.0ft). 
 
Duplex 

 
a) The minimum lot width is 20.0m (65.62ft). 

 
b) The minimum lot depth is 30.5m (100.0ft). 

 
12.24.3.2 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 7.6m (25.0ft) 

4.5m (14.8ft) if entire street is Hamlet Residential 2A (H-
R2A) 
 

Yard – Interior Side 1.5m (5.0ft) 
 
Yard – Exterior Side 3.1m (10.0ft) 
 
Yard – Rear 2.4m (8.0ft) with overhead utility servicing 

 1.5m (5.0ft) with underground utility servicing 
 
12.24.3.3 All development shall provide: 
 

a) Provision and access to garbage storage; 
 

b) Lighting between Dwelling Units; 

181



 

144 

 
c) Safe pedestrian access to and from the public sidewalk fronting the building; and 

 
d) Paved parking areas adjacent to streets. 

182



 

145 

12.25 Tiny Home Community (THC) 
 
12.25.1 Purpose: To provide for a residential area on a parcel of land consisting of multiple 

stick built Dwelling – Single Detached – Tiny Homes placed on individual lots or 
individual stalls of land. 
 

12.25.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 
Accessory Building  
Dwelling – Single Detached – Tiny Home  
Private Garage  

 
12.25.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.25.3.1 Lot Requirements 

 
a) The minimum lot area is 75m2 (807.3ft2). 

 
b) The minimum lot width is 5m (16.4ft). 

 
c) The minimum lot depth is 15m (50ft). 
 

12.25.3.2 Minimum Setbacks 
The minimum setbacks are at the discretion of the Development Authority. 

 
12.25.3.3 For those residences constructed with a Private Garage, the Private Garage may 

be required to be located on the same side as the adjacent properties Private 
Garage at the discretion of the Development Authority. 
 

12.25.3.4 In order to ensure a firm commitment for development has been received, rezoning 
applications shall provide the following: 

 
a) Within a hamlet, a minimum of 10 parcels per rezoning application. Where the 

lands contain proven water body/wetlands and/or topographical challenges that 
prevent the minimum of ten (10) lots from being created, the minimum number of 
lots may be decreased; 
 

b) Outside of a hamlet, a minimum of 20ha (50ac) per rezoning application. Where 
the lands contain proven water body/wetlands and/or topographical challenges 
that prevent the minimum of 20ha (50ac) from being created, the minimum area 
may be decreased;  

 
c) The subdivision must have legal access that meets County standards; and 

 
d) Where the existing municipal road is not up to the standard required for the 

parcel, a road request or upgrade must be part of the subdivision application. 
 
 

183



 

146 

12.26 Manufactured Home Community (MHC) 
 
12.26.1 Purpose: To provide for a residential area on a parcel of land consisting of multiple 

rental Manufactured Homes placed within individual stalls of land and connected to 
common servicing. 

 
12.26.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Day Care Home 
Manufactured Home Community Private Garage 
Manufactured Home – Mobile Retail 
Public Utility Signs 

 
12.26.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.26.3.1 Lot Area 

 
The minimum site area is 2.0ha (5 acres). 

 
12.26.3.2 Density 

 
The maximum density is 20 units per hectare (8 units per acre). 

 
12.26.3.3 Lot Requirements 

 
Single Wide 

 
a) The minimum lot area is 350m2 (3,767ft2). 

 
b) The minimum lot width is 11.5m (37.7ft). 

 
c) The minimum depth is 30.5m (100.0ft). 
 
Double Wide 
 
a) The minimum lot area is 443m2 (4,768.0ft2). 

 
b) The minimum lot width is 14.5m (47.6ft). 

 
c) The minimum depth is 30.5m (100.0ft). 

 
12.26.3.4 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 4.6m (15.0ft) if abutting a public road right-of-way 

3.7m (12.0ft) if abutting an internal road or parking area 
 
Yard – Exterior Side 2.4m (8.0ft) 
 

184



 

147 

Yard – Interior Side 1.5m (5.0ft) 
 
Yard – Rear 2.4m (8.0ft) with overhead utility servicing 
 1.5m (5.0ft) with underground utility servicing 

 
12.26.3.5 No building or structure other than a fence in a Manufactured Home Community 

shall be located within 4.6m (15.0ft) from the right-of-way of any public roadway 
adjacent to the Manufactured Home Community. 

 
12.26.3.6 A common storage area of 18.6m2 (200.0ft2) per Manufactured Home site within the 

community, separate from the Manufactured Home leased sites, may be required to 
be provided at the discretion of the Municipal Planning Commission, based on lot  
sizes, for the purpose of vehicles, recreational vehicles, watercraft, and other items 
that cannot be stored on the individual Manufactured Home Community lots. 

 
12.26.3.7 A common storage area shall be enclosed or screened by trees, landscape features 

or fences or a combination thereof. 
 
12.26.3.8 No vehicle over 1 tonne rating with exception to recreational vehicles shall be 

parked on a Manufactured Home Community lot  or internal street for longer than 
is reasonably required to load or unload such vehicle. 

 
12.26.3.9 Not more than one recreation vehicle or trailer may be parked on an individual 

Manufactured Home Community lot. 
 

12.26.3.10 A minimum of ten percent (10%) of the gross Manufactured Home Community 
shall be set aside for common open space recreation area and no portion of any 
Manufactured Home Community lot shall be placed in this open space. 

 
12.26.3.11 All areas on a Manufactured Home Community not developed by walkways, 

driveways or parking aprons shall be grassed and landscaped to the satisfaction of 
the Development Authority. 

 
12.26.3.12 The perimeter of the Manufactured Home Community may require fencing or 

screening as specified in Section 8 of this Bylaw, satisfactory to the Development   
Authority. 

 

185



 

148 

12.27 Manufactured Home Subdivision (MHS) 
 
12.27.1 Purpose: To provide for the development of larger, newer Manufactured Homes on 

subdivided lots in urban areas. 
 

12.27.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Dwelling – Single Detached 
Manufactured Home – Mobile Home Based Business - Minor 
Manufactured Home – Modular Signs 
Private Garage  
Public Utility  

 
12.27.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.27.3.1 Lot Requirements 

 
a) The minimum lot width is 13.7m (45.0ft). 

 
b) The minimum depth is 33.5m (110.0ft). 

 
12.27.3.2 Dwelling Size 

 
The minimum dwelling size is 4.9m (16.0ft) wide and 18.3m (60.0ft) long. 

 
12.27.3.3 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 7.6m (25.0ft) required setback 
 
Yard – Exterior Side 3.1m (10.0ft) 
 
Yard – Interior Side 1.5m (5.0ft) 
 
Yard – Rear 2.4m (8.0ft) with overhead utility servicing 

1.5m (5.0ft) with underground utility servicing 
 
12.27.3.4 Manufactured Home placement will be restricted to the right hand side of the lot  

when facing it from the street or at the discretion of the Development Authority. 
 
12.27.3.5 All Manufactured Homes to be factory built with walls of pre-finished baked enamel 

aluminum siding, vinyl siding or the equivalent and peaked shingled roof, to the 
satisfaction of the Development Authority. 

 
12.27.3.6 If Manufactured Homes are placed upon a basement, solid footings and concrete 

or wood block foundation wall, skirting or an approved equivalent is required so that 
the appearance, design and construction will complement the manufactured home. 
The undercarriage of the Manufactured Home shall be screened from view. 

 

186



 

149 

12.28 Hamlet Town Centre (H-TC) 
 
12.28.1 Purpose: To provide for a cluster of complementary community commercial 

developments  along a main street to create an engaging pedestrian friendly public 
realm. 

 
12.28.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Bus Depot 
Business Support Services Commercial School 
Day Care Facility Funeral Home 
Dwelling – Apartment Recreation Service, Indoor 
Dwelling – Stacked Row Housing Signs 
Dwelling Unit  
Entertainment Establishment, Indoor  
Government Service  
Health Service Discretionary within Fort Vermilion 

Use Overlay 
Hotel/Motel Bars and Neighbourhood Pubs 
Museum Cannabis Retailer/Distributor 
Personal Service Establishment Retail - Liquor 
Place of Worship  
Private Club  
Professional, Financial, Office and 
Business Service 

 

Public Utility  
Restaurant  
Retail  
Tourist Information Facility  

 
12.28.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.28.3.1 Lot Area 

 
The lot area is at the discretion of the Development Authority. 

 
12.28.3.2 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 3.0m (9.8ft) 
 
Yard – Interior Side 1.5m (5.0ft) if the site is abutting a residential land use 

district. 
 0m if the site is abutting all other districts. 
 Minimum 10.0m (32.7ft) for one yard – interior side in order 

to provide for access to rear parking 
 
Yard – Exterior Side 3.0m (9.8ft) 
 

187



 

150 

Yard – Rear 3.1m (10.0ft) 
 

12.28.3.3 Minimum Floor Area 
 
The minimum floor area is at the discretion of the Development Authority. 

 
12.28.3.4 A Dwelling - Apartment forming part of a commercial building and being situated 

on a floor other than the ground or basement floor may be allowed at the discretion 
of the Development Authority. 

 
12.28.3.5 Parking 
 

a) Parking for all new development shall be provided to the rear of new buildings. 
 
b) Shared parking may be allowed at the discretion of the Development Authority. 
 
c) All pedestrian corridors within parking areas must be clearly delineated and 

consistent with the adjacent sidewalk in terms of material and dimension. 
 
d) Where interrupted by a driveway entrance from the main street, sidewalk paving 

material shall continue over the driveway entrance for visual continuity and 
pedestrian safety, at the developer’s expense. 

 
e) Hardy trees, shrubs and bioswale planting shall be integrated into the design of 

medium-sized parking lots (up to 12 vehicles) where stormwater management is 
a concern. Exact location and species of vegetation shall be outlined in the 
landscape plan submitted as part of a development permit application. 

 
f) Adjacent businesses shall be allowed to combine parking areas where the total 

combined parking is approximately twenty (20) or more spaces. 
 
12.28.3.6 Building Façades 

 
a) Ground level display windows shall be designed to maximize visibility and natural 

light flow. Kickplates shall not exceed 0.9m (3.0ft) in height measured from grade 
as shown in Figure 29.  
 

 
Figure 29. Building Façade Regulations 

 
b) Glazing and frosting shall not exceed 25 percent (25%) of the surface area of a 

window. Where multiple glass panes are required, they shall be seamed 
together, to minimize visual interruption as shown in Figure 29. 

188



 

151 

 
c) Building façades shall incorporate horizontal and vertical articulation in their 

design. 
 

d) For corner lots, the main building entrance shall be oriented toward the 
intersection. 
 

e) Doorway recession depths shall not exceed the depth required to accommodate 
outward swinging doors as shown in Figure 30. 

 

Figure 30. Doorway Recession Regulations 
 

f) Architectural projections (such as awning and lighting) shall not exceed the width 
of the sidewalk, measured from the property line. 
 

g) Additional architectural design elements shall be in accordance with the 
“Storefront Guideline for Large Retail” section of the County’s “Economic 
Development Strategy and Streetscape Design” document, at the discretion of 
the Development Authority. 

 
12.28.3.7 In addition to complying with the following site design and architectural control 

regulations, development permit applications shall be accompanied by a 
description of how the applicable site and building design elements as contained 
within the “Site Guideline” and “Architecture Guideline” sections of the County’s 
“Economic Development Strategy and Streetscape Design” document have been 
considered. The level to which the applicant is deemed to have met these guidelines 
is at the discretion of the Development Authority. 

 
12.28.3.8 Commercial development proposed within the Fort Vermilion Heritage Frontage 

Control area should incorporate design elements that reflect the historic architectural 
character of Fort Vermilion and encourage high quality public realm and pedestrian 
connectivity. 

 
12.28.3.9 All new building and site designs fronting 50th Street or River Road in Fort 

Vermilion should emphasize a pedestrian friendly environment which must include 
windows and doors that face the street on ground floor walls. 

 
12.28.3.10 Landscaping/Hardscaping 
 

a) Tree planting and landscaping shall extend from the street frontage to surround 
the perimeter of the parking lot, to provide increased greenery and screening. 
Location, spacing and species type shall be to the satisfaction of the 
Development Authority. 

 
b) A landscaping plan shall be submitted as part of a development permit 

application. 

189



 

152 

 
c) Consistent hard surfacing material shall be extended from the public sidewalk to 

the front of the building façade to maintain downtown visual identity. 
 
12.28.3.11 Signage 

 
a) On-street portable letter signs shall not be permitted. Pedestrian oriented 

signages, such as sandwich boards are permitted. 
 

b) Storefront sign boxes shall be no shorter than 0.9m (3.0ft) in height and located 
above the grade level entrance. 
 

c) Projecting signs, as shown in Figure 31, shall: 
 

i. Not project more than 1.5m (4.9ft) from the façade; and 
 

ii. Have a minimum clearance of 2.5m (8.2ft) with a maximum area of 0.9m2 
(9.7ft2). 

 
d) Fascia signs shall no project more than 0.15m (.5ft) from the façade. 

 
e) All signs in this land use district located along 100 Street in La Crete shall have 

a minimum setback of 7.0m (23.0ft) and a maximum setback of 10.0m (33.0ft) 
from the curb along 100 Street.  

 
 

 
 
Figure 31. Projected Sign Regulation

2.5m
Minimum
Clearance

1.5m
Maximum
Projection

190



 

153 

12.29 Hamlet Commercial Centre (H-CC) 
 
12.29.1 Purpose: To provide for a cluster of complementary community commercial 

developments along a main street to create an engaging pedestrian friendly public 
realm allowing for some automotive uses. 

 
12.29.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Automotive Equipment and Vehicle 
Services, Minor 

Business Support Services Automotive Sales and Rental 
Day Care Facility Bus Depot 
Dwelling - Apartment Commercial School 
Dwelling Unit Funeral Home 
Entertainment Establishment, Indoor Recreation Service, Indoor 
Government Service Retail Garden Centre 
Health Service Service Station – Minor 
Hotel/Motel Signs 
Museum Tourist Home 
Personal Service Establishment  
Place of Worship  
Private Club  
Professional, Financial, Office and 
Business Service 

Discretionary within Fort Vermilion 
Use Overlay 

Public Utility Bars and Neighbourhood Pubs 
Restaurant Cannabis Retailer/Distributor 
Retail Retail - Liquor 
Tourist Information Facility  

 
12.29.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.29.3.1 Setbacks 

 
Unless otherwise referenced, the minimum setbacks are: 
 
Yard – Front Minimum 3.0m (9.8ft) 

Maximum 5.0m (16.4ft) 
 
Yard – Interior Side 1.5m (5.0ft) if the site is abutting a residential land use 

district. 
 0m if the site is abutting all other districts. 
 
Yard – Exterior Side Minimum 3.0m (9.8ft) 

Maximum 5.0m (16.4ft) 
 
Yard – Rear  3.1m (10.0ft) 

 
12.29.3.2 Minimum Floor Area 

191



 

154 

 
The minimum floor area is at the discretion of the Development Authority. 

 
12.29.3.3 A Dwelling - Apartment forming part of a commercial building and being situated 

on a floor other than the ground or basement floor may be allowed at the discretion 
of the Development Authority. 

 
12.29.3.4 In addition to complying with the following site design and architectural control 

regulations, development permit applications shall be accompanied by a 
description of how the applicable site and building design elements as contained 
within the “Site Guideline” and “Architecture Guideline” sections of the County’s 
“Economic Development  Strategy and Streetscape Design” document have been 
considered. The level to which the applicant is deemed to have met these guidelines 
is at the discretion of the Development Authority. 

 
12.29.3.5 Commercial development proposed within the Fort Vermilion Heritage Frontage 

Control area should incorporate design elements that reflect the historic architectural 
character of Fort Vermilion and encourage high quality public realm and pedestrian 
connectivity. 

 
12.29.3.6 All new building and site designs fronting 50th Street or River Road in Fort 

Vermilion should emphasize a pedestrian friendly environment which must include 
windows and doors that face the street on ground floor walls. 

 
12.29.3.7 Landscaping/Hardscaping 
 

a) Tree planting and landscaping shall extend from the street frontage to surround 
the perimeter of the parking lot, to provide increased greenery and screening. 
Location, spacing and species type shall be to the satisfaction of the 
Development Authority. 
 

b) A landscaping plan shall be submitted as part of a development permit 
application. 
 

c) Consistent hard surfacing material shall be extended from the public sidewalk to 
the front of the building façade to maintain downtown visual identity. 

 
12.29.3.8 Parking 

 
a) Parking for all new development shall be provided to the rear of new buildings. 

 
b) Shared parking may be allowed at the discretion of the Development Authority. 

 
c) All pedestrian corridors within parking areas must be clearly delineated and 

consistent with the adjacent sidewalk in terms of material and dimension. 
 

d) Where interrupted by a driveway entrance off the main street, sidewalk paving 
material shall continue over the driveway entrance for visual continuity and 
pedestrian safety, at the developer’s expense. 
 

192



 

155 

e) Hardy trees, shrubs and bioswale planting shall be integrated into the design of 
medium-sized parking lots (up to 12 vehicles) where stormwater management is 
a concern. Exact location and species of vegetation shall be outlined in the 
landscape plan submitted as part of a development permit application. 

 
f) Adjacent businesses shall be allowed to combine parking areas where the total 

combined parking is approximately twenty (20) or more spaces. 
 
12.29.3.9 Building Façades 

 
a) Ground level display windows shall be designed to maximize visibility and natural 

light flow. Kickplates shall not exceed 0.9m (3.0ft) in height measured from grade 
as shown in Figure 29.  
 

b) Glazing and frosting shall not exceed 25 percent (25%) of the surface area of a 
window. Where multiple glass panes are required, they shall be seamed 
together, to minimize visual interruption as shown in Figure 29. 
 

c) Building façades shall incorporate horizontal and vertical articulation in their 
design. 
 

d) Doorway recession depths shall not exceed the depth required to accommodate 
outward swinging doors as shown in Figure 30. 
 

e) Architectural projections (such as awning and lighting) shall not exceed the width 
of the sidewalk, measured from the property line. 
 

f) Additional architectural design elements shall be in accordance with the 
“Storefront Guideline for Large Retail” section of the County’s “Economic 
Development Strategy and Streetscape Design” document, at the discretion of 
the Development Authority.  

 
 
 

 

193



 

156 

12.30 Hamlet Highway Commercial (H-HC) 
 
12.30.1 Purpose: To provide for a variety of service commercial uses along major roads to 

serve the traveling and local public. 
 
12.30.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Automotive Equipment and Vehicle 
Services, Major 

Agricultural Machinery Sales and 
Services 

Bulk Fuel Storage and Distribution 

Agricultural Supply Depot Entertainment Establishment, Indoor 
Automotive Equipment and Vehicle 
Services, Minor 

Funeral Home 

Automotive Sales and Rental Place of Worship 
Building Supply Centre Professional, Financial, Office and 

Business Service 
Bus Depot Recreation Service, Outdoor 
Business Support Services Self-Storage 1 
Commercial School Signs 
Equipment Rental Facility  
Health Service  
Hotel/Motel  
Public Utility  
Recreation Service, Indoor Discretionary within Fort Vermilion 

Use Overlay 
Restaurant Bars and Neighbourhood Pubs 
Retail  
Retail Garden Centre  
Service Station – Major  
Service Station – Minor  
Veterinary Clinic  

 
12.30.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.30.3.1 Lot Area 

 
The lot area is at the discretion of the Development Authority. 

 
12.30.3.2 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 41.2m (135.0ft) from road right-of-way 
 70.1m (230.0ft) from centre line of provincial highway 

Or a greater distance as specified by Alberta Transportation 
9.1m (30.0ft) from internal subdivision road  

 
Yard – Exterior Side 9.1m (30.0ft) 
 

194



 

157 

Yard – Interior Side 3.1m (10.0ft) 
 
Yard – Rear 3.1m (10.0ft) 
 

12.30.3.3 Parking 
 
a) Parking for all new development shall be provided to the side and rear of new 

commercial buildings. 
 

b) Shared parking may be allowed at the discretion of the Development Authority. 
 

c) All pedestrian corridors within parking areas must be clearly delineated and 
consistent with the adjacent sidewalk in terms of material and dimension. 

 
12.30.3.4 Building Façades 

 
a) Building façades shall incorporate horizontal and vertical articulation in their 

design. 
 

b) Doorway recession depths shall not exceed the depth required to accommodate 
outward swinging doors as shown in Figure 30. 
 

c) Additional architectural design elements shall be in accordance with the 
“Storefront Guideline for Large Retail” section of the County’s “Economic 
Development Strategy and Streetscape Design” document, at the discretion of 
the Development Authority. 

 
12.30.3.5 In addition to complying with the following site design and architectural control 

regulations, development permit applications shall be accompanied by a 
description of how the applicable site and building design elements as contained 
within the “Site Guideline” and “Architecture Guideline” sections of the County’s 
“Economic Development Strategy and Streetscape Design” document have been 
considered. The level to which the applicant is deemed to have met these guidelines 
is at the discretion of the Development Authority. 

 
 
 

 
 

 

195



 

158 

12.31 Hamlet Light Industrial (H-LI) 
 
12.31.1 Purpose: To provide for the grouping of light industrial and associated commercial 

uses, which do not cause nuisances to surrounding land uses. 
 
12.31.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Automotive Equipment and Vehicle 
Services, Major 

Agricultural Machinery Sales and Service Bulk Fuel Storage and Distribution  
Agricultural Supply Depot Contractor Services with Outdoor 

Storage 
Automotive Equipment and Vehicle 
Services, Minor 

Dugout 

Building Supply Centre Kennel 
Business Support Services Restaurant 
Commercial School, Industrial Retail 
Contractor Services without Outdoor 
Storage 

Service Station – Major 

Equipment Rental Facility Signs 
Industrial Use, General Tarp Shelter 
Manufactured Home Sales and Service  
Professional, Financial, Office and 
Business Service 

 

Public Utility  
Recycling Depot  
Self-Storage 1  
Self-Storage 2  
Service Station – Minor  
Shipping Container  
Shop – Commercial  
Veterinary Clinic  

 
12.31.3 Development  Regulations 

 
12.31.3.1 Lot Coverage 

 
The maximum density is at the discretion of the Development Authority. 

 
12.31.3.2 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 9.1m (30.0ft) 
 
Yard – Exterior Side At the discretion of the Development Authority. 
 
Yard – Interior Side At the discretion of the Development Authority. 
 
Yard – Rear 3.1m (10.0ft) 

196



 

159 

 
 

12.31.3.3 Restaurant and Retail uses shall be limited to 93.0m2 (1000.0ft2) in area. 
 

197



 

160 

12.32 Hamlet Heavy Industrial (H-HI) 
 
12.32.1 Purpose: To provide for heavy industrial uses, within hamlets, adjacent to land uses 

that will not be negatively impacted by associated nuisances. 
 
12.32.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Bulk Fertilizer Storage and/or Sales 
Agricultural Machinery Sales and Service Bulk Fuel Storage and Distribution 
Agricultural Supply Depot Business Support Services 
Automotive Equipment and Vehicle 
Services, Major 

Enviro-Tank 

Automotive Equipment and Vehicle 
Services, Minor 

Grain Elevator 

Contractor Services with Outdoor Storage Industrial Use, Heavy 
Contractor Services without Outdoor 
Storage 

Oilfield Service 

Dugout Recycling Depot 
Equipment Rental Facility Salvage Yard 
Industrial Use, General Shipping Container 
Public Utility Signs 
Self-Storage 2 Waste Management 
Service Station – Major Tarp Shelter 
Service Station – Minor  
Shop – Commercial   

 
12.32.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.32.3.1 Lot Coverage 

 
The maximum density is at the discretion of the Development Authority. 

 
12.32.3.2 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front  9.1m (30.0ft) 
 20.0m (65.6ft) Adjacent to Highway 88 
 
Yard – Exterior Side At the discretion of the Development Authority. 
 
Yard – Interior Side At the discretion of the Development Authority. 
 
Yard – Rear 3.1m (10.0ft) 

     
12.32.3.3 A 20.0m (65.6ft) front landscaping buffer/screening shall be required for all 

development adjacent to Highway 88.  
 
12.32.3.4 Heavy industrial uses shall not be developed within 150.0m (492.1ft) of a residential 

district. 

198



 

161 

 
12.32.3.5 A tarp shelter may be located within this land use district subject to the discretion 

of the Development Authority. 

199



 

162 

12.33 Zama City Mixed Use (Z-MU) 
 
12.33.1 Purpose: To provide for a variety of commercial, industrial and associated secondary 

residential units within central Zama City.  
 

12.33.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Apiary 
Automotive Equipment and Vehicle 
Services, Minor 

Barndominium 

Automotive Equipment and Vehicle 
Services, Major 

Bars and Neighbourhood Pubs 

Automotive Sales and Rental Bulk Fertilizer Storage and/or Sales 
Commercial School Bulk Fuel Storage and Distribution 
Commercial School, Industrial Cannabis Retailer/Distributor 
Contractor Services with Outdoor Storage Dwelling Unit 
Contractor Services without Outdoor 
Storage 

Enviro-Tank 

Dwelling – Single Detached Grain Elevator 
Dwelling – Single Detached – Tiny Home Industrial Camp 
Entertainment Establishment, Indoor Kennel 
Equipment Rental Facility Recreation Service, Outdoor 
Government Service Recycling Depot 
Health Service Salvage Yard 
Home Based Business Medium Self-Storage 1 
Home Based Business Minor Self-Storage 2 
Hotel/Motel Signs 
Industrial Use, General Urban Agriculture 
Industrial Use, Heavy Veterinary Clinic 
Intensive Greenhouse Waste Management 
Manufactured Home – Mobile  
Manufactured Home – Modular   
Oilfield Service  
Personal Service Establishment  
Place of Worship  
Pressure Vessel Storage  
Private Club  
Private Garage  
Professional, Financial, Office and 
Business Service 

 

Public Utility  
Recycling Depot  
Restaurant  
Retail  
Retail – Liquor  
Service Station – Major  
Service Station – Minor   

200



 

163 

Shipping Container  
Shop – Commercial   
Tourism Minor/Major  

 
12.33.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.33.3.1 Lot Coverage 

 
The maximum density is at the discretion of the Development Authority. 

 
12.33.3.2 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard – Front 9.1m (30.0ft) 
 
Yard – Exterior Side 3.1m (10.0ft) 
 
Yard – Interior Side At the discretion of the Development Authority. 
 
Yard – Rear 3.1m (10.0ft) 

     
12.33.3.3 New development along Tower road shall provide a 3.0m (9.8ft) landscaped 

buffer/screening along the Tower road lot boundary. 
 

12.33.3.4 All new subdivision and development shall provide a landscaped 
buffer/screening of not less than 10.0m (35.8ft) depth along the common boundary 
of an interface with a residential or commercial district. 

 
12.33.3.5 A tarp shelter may be located within this land use district subject to the discretion 

of the Development Authority. 
 
 

 

 

201



 

164 

12.34 Zama City Residential-Business (Z-RB) 
 
12.34.1 Purpose: To provide for various residential uses and associated non-nuisance Home 

Based Businesses within the hamlet of Zama City. 
 
12.34.2 Permitted and Discretionary Uses 
 

Permitted Discretionary 

Accessory Building Apiary 
Bed and Breakfast Business Barndominium 
Day Care Home Dwelling – Row 
Dwelling – Duplex Dwelling – Stacked Row Housing 
Dwelling – Single Detached Industrial Camp 
Dwelling – Single Detached – Tiny Home Kennel 
Dwelling Unit Oil Field Service 
Garden Suite Signs 
Home Based Business Medium Tarp Shelter 
Home Based Business Minor Urban Agriculture 
Manufactured Home – Mobile   
Manufactured Home – Modular   
Personal Service Establishment  
Place of Worship  
Private Garage  
Public Utility  
Residential Sales Centre  
Secondary Suite  
Shop – Commercial  
Shop – Personal   
Tourist Home  

 
12.34.3 Development Regulations 

 
12.34.3.1 Minimum Lot Dimensions 

 
a) The minimum lot width is 22.0m (72.0ft). 

 
b) The minimum lot depth is 33.5m (110.0ft). 

 
12.34.3.2 Minimum Setbacks 

 
Yard - Front 7.6m (25.0ft) 
 
Yard - Exterior Side 3.1m (10.0ft) 
 
Yard - Interior Side 1.5m (5.0ft) 
 
Yard - Rear 2.4m (8.0ft) with overhead utility servicing 

1.5m (5.0ft) with underground utility servicing 
20.0m (66.0ft) from an industrial or commercial district 

202



 

165 

 
12.34.3.3 Commercial or industrial land uses shall not: 

 
a) Include storage of bulk chemicals greater than 500 litres; or 

 
b) Involve the on-site use of vehicles primarily associated with the transportation of 

hazardous chemicals. 
 

12.34.3.4 All outdoor storage and parking for commercial or industrial purposes shall be 
screened to the satisfaction of the Development Authority. 

203



Schedule A 
Hamlet Land Use District Maps 

 
  

204



Schedule B 
Rural Land Use District Maps 

 
  

 

 

205



REC2

H-CR

H-LI

UF

H-R1

RIL
CRm

IREC2

DC1

REC2

I

H-R1

I

H-HI

RIL

I

DC2

H-CC

DC2

H-R1

Fort Vermilion
Indian

Reserve 173B
I

REC2

DC1

REC2

H-R1

CRm

H-HC

RIL

UF

H-HC

H-R2

H-R1B

Legend
Hamlet Boundary

Country Residential

Direct Control 1

Direct Control 2

Hamlet - Commercial Centre

Hamlet - Heavy Industrial

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Hamlet - Light Industrial

Hamlet Country Residential

Hamlet Residential 1

Hamlet Residential 1B

Hamlet Residential 2

Institutional

Recreation 2

Rural Industrial Light

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

PROPOSED FORT
VERMILION

LAND USE DISTRICTS

LAND USE BYLAW

± 0 0.7 1.40.35

Kilometers

Peace River

206



MHC

H-CR

H-LIUF

UF

H-CC

H-R1A

UFUF

UF

H-R1B

I

H-R2

H-HI

H-LI

H-LI

UF

H-HI

H-LI

H-R1B

H-R1

H-R1A

I

MHS

H-CR

I

UF
H-HI

REC1
H-HC

I

REC1
REC1

H-R1B

REC1

H-R2

H-CR

H-CC

REC1

H-HCH-CR

H-HC

H-HC

H-HC

H-TC

REC1

H-R1A

H-CR

I

H-HC

H-R1

MHS

H-R1A

H-R2

I

±

Legend
Hamlet Boundary

Hamlet - Commercial Centre

Hamlet - Heavy Industrial

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Hamlet - Light Industrial

Hamlet - Town Centre

Hamlet Country Residential

Hamlet Residential 1

Hamlet Residential 1A

Hamlet Residential 1B

Hamlet Residential 2

Hamlet Residential 2A

Institutional

Manufactured Home Community

Manufactured Home Subdivision

Recreation 1

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

PROPOSED LA CRETE
LAND USE DISTRICTS

LAND USE BYLAW

0 0.75 1.50.38

Kilometers

207



Z-MU

REC2

I

REC2

Z-RB

Z-RB

Z-MU

Z-RB

UF

Z-MU

AP

Legend
Hamlet Boundary

Airport

Institutional

Recreation 2

Urban Fringe

Zama City Mixed Use

Zama City Residential-Business

Parcel Boundary

PROPOSED ZAMA CITY
LAND USE DISTRICTS

LAND USE BYLAW

± 0 0.6 1.20.3

Kilometers

208



Rural Land Use Districts
Agricultural 1

Airport

Country Recreational

Country Recreational 2

Country Residential

Direct Control 1

Direct Control 2

Forestry

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Institutional

Recreation 1

Recreation 2

Remote Recreation

Rural Industrial General

Rural Industrial Light

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

Roads

Waterbodies

First Nations Reserves ´

0 10 20 30 405
KilometersA1

209



HWY 3
5

Rural Land Use Districts
Agricultural 1

Airport

Country Recreational

Country Recreational 2

Country Residential

Direct Control 1

Direct Control 2

Forestry

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Institutional

Recreation 1

Recreation 2

Remote Recreation

Rural Industrial General

Rural Industrial Light

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

Provincial Highways

Roads

Waterbodies

Hamlet Boundaries

First Nations Reserves
´

0 10 20 30 405
KilometersA2

210



H
W

Y 
35

Rural Land Use Districts
Agricultural 1

Airport

Country Recreational

Country Recreational 2

Country Residential

Direct Control 1

Direct Control 2

Forestry

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Institutional

Recreation 1

Recreation 2

Remote Recreation

Rural Industrial General

Rural Industrial Light

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

Provincial Highways

Roads

Waterbodies

First Nations Reserves ´

0 10 20 30 405
KilometersA3

211



Rural Land Use Districts
Agricultural 1

Airport

Country Recreational

Country Recreational 2

Country Residential

Direct Control 1

Direct Control 2

Forestry

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Institutional

Recreation 1

Recreation 2

Remote Recreation

Rural Industrial General

Rural Industrial Light

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

Waterbodies

First Nations Reserves

´

0 10 20 30 405
KilometersA4

212



Rural Land Use Districts
Agricultural 1

Airport

Country Recreational

Country Recreational 2

Country Residential

Direct Control 1

Direct Control 2

Forestry

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Institutional

Recreation 1

Recreation 2

Remote Recreation

Rural Industrial General

Rural Industrial Light

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

Waterbodies

First Nations Reserves

´

0 10 20 30 405
KilometersA5

213



HWY 58

Rural Land Use Districts
Agricultural 1

Airport

Country Recreational

Country Recreational 2

Country Residential

Direct Control 1

Direct Control 2

Forestry

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Institutional

Recreation 1

Recreation 2

Remote Recreation

Rural Industrial General

Rural Industrial Light

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

Provincial Highways

Roads

Town

Waterbodies

First Nations Reserves
´

0 10 20 30 405
KilometersB1

214



HWY 58

H
W

Y 
35

Rural Land Use Districts
Agricultural 1

Airport

Country Recreational

Country Recreational 2

Country Residential

Direct Control 1

Direct Control 2

Forestry

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Institutional

Recreation 1

Recreation 2

Remote Recreation

Rural Industrial General

Rural Industrial Light

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

Provincial Highways

Roads

Waterbodies

Hamlet Boundaries

First Nations Reserves
´

0 10 20 30 405
KilometersB2

215



HWY 58

HWY 58

HWY 35

Rural Land Use Districts
Agricultural 1

Airport

Country Recreational

Country Recreational 2

Country Residential

Direct Control 1

Direct Control 2

Forestry

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Institutional

Recreation 1

Recreation 2

Remote Recreation

Rural Industrial General

Rural Industrial Light

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

Provincial Highways

Roads

Town

Waterbodies

First Nations Reserves
´

0 10 20 30 405
KilometersB3

216



HWY 58

H
W

Y 
69

7

HWY 88

Rural Land Use Districts
Agricultural 1

Airport

Country Recreational

Country Recreational 2

Country Residential

Direct Control 1

Direct Control 2

Forestry

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Institutional

Recreation 1

Recreation 2

Remote Recreation

Rural Industrial General

Rural Industrial Light

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

Provincial Highways

Roads

Waterbodies

Hamlet Boundaries

First Nations Reserves
´

0 10 20 30 405
KilometersB4

217



HWY 58

Rural Land Use Districts
Agricultural 1

Airport

Country Recreational

Country Recreational 2

Country Residential

Direct Control 1

Direct Control 2

Forestry

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Institutional

Recreation 1

Recreation 2

Remote Recreation

Rural Industrial General

Rural Industrial Light

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

Provincial Highways

Roads

Waterbodies

First Nations Reserves ´

0 10 20 30 405
KilometersB5

218



Rural Land Use Districts
Agricultural 1

Airport

Country Recreational

Country Recreational 2

Country Residential

Direct Control 1

Direct Control 2

Forestry

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Institutional

Recreation 1

Recreation 2

Remote Recreation

Rural Industrial General

Rural Industrial Light

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

Roads

Waterbodies

First Nations Reserves ´

0 10 20 30 405
KilometersC1

219



Rural Land Use Districts
Agricultural 1

Airport

Country Recreational

Country Recreational 2

Country Residential

Direct Control 1

Direct Control 2

Forestry

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Institutional

Recreation 1

Recreation 2

Remote Recreation

Rural Industrial General

Rural Industrial Light

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

Roads

Waterbodies

First Nations Reserves ´

0 10 20 30 405
KilometersC2

220



HWY 697

H
W

Y 35

Rural Land Use Districts
Agricultural 1

Airport

Country Recreational

Country Recreational 2

Country Residential

Direct Control 1

Direct Control 2

Forestry

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Institutional

Recreation 1

Recreation 2

Remote Recreation

Rural Industrial General

Rural Industrial Light

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

Provincial Highways

Roads

Waterbodies

Hamlet Boundaries

First Nations Reserves
´

0 10 20 30 405
KilometersC3

221



H
W

Y 
69

7

HWY 88

Rural Land Use Districts
Agricultural 1

Airport

Country Recreational

Country Recreational 2

Country Residential

Direct Control 1

Direct Control 2

Forestry

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Institutional

Recreation 1

Recreation 2

Remote Recreation

Rural Industrial General

Rural Industrial Light

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

Provincial Highways

Roads

Waterbodies

Hamlet Boundaries

First Nations Reserves
´

0 10 20 30 405
KilometersC4

222



H
W

Y 88

Rural Land Use Districts
Agricultural 1

Airport

Country Recreational

Country Recreational 2

Country Residential

Direct Control 1

Direct Control 2

Forestry

Hamlet - Highway Commercial

Institutional

Recreation 1

Recreation 2

Remote Recreation

Rural Industrial General

Rural Industrial Light

Urban Fringe

Parcel Boundary

Provincial Highways

Roads

Waterbodies

First Nations Reserves ´

0 10 20 30 405
KilometersC5

223



224



Agenda Item # 11.a) 

Author: J. Batt  Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting:  Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: September 23, 2024 

Presented By: Jennifer Batt, Director of Finance 

Title:  Mitigation – Conditional Grant Agreement One-Year 
Extension 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
Due to the delays realized in subdivision construction, relocation, and land title matters, 
in October 2023 the Flood Recovery Steering Committee along with Council requested 
that the one-year extension of the Conditional Grant Agreement under Section 2.1 be 
requested. 
 
Administration has recently received confirmation from the Alberta Emergency 
Management Agency that the request has been granted, with the deadline of December 
31, 2025. (Handout) 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
N/A 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
Municipal Affairs – Conditional Grant Agreement - Mitigation 
 
 
COMMUNICATION / PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
 
Administration to communicate grant extension with residents affected.  
 
 
POLICY REFERENCES: 
 
N/A 
 

225



Author: J. Batt  Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
 Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That administration enter into a one year extension for the Conditional Grant Agreement 
for Mitigation to December 31, 2025. 
 

226



Agenda Item # 11.b)  
 

Author: J. Batt Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: September 23, 2024 

Presented By: Jennifer Batt, Director of Finance 

Title:  Amend Policy RESV14 – Gravel Crushing Reserve  

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
Administration was reviewing multiple Polices while development of the 2025 budget, 
and is recommending that due to current funding requirements to crush gravel, that 
Policy RESV14 – Gravel Crushing Reserve be amended.  
 
Attached is the amended Policy for review. 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
N/A 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
N/A 
 
 
COMMUNICATION / PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
 
N/A 
 
 
POLICY REFERENCES: 
 
N/A 
 
 
 

227



Author: J. Batt Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
  Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That Policy RESV14 – Gravel Crushing Reserve be amended as presented/amended.  
 

228



Mackenzie County 
 
Title Gravel Crushing Reserve Policy No. RESV14 
 
Account Code 32-720 
 
Purpose 
 
To establish a gravel crushing reserve.  This reserve will provide funding to cover 
the gravel crushing costs associated with any County gravel pit. 

 
Targeted Minimum Balance: $1 
 
Targeted Maximum Balance: $1,500,000 $5,000,000 
 
Targeted Annual Contribution: $500,000  
 
Policy Statement and Guidelines 
 
1. The Chief Administrative Officer will ensure the overall effective administration of 

dedicated reserves in accordance with this policy; recommending changes in 
policy or guidelines to Council to ensure they are employed to the benefit of the 
municipality. 

 
2. Reserves will be allocated annually, in conjunction with the budget process a list 

indicating the current and previous year-end balances for this reserve will be 
provided. 

 
3. When the County completes a gravel crushing program the Reserve may be 

depleted to a zero balance in the year of crushing. 
 
4. The use of this reserve to fund any expenditure must be by way of a Council 

resolution or motion. 
 
 

 Date Resolution Number 
Approved 2004-01-13 04-011 
Amended 2016-11-08 16-11-847 
Amended 2017-03-14 17-03-178 
Amended 2024-09-23  

 

229



230



Agenda Item # 11.c) 
 

Author: J. Batt Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: September 23, 2024 

Presented By: Jennifer Batt, Director of Finance 

Title:  Financial Reports – January – August 2024  

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
The Finance Department provides financial reports to Council as per policy, which the 
January – August, 2024 reports are attached for review.  
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
Council shall receive the following reports quarterly: 

• Statement comparing actual operating revenues and expenditures to budget for 
the year-to-date (January – August 30th, 2024) 

• A report of funds invested in term deposits and other securities  
o (January – July 31st, 2024)  

 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
N/A 
 
 
COMMUNICATION / PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
 
N/A 
 
 
POLICY REFERENCES: 
 
Policy FIN010 – Financial Reports 
 
 

231



Author: J. Batt Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
 
  Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That the financial reports for January to August 2024 be received for information. 
 
 

232



Mackenzie County
Summary of All Units January - August 2024

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
100-Municipal Taxes $28,655,317 $28,916,733 ($261,416)
101-Lodge Requisition $486,502 $492,029 ($5,527)
102-School Requisition $6,728,698 $6,737,338 ($8,640)
103-Designated Ind. Property $74,951 $76,589 ($1,638)
124-Frontage $38,713 $26,155 $12,558
261-Ice Bridge $135,000 $145,000 ($10,000)
420-Sales of goods and services $1,083,116 $901,403 $181,713
421-Sale of water - metered $4,078,995 $2,590,061 $1,488,934
422-Sale of water - bulk $1,014,844 $779,702 $235,142
424-Sale of land $10,000 $10,000
510-Penalties on  taxes $250,000 $140,120 $109,880
511-Penalties of AR and utilities $32,000 $21,602 $10,398
520-Licenses and permits $54,000 $73,327 ($19,327)
521-Offsite levy $20,000 $42,968 ($22,968)
522-Municipal reserve revenue $50,000 $70,810 ($20,810)
526-Safety code permits $350,000 $203,519 $146,481
525-Subdivision fees $125,000 $65,483 $59,517
530-Fines $15,000 $3,171 $11,829
531-Safety code fees $12,000 $7,997 $4,003
550-Interest revenue $1,350,000 $1,052,010 $297,990
551-Market value changes $122,491 ($122,491)
560-Rental and lease revenue $201,660 $142,878 $58,782
597-Other revenue $25,000 $19,458 $5,542
598-Community aggregate levy $85,000 $85,000
630-Sale of non-TCA equipment $500 $500
840-Provincial grants $1,270,577 $719,428 $551,149
909-Other Sources -Grants $499,828 $65,045 $434,783
930-Contribution from Operating Reserves $1,657,002 $1,657,002
940-Contribution from Capital Reserves $1,111,745 $1,111,745
TOTAL REVENUE $49,415,448 $43,415,312 $6,000,136

Excluding Requisitions $42,125,297 $36,109,356 $6,015,941

1
233



Mackenzie County
Summary of All Units January - August 2024

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING EXPENSES
110-Wages and salaries $7,632,984 $4,266,483 $3,366,501
132-Benefits $1,660,483 $1,045,914 $614,569
136-WCB contributions $87,632 $31,039 $56,593
142-Recruiting $15,000 $15,000
150-Isolation cost $43,200 $28,567 $14,633
151-Honoraria $728,415 $378,866 $349,549
211-Travel and subsistence $417,546 $177,446 $240,100
212-Promotional expense $72,000 $21,611 $50,389
214-Memberships & conference fees $164,433 $88,938 $75,495
215-Freight $122,450 $54,250 $68,200
216-Postage $52,000 $35,380 $16,620
217-Telephone $104,858 $69,420 $35,438
221-Advertising $99,775 $70,916 $28,859
223-Subscriptions and publications $13,020 $9,283 $3,737
231-Audit fee $120,000 $108,000 $12,000
232-Legal fee $285,000 $195,465 $89,535
233-Engineering consulting $227,000 $52,382 $174,618
235-Professional fee $239,700 $220,917 $18,783
236-Police Funding Model $851,567 $177,723 $673,844
239-Training and education $90,445 $23,227 $67,218
242-Computer programming $241,023 $174,415 $66,608
243-Waste Management $462,864 $257,330 $205,534
251-Repair & maintenance - bridges $159,500 $12,863 $146,637
252-Repair & maintenance - buildings $176,140 $101,000 $75,140
253-Repair & maintenance - equipment $429,370 $253,370 $176,000
255-Repair & maintenance - vehicles $117,300 $41,273 $76,027
258-Contracted Services $723,213 $435,347 $287,866
259-Repair & maintenance - structural $1,869,100 $851,502 $1,017,598
260-Roadside Mowing & Spraying $468,444 $203,544 $264,900
261-Ice bridge construction $127,000 $129,204 ($2,204)
262-Rental - building and land $70,400 $48,898 $21,503
263-Rental - vehicle and equipment $50,288 $41,017 $9,271
266-Communications $169,937 $76,665 $93,272
271-Licenses and permits $25,200 $8,216 $16,984
272-Damage claims $0
274-Insurance $641,892 $491,568 $150,324
342-Assessor fees $237,000 $104,027 $132,973
290-Election cost $3,000 $3,000
511-Goods and supplies $1,257,234 $748,317 $508,917
515-Lab Testing $55,500 $18,026 $37,474
521-Fuel and oil $1,125,687 $578,914 $546,773
531-Chemicals and salt $445,300 $273,154 $172,146
530-Oil Dust Control $100,000 $100,000
532-Calcium Dust Control $193,000 $67,758 $125,242
533-Grader blades $150,000 $13,124 $136,876
534-Gravel (apply; supply and apply) $2,548,000 $1,707,776 $840,224
535-Gravel reclamation cost $370,000 $79,904 $290,097
994-Change in Inventory ($612,489) ($612,489)
543-Natural gas $182,564 $80,124 $102,440
544-Electrical power $797,533 $508,355 $289,178
550-Carbon Tax $240,000 $149,604 $90,396
710-Grants to local governments $2,250,000 $2,250,000 $0
735-Grants to other organizations $2,505,221 $2,125,126 $380,095
747-School requisition $6,728,698 $2,730,005 $3,998,693
750-Lodge requisition $486,502 $486,502 $0
760-Designated Ind. Property $74,951 $74,951 $0
763/764-Contributed to Reserve $5,347,805 $5,347,805
810-Interest and service charges $22,360 $20,443 $1,917
831-Interest - long term debt $368,759 $145,505 $223,254

1
234



Mackenzie County
Summary of All Units January - August 2024

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

832-Principle - Long term debt $1,318,015 $651,917 $666,098
921-Bad Debt/922-Tax Cancellation/Writeoff $1,855,000 $98,548 $1,756,452
Non-TCA projects $2,606,629 $674,835 $1,931,794
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $49,415,448 $23,768,954 $25,646,494

Excluding Requisitions $42,125,297 $20,477,496 $21,647,801

2
235



Mackenzie County
00-Taxes

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
100-Municipal Taxes $28,655,317 $28,916,733 ($261,416)
101-Lodge Requisition $486,502 $492,029 ($5,527)
102-School Requisition $6,728,698 $6,737,338 ($8,640)
103-Designated Ind. Property $74,951 $76,589 ($1,638)
TOTAL REVENUE $35,945,468 $36,222,689 ($277,221)

Excluding Requisitions $28,655,317 $28,916,733 ($261,416)

1
236



Mackenzie County
11-Council

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES

OPERATING EXPENSES
132-Benefits $100,359 $60,666 $39,693
136-WCB contributions $6,041 $2,352 $3,689
151-Honoraria $625,915 $312,464 $313,451
211-Travel and subsistence $281,473 $124,311 $157,162
214-Memberships & conference fees $84,400 $48,742 $35,658
216-Postage $0 $0
217-Telephone $7,700 $4,209 $3,491
221-Advertising $1,000 $0 $1,000
235-Professional fee $8,000 $0 $8,000
239-Training and education $2,800 $690 $2,110
266-Communications $15,615 $8,436 $7,179
274-Insurance $2,194 $1,828 $366
290-Election cost $3,000 $0 $3,000
511-Goods and supplies $9,700 $6,700 $3,000
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $1,148,197 $570,398 $577,799

Excluding Requisitions $1,148,197 $570,398 $577,799

TOTAL EXPENSES $1,148,197 $570,398 $577,799
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) ($1,148,197) ($570,398) ($577,799)

1
237



Mackenzie County
12-Administration

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
420-Sales of goods and services $39,500 $35,301 $4,199
510-Penalties on  taxes $250,000 $140,120 $109,880
511-Penalties of AR and utilities $20,000 $8,102 $11,898
550-Interest revenue $1,350,000 $1,052,010 $297,990
551-Market value changes $122,491 ($122,491)
560-Rental and lease revenue $68,400 $38,689 $29,711
597-Other revenue $25,000 $18,733 $6,267
598-Community aggregate levy $85,000 $0 $85,000
630-Sale of non-TCA equipment $500 $0 $500
840-Provincial grants $409,000 $66,565 $342,435
890-Gain (Loss) Penny Rounding ($4) $4
909-Other Sources -Grants $451,538 $276 $451,262
930-Contribution from Operating Reserves $729,966 $0 $729,966
940-Contribution from Capital Reserves $0 $0
TOTAL REVENUE $3,428,904 $1,482,283 $1,946,621

Excluding Requisitions $3,428,904 $1,482,283 $1,946,621

OPERATING EXPENSES
110-Wages and salaries $2,090,250 $1,194,781 $895,469
132-Benefits $438,110 $267,517 $170,593
136-WCB contributions $20,367 $7,856 $12,511
142-Recruiting $15,000 $15,000
150-Isolation cost $14,400 $15,157 ($757)
211-Travel and subsistence $44,968 $19,051 $25,917
212-Promotional expense $27,000 $7,623 $19,377
214-Memberships & conference fees $33,838 $14,760 $19,078
215-Freight $9,500 $4,055 $5,445
216-Postage $24,600 $21,680 $2,920
217-Telephone $45,030 $32,945 $12,085
221-Advertising $68,500 $60,851 $7,649
223-Subscriptions and publications $6,020 $4,341 $1,679
231-Audit fee $120,000 $108,000 $12,000
232-Legal fee $275,000 $189,302 $85,698
233-Engineering consulting $10,000 $7,458 $2,542
235-Professional fee $85,000 $89,997 ($4,997)
239-Training and education $11,315 $3,558 $7,758
242-Computer programming $137,363 $153,853 ($16,490)
243-Waste Management $8,800 $6,875 $1,925
252-Repair & maintenance - buildings $61,700 $32,166 $29,534
253-Repair & maintenance - equipment $12,120 $1,919 $10,201
255-Repair & maintenance - vehicles $8,000 $2,145 $5,855
258-Contracted Services $40,000 $5,985 $34,015
259-Repair & maintenance - structural $407 ($407)
262-Rental - building and land $0
263-Rental - vehicle and equipment $9,388 $6,433 $2,955
266-Communications $51,880 $18,210 $33,670
271-Licenses and permits $100 $0 $100
274-Insurance $107,899 $82,330 $25,569
342-Assessor fees $237,000 $104,027 $132,973
511-Goods and supplies $103,750 $60,376 $43,374
521-Fuel and oil $33,948 $21,824 $12,124
994-Change in Inventory $0 $0
543-Natural gas $28,207 $18,661 $9,546
544-Electrical power $98,059 $64,807 $33,252
710-Grants to local governments $2,250,000 $2,250,000 $0
763/764-Contributed to Reserve $135,000 $0 $135,000
810-Interest and service charges $21,000 $19,636 $1,364
831-Interest - long term debt $66,608 $14,051 $52,557
832-Principle - Long term debt $103,309 $50,995 $52,314
921-Bad Debt/922-Tax Cancellation/Writeoff $1,850,000 $98,548 $1,751,452

1
238



Mackenzie County
12-Administration

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

Non-TCA projects $1,510,504 $406,459 $1,104,045
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $10,213,533 $5,468,640 $4,744,893

Excluding Requisitions $10,213,533 $5,468,640 $4,744,893

995-Amortization of TCA $321,824 $0 $321,824

2
239



Mackenzie County
23-Fire Department

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
420-Sales of goods and services $156,000 $258,179 ($102,179)
909-Other Sources -Grants $13,030 $13,030
930-Contribution from Operating Reserves $23,000 $23,000
TOTAL REVENUE $192,030 $258,179 ($66,149)

Excluding Requisitions $192,030 $258,179 ($66,149)

OPERATING EXPENSES
110-Wages and salaries $46,694 $23,133 $23,561
132-Benefits $8,327 $6,079 $2,248
136-WCB contributions $523 $175 $348
151-Honoraria $102,500 $66,402 $36,098
211-Travel and subsistence $11,800 $9,011 $2,789
212-Promotional expense $3,000 $3,000
214-Memberships & conference fees $3,630 $100 $3,530
215-Freight $3,000 $338 $2,662
217-Telephone $11,240 $9,111 $2,129
221-Advertising $2,000 $2,000
239-Training and education $36,180 $25 $36,155
252-Repair & maintenance - buildings $11,500 $14,824 ($3,324)
253-Repair & maintenance - equipment $42,000 $5,689 $36,311
255-Repair & maintenance - vehicles $12,000 $1,033 $10,967
258-Contracted Services $8,500 $0 $8,500
259-Repair & maintenance - structural $1,500 $0 $1,500
263-Rental - vehicle and equipment $27,000 $33,647 ($6,647)
266-Communications $76,512 $39,095 $37,417
271-Licenses and permits $4,000 $0 $4,000
272-Damage claims $0
274-Insurance $48,388 $39,657 $8,731
511-Goods and supplies $129,484 $40,200 $89,284
521-Fuel and oil $30,932 $12,434 $18,498
543-Natural gas $19,664 $7,860 $11,804
544-Electrical power $18,773 $12,133 $6,640
763/764-Contributed to Reserve $100,000 $0 $100,000
Non-TCA projects $23,000 $22,990 $10
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $782,147 $343,936 $438,211

Excluding Requisitions $782,147 $343,936 $438,211

995-Amortization of TCA $212,639 $0 $212,639

1
240



Mackenzie County
25-Ambulance/Municipal Emergency

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
560-Rental and lease revenue $40,500 $30,375 $10,125
TOTAL REVENUE $40,500 $30,375 $10,125

Excluding Requisitions $40,500 $30,375 $10,125

OPERATING EXPENSES
252-Repair & maintenance - buildings $7,000 $1,877 $5,123
274-Insurance $3,000 $2,879 $121
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $10,000 $4,756 $5,244

Excluding Requisitions $10,000 $4,756 $5,244

995-Amortization of TCA $12,328 $0 $12,328

1
241



Mackenzie County
26-Enforcement Services

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
520-Licenses and permits $0 $0
530-Fines $15,000 $3,171 $11,829
560-Rental and lease revenue $13,827 $23,903 ($10,076)
TOTAL REVENUE $28,827 $27,073 $1,754

Excluding Requisitions $28,827 $27,073 $1,754

OPERATING EXPENSES
110-Wages and salaries $15,565 $7,711 $7,854
132-Benefits $2,776 $1,783 $993
136-WCB contributions $174 $59 $116
211-Travel and subsistence $2,000 $902 $1,098
214-Memberships & conference fees $0
215-Freight $0
217-Telephone $40 ($40)
221-Advertising $2,000 $2,000
223-Subscriptions and publications $3,500 $2,894 $606
235-Professional fee $2,000 $320 $1,680
236-Police Funding Model $851,567 $177,723 $673,844
239-Training and education $8,000 $2,880 $5,120
252-Repair & maintenance - buildings $12,050 $250 $11,800
258-Contracted Services $10,000 $8,902 $1,098
266-Communications $500 $0 $500
274-Insurance $6,625 $4,624 $2,001
511-Goods and supplies $1,000 $644 $356
521-Fuel and oil $2,416 $127 $2,289
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $920,173 $208,858 $711,315

Excluding Requisitions $920,173 $208,858 $711,315

995-Amortization of TCA $6,404 $0 $6,404

1
242



Mackenzie County
32-Transportation

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
124-Frontage $30,872 $18,315 $12,557
261-Ice Bridge $135,000 $145,000 ($10,000)
420-Sales of goods and services $257,036 $159,337 $97,699
520-Licenses and permits $4,000 $2,875 $1,125
840-Provincial grants $242,524 $242,524 $0
930-Contribution from Operating Reserves $370,000 $0 $370,000
940-Contribution from Capital Reserves $1,034,000 $1,034,000
TOTAL REVENUE $2,073,432 $568,052 $1,505,380

Excluding Requisitions $2,073,432 $568,052 $1,505,380

OPERATING EXPENSES
110-Wages and salaries $3,224,345 $1,802,969 $1,421,376
132-Benefits $665,050 $418,638 $246,412
136-WCB contributions $35,098 $12,118 $22,980
150-Isolation cost $14,400 $5,656 $8,744
211-Travel and subsistence $23,430 $9,240 $14,190
214-Memberships & conference fees $11,250 $2,240 $9,010
215-Freight $18,500 $6,748 $11,752
217-Telephone $19,908 $10,056 $9,852
221-Advertising $4,000 $4,000
223-Subscriptions and publications $3,200 $1,848 $1,352
233-Engineering consulting $90,000 $10,629 $79,371
235-Professional fee $10,000 $0 $10,000
239-Training and education $12,750 $13,928 ($1,178)
251-Repair & maintenance - bridges $159,500 $12,863 $146,637
252-Repair & maintenance - buildings $28,190 $28,485 ($295)
253-Repair & maintenance - equipment $206,000 $137,253 $68,747
255-Repair & maintenance - vehicles $60,000 $21,484 $38,516
258-Contracted Services $189,861 $86,560 $103,301
259-Repair & maintenance - structural $1,201,050 $441,425 $759,625
261-Ice bridge construction $127,000 $129,204 ($2,204)
262-Rental - building and land $7,200 $2,175 $5,025
263-Rental - vehicle and equipment $152 ($152)
266-Communications $15,500 $7,264 $8,236
271-Licenses and permits $3,225 $76 $3,149
272-Damage claims $0
274-Insurance $194,220 $145,326 $48,894
511-Goods and supplies $557,600 $365,486 $192,114
521-Fuel and oil $936,322 $414,087 $522,235
531-Chemicals and salt $145,000 $67,887 $77,113
530-Oil Dust Control $100,000 $0 $100,000
532-Calcium Dust Control $193,000 $67,758 $125,242
533-Grader blades $150,000 $13,124 $136,876
534-Gravel (apply; supply and apply) $2,548,000 $1,707,776 $840,224
535-Gravel reclamation cost $370,000 $79,904 $290,097
994-Change in Inventory ($612,489) $0 ($612,489)
543-Natural gas $18,369 $7,611 $10,758
544-Electrical power $327,851 $202,696 $125,155
550-Carbon Tax $240,000 $149,604 $90,396
763/764-Contributed to Reserve $2,658,456 $0 $2,658,456
831-Interest - long term debt $289,504 $125,235 $164,269
832-Principle - Long term debt $970,253 $481,556 $488,697
Non-TCA projects $184,000 $0 $184,000
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $15,399,543 $6,989,061 $8,410,482

Excluding Requisitions $15,399,543 $6,989,061 $8,410,482

995-Amortization of TCA $6,401,883 $0 $6,401,883

1
243



Mackenzie County
33-Airport

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
420-Sales of goods and services $32,500 $25,159 $7,341
560-Rental and lease revenue $44,630 $18,299 $26,331
930-Contribution from Operating Reserves $11,799 $0 $11,799
TOTAL REVENUE $88,929 $43,458 $45,471

Excluding Requisitions $88,929 $43,458 $45,471

OPERATING EXPENSES
110-Wages and salaries $36,201 $36,201
132-Benefits $7,119 $7,119
136-WCB contributions $405 $136 $269
211-Travel and subsistence $1,300 $1,146 $154
214-Memberships & conference fees $3,000 $3,682 ($682)
215-Freight $500 $0 $500
223-Subscriptions and publications $300 $200 $100
235-Professional fee $38,000 $17,624 $20,376
239-Training and education $3,200 $3,200
252-Repair & maintenance - buildings $5,000 $858 $4,142
253-Repair & maintenance - equipment $30,000 $9,163 $20,837
255-Repair & maintenance - vehicles $3,300 $3,300
259-Repair & maintenance - structural $25,200 $10,000 $15,200
262-Rental - building and land $60,000 $45,000 $15,000
266-Communications $2,720 $461 $2,259
271-Licenses and permits $725 $0 $725
274-Insurance $7,316 $5,473 $1,843
511-Goods and supplies $1,000 $545 $455
521-Fuel and oil $1,125 $1,042 $83
531-Chemicals and salt $34,000 $8,149 $25,851
543-Natural gas $15,818 $4,210 $11,608
544-Electrical power $35,934 $26,746 $9,188
Non-TCA projects $11,799 $5,858 $5,941
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $323,962 $140,294 $183,668

Excluding Requisitions $323,962 $140,294 $183,668

995-Amortization of TCA $204,016 $0 $204,016

1
244



Mackenzie County
41-Water Services

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
124-Frontage $2,540 $2,540 $0
420-Sales of goods and services $69,000 $43,306 $25,694
421-Sale of water - metered $2,875,382 $1,779,346 $1,096,036
422-Sale of water - bulk $1,006,744 $771,527 $235,217
511-Penalties of AR and utilities $12,000 $13,500 ($1,500)
521-Offsite levy $20,000 $42,968 ($22,968)
597-Other revenue $725 ($725)
930-Contribution from Operating Reserves $147,936 $0 $147,936
940-Contribution from Capital Reserves $51,245 $0 $51,245
TOTAL REVENUE $4,184,847 $2,653,912 $1,530,935

Excluding Requisitions $4,184,847 $2,653,912 $1,530,935

OPERATING EXPENSES
110-Wages and salaries $699,154 $362,784 $336,370
132-Benefits $128,728 $76,867 $51,861
136-WCB contributions $7,927 $2,628 $5,299
150-Isolation cost $8,640 $4,652 $3,988
211-Travel and subsistence $39,600 $10,305 $29,295
214-Memberships & conference fees $3,020 $866 $2,154
215-Freight $84,100 $41,322 $42,778
216-Postage $21,500 $10,750 $10,750
217-Telephone $18,000 $9,928 $8,072
221-Advertising $500 $500
233-Engineering consulting $51,000 $8,125 $42,875
239-Training and education $10,000 $1,377 $8,623
242-Computer programming $20,320 $13,213 $7,107
252-Repair & maintenance - buildings $25,050 $18,401 $6,649
253-Repair & maintenance - equipment $88,900 $84,225 $4,675
255-Repair & maintenance - vehicles $14,000 $13,676 $324
258-Contracted Services $29,400 $24,625 $4,776
259-Repair & maintenance - structural $89,100 $67,648 $21,452
262-Rental - building and land $3,200 $1,723 $1,478
263-Rental - vehicle and equipment $1,500 $335 $1,165
266-Communications $3,150 $467 $2,683
271-Licenses and permits $950 $65 $885
272-Damage claims $0
274-Insurance $124,943 $111,992 $12,951
511-Goods and supplies $328,400 $229,635 $98,765
515-Lab Testing $50,000 $18,026 $31,974
521-Fuel and oil $71,224 $23,789 $47,435
531-Chemicals and salt $140,300 $75,743 $64,557
543-Natural gas $94,582 $37,577 $57,005
544-Electrical power $266,418 $174,273 $92,145
763/764-Contributed to Reserve $1,330,227 $0 $1,330,227
831-Interest - long term debt $6,860 $3,969 $2,891
832-Principle - Long term debt $219,973 $107,256 $112,717
921-Bad Debt/922-Tax Cancellation/Writeoff $5,000 $5,000
Non-TCA projects $199,181 $49,568 $149,613
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $4,184,847 $1,585,809 $2,599,038

Excluding Requisitions $4,184,847 $1,585,809 $2,599,038

995-Amortization of TCA $1,446,068 $0 $1,446,068

1
245



Mackenzie County
42-Sewer Services

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
124-Frontage $5,301 $5,301 $0
420-Sales of goods and services $0 $100 ($100)
421-Sale of water - metered $1,203,613 $810,716 $392,897
422-Sale of water - bulk $8,100 $8,175 ($75)
TOTAL REVENUE $1,217,014 $824,291 $392,723

Excluding Requisitions $1,217,014 $824,291 $392,723

OPERATING EXPENSES
110-Wages and salaries $408,638 $216,582 $192,056
132-Benefits $81,174 $50,701 $30,473
136-WCB contributions $4,641 $1,536 $3,105
150-Isolation cost $5,760 $3,102 $2,658
215-Freight $4,250 $1,175 $3,075
233-Engineering consulting $6,000 $6,000
252-Repair & maintenance - buildings $1,750 $0 $1,750
253-Repair & maintenance - equipment $13,600 $4,439 $9,161
259-Repair & maintenance - structural $159,350 $89,375 $69,976
263-Rental - vehicle and equipment $3,000 $0 $3,000
274-Insurance $12,904 $9,060 $3,844
511-Goods and supplies $10,500 $50 $10,450
515-Lab Testing $5,500 $0 $5,500
531-Chemicals and salt $36,000 $31,608 $4,393
543-Natural gas $5,164 $3,732 $1,432
544-Electrical power $34,394 $15,625 $18,769
763/764-Contributed to Reserve $394,122 $0 $394,122
831-Interest - long term debt $5,787 $2,250 $3,537
832-Principle - Long term debt $24,480 $12,109 $12,371
Non-TCA projects $0 $0
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $1,217,014 $441,343 $775,671

Excluding Requisitions $1,217,014 $441,343 $775,671

995-Amortization of TCA $698,464 $0 $698,464

1
246



Mackenzie County
43-Solid Waste Disposal

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
420-Sales of goods and services $439,520 $296,149 $143,371
TOTAL REVENUE $439,520 $296,149 $143,371

Excluding Requisitions $439,520 $296,149 $143,371

OPERATING EXPENSES
110-Wages and salaries $60,064 $22,091 $37,973
132-Benefits $11,271 $5,349 $5,922
136-WCB contributions $673 $226 $447
221-Advertising $2,000 $2,000
243-Waste Management $454,064 $250,454 $203,610
252-Repair & maintenance - buildings $5,400 $1,470 $3,930
253-Repair & maintenance - equipment $12,750 $262 $12,488
258-Contracted Services $137,752 $77,551 $60,201
259-Repair & maintenance - structural $27,100 $613 $26,488
271-Licenses and permits $200 $0 $200
274-Insurance $5,663 $5,269 $394
511-Goods and supplies $2,100 $78 $2,022
521-Fuel and oil $13,985 $2,654 $11,331
544-Electrical power $13,919 $10,826 $3,093
810-Interest and service charges $1,360 $808 $552
Non-TCA projects $0 $0
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $748,301 $377,650 $370,651

Excluding Requisitions $748,301 $377,650 $370,651

995-Amortization of TCA $16,359 $0 $16,359

1
247



Mackenzie County
51-Family Community Services

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
840-Provincial grants $312,123 $234,092 $78,031
TOTAL REVENUE $312,123 $234,092 $78,031

Excluding Requisitions $312,123 $234,092 $78,031

OPERATING EXPENSES
274-Insurance $48 $345 ($297)
735-Grants to other organizations $845,504 $745,174 $100,330
763/764-Contributed to Reserve $20,000 $0 $20,000
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $865,552 $745,519 $120,033

Excluding Requisitions $865,552 $745,519 $120,033

1
248



Mackenzie County
61-Planning Development

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
420-Sales of goods and services $23,000 $33,049 ($10,049)
424-Sale of land $10,000 $10,000
520-Licenses and permits $50,000 $70,452 ($20,452)
522-Municipal reserve revenue $50,000 $70,810 ($20,810)
526-Safety code permits $350,000 $203,519 $146,481
525-Subdivision fees $125,000 $65,483 $59,517
531-Safety code fees $12,000 $7,997 $4,003
840-Provincial grants $43,550 $0 $43,550
930-Contribution from Operating Reserves $337,787 $0 $337,787
TOTAL REVENUE $1,001,337 $451,309 $550,028

Excluding Requisitions $1,001,337 $451,309 $550,028

OPERATING EXPENSES
110-Wages and salaries $653,233 $393,293 $259,940
132-Benefits $149,336 $105,703 $43,633
136-WCB contributions $7,316 $2,455 $4,861
211-Travel and subsistence $6,000 $853 $5,147
214-Memberships & conference fees $4,500 $3,404 $1,096
215-Freight $1,500 $508 $992
216-Postage $5,900 $2,950 $2,950
217-Telephone $960 $649 $311
221-Advertising $4,500 $1,071 $3,429
232-Legal fee $10,000 $2,466 $7,534
233-Engineering consulting $30,000 $20,225 $9,775
235-Professional fee $25,000 $38,455 ($13,455)
239-Training and education $5,150 $0 $5,150
242-Computer programming $74,340 $7,349 $66,991
258-Contracted Services $210,000 $185,110 $24,890
263-Rental - vehicle and equipment $5,400 $450 $4,950
266-Communications $840 ($840)
271-Licenses and permits $12,000 $7,676 $4,324
272-Damage claims $0 $0
274-Insurance $5,395 $3,286 $2,109
511-Goods and supplies $20,500 $18,646 $1,854
521-Fuel and oil $9,022 $1,312 $7,710
763/764-Contributed to Reserve $50,000 $50,000
Non-TCA projects $431,337 $135,502 $295,835
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $1,721,389 $932,201 $789,188

Excluding Requisitions $1,721,389 $932,201 $789,188

995-Amortization of TCA $18,565 $0 $18,565

1
249



Mackenzie County
63-Agriculture

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
420-Sales of goods and services $9,000 $9,843 ($843)
560-Rental and lease revenue $34,303 $31,612 $2,692
840-Provincial grants $263,380 $176,247 $87,133
909-Other Sources -Grants $30,260 $64,769 ($34,509)
930-Contribution from Operating Reserves $36,514 $0 $36,514
TOTAL REVENUE $373,457 $282,470 $90,987

Excluding Requisitions $373,457 $282,470 $90,987

OPERATING EXPENSES
110-Wages and salaries $284,482 $172,987 $111,495
132-Benefits $51,827 $36,889 $14,938
136-WCB contributions $3,186 $1,069 $2,117
211-Travel and subsistence $5,575 $1,980 $3,595
212-Promotional expense $2,000 $105 $1,896
214-Memberships & conference fees $1,575 $770 $805
217-Telephone $1,020 $1,413 ($393)
221-Advertising $2,500 $130 $2,370
233-Engineering consulting $20,000 $5,945 $14,055
235-Professional fee $71,600 $74,521 ($2,921)
239-Training and education $1,050 $770 $280
242-Computer programming $9,000 $0 $9,000
252-Repair & maintenance - buildings $500 $500
253-Repair & maintenance - equipment $5,000 $43 $4,957
255-Repair & maintenance - vehicles $8,000 $939 $7,061
259-Repair & maintenance - structural $276,500 $192,848 $83,652
260-Roadside Mowing & Spraying $468,444 $203,544 $264,900
263-Rental - vehicle and equipment $4,000 $0 $4,000
272-Damage claims $0 $0
274-Insurance $18,855 $11,036 $7,819
511-Goods and supplies $59,900 $15,907 $43,993
521-Fuel and oil $24,223 $5,833 $18,390
531-Chemicals and salt $90,000 $89,768 $232
735-Grants to other organizations $145,000 $75,301 $69,699
763/764-Contributed to Reserve $500,000 $0 $500,000
Non-TCA projects $153,907 $30,648 $123,259
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $2,208,144 $922,444 $1,285,700

Excluding Requisitions $2,208,144 $922,444 $1,285,700

995-Amortization of TCA $39,446 $0 $39,446

1
250



Mackenzie County
71-Recreation Department

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
909-Other Sources -Grants $5,000 $5,000
940-Contribution from Capital Reserves $6,500 $0 $6,500
TOTAL REVENUE $11,500 $0 $11,500

Excluding Requisitions $11,500 $0 $11,500

OPERATING EXPENSES
274-Insurance $93,835 $62,068 $31,767
735-Grants to other organizations $1,255,275 $1,052,527 $202,748
763/764-Contributed to Reserve $110,000 $0 $110,000
Non-TCA projects $52,901 $13,187 $39,714
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $1,512,011 $1,127,782 $384,229

Excluding Requisitions $1,512,011 $1,127,782 $384,229

995-Amortization of TCA $655,958 $0 $655,958

1
251



Mackenzie County
72-Parks Playgrounds

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
420-Sales of goods and services $57,560 $40,979 $16,581
TOTAL REVENUE $57,560 $40,979 $16,581

Excluding Requisitions $57,560 $40,979 $16,581

OPERATING EXPENSES
110-Wages and salaries $114,358 $70,152 $44,206
132-Benefits $16,406 $15,722 $684
136-WCB contributions $1,281 $430 $851
211-Travel and subsistence $1,400 $648 $752
214-Memberships & conference fees $1,720 $0 $1,720
215-Freight $1,100 $104 $996
217-Telephone $1,000 $1,069 ($69)
221-Advertising $2,000 $89 $1,911
233-Engineering consulting $20,000 $0 $20,000
235-Professional fee $100 $100
252-Repair & maintenance - buildings $8,000 $282 $7,718
253-Repair & maintenance - equipment $19,000 $10,378 $8,622
255-Repair & maintenance - vehicles $12,000 $1,997 $10,003
258-Contracted Services $97,700 $46,610 $51,090
259-Repair & maintenance - structural $89,300 $49,187 $40,113
266-Communications $4,060 $1,892 $2,168
271-Licenses and permits $4,000 $400 $3,600
272-Damage claims $0
274-Insurance $2,985 $2,755 $230
511-Goods and supplies $33,300 $10,021 $23,279
521-Fuel and oil $2,490 $1,483 $1,007
994-Change in Inventory $0 $0
543-Natural gas $760 $473 $287
544-Electrical power $2,185 $1,248 $937
763/764-Contributed to Reserve $50,000 $0 $50,000
Non-TCA projects $20,000 $10,623 $9,377
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $505,145 $225,562 $279,583

Excluding Requisitions $505,145 $225,562 $279,583

995-Amortization of TCA $121,432 $0 $121,432

1
252



Mackenzie County
73-Tourism

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES

OPERATING EXPENSES
212-Promotional expense $40,000 $13,883 $26,117
214-Memberships & conference fees $17,500 $14,375 $3,125
221-Advertising $10,775 $8,775 $2,000
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $68,275 $37,033 $31,242

Excluding Requisitions $68,275 $37,033 $31,242

1
253



Mackenzie County
74-Library Services

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES
940-Contribution from Capital Reserves $20,000 $20,000
TOTAL REVENUE $20,000 $0 $20,000

Excluding Requisitions $20,000 $0 $20,000

OPERATING EXPENSES
232-Legal fee $3,697 ($3,697)
252-Repair & maintenance - buildings $10,000 $2,386 $7,614
274-Insurance $7,622 $3,643 $3,979
735-Grants to other organizations $259,442 $252,123 $7,319
Non-TCA projects $20,000 $20,000
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $297,064 $261,849 $35,215

Excluding Requisitions $297,064 $261,849 $35,215

1
254



Mackenzie County
85-Requisitions

2024 2024 Actual $ Variance
Budget Total (Remaining)

OPERATING REVENUES

OPERATING EXPENSES
747-School requisition $6,728,698 $2,730,005 $3,998,693
750-Lodge requisition $486,502 $486,502 $0
760-Designated Ind. Property $74,951 $74,951 $0
DRP Expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES $7,290,151 $3,291,458 $3,998,693

1
255



Reconciled Bank Balance on July 31, 2024
Reconciled Bank Balance 31-Jul-24 30,794,470$        

Investment Values on July 31, 2024
Long term investments  (EM0-0374-A) 7,668,518.28$     
Short term notice on amount 31 days 3,784,548.05$     
Short term notice on amount 31 days (Mitigation) 13,261.20$          
Short term notice on amount 60 days 13,199,301.29$   
Short term notice on amount 60 days NWSAR 359,987.92$        
Vision Credit Union - 2 year 2,279,008.75$     

Total Investments 27,304,625$        

Total Bank Balance and Investments 58,099,096$        

Revenues

Interest received from investments 951,641.85$        655,461.22$         296,180.63$    
Interest accrued from investments but not received. 209,328.90$        -$                      209,328.90$    

1,160,970.75$    655,461.22$         505,509.53$    

Interest received, chequing account 355,326.23$        355,326.23$         
Total interest revenues before investment manager fees 1,516,296.98$    1,010,787.45$      505,509.53$    
Deduct: investment manager fees for investments (17,854.44)$         (17,854.44)$     
Total interest revenues after investment manager fees 1,498,442.54$     1,010,787.45$      487,655.09$    

             Balances in the Various Accounts - Last 13 Months

Chequing Short Term T-Bills Long Term Total
31-Jul-23 28,416,936 16,513,094 264,418 11,191,237 56,385,685
31-Aug-23 17,468,269 20,766,618 0 11,193,157 49,428,045
30-Sep-23 14,718,676 24,960,972 0 11,174,577 50,854,225
31-Oct-23 12,783,307 25,060,510 0 11,181,637 49,025,454
30-Nov-23 13,630,857 25,209,425 0 11,361,298 50,201,580
31-Dec-23 5,332,238 25,309,902 0 11,556,577 42,198,717
31-Jan-24 3,072,140 25,761,282 0 11,518,465 40,351,887
29-Feb-24 9,950,887 18,647,515 0 11,506,035 40,104,437
31-Mar-24 7,823,484 18,736,724 0 11,531,339 38,091,546
30-Apr-24 4,110,547 18,823,467 0 11,458,018 34,392,033
31-May-24 8,417,581 17,202,147 0 11,530,018 37,149,746
30-Jun-24 30,395,707 17,278,887 0 9,822,949 57,497,543
31-Jul-24 30,799,300 17,357,098 0 9,947,527 58,103,925

Short Term  YTD
Long Term  

YTD
Total            
YTD

Investment Report for Period Ending July 31, 2024

These balances include 
'market value changes'. 

0

10,000,000

20,000,000

30,000,000

40,000,000

50,000,000

60,000,000

70,000,000

Jul‐23 Aug‐23 Sep‐23 Oct‐23 Nov‐23 Dec‐23 Jan‐24 Feb‐24 Mar‐24 Apr‐24 May‐24 Jun‐24 Jul‐24

Long Term

T‐Bills

Short Term

Chequing

256



Agenda Item # 11. d) 
 

Author: J. Batt Reviewed by:  CAO:  
 

 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: September 23, 2024 

Presented By: Jennifer Batt, Director of Finance 

Title:  Proposed 2025 Budget Council Meeting Dates 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
As part of the 2025 budget development, administration reviews service levels, and 
current pricing to deliver. Administration is in the process of compiling information in 
developing the 2025 budget, and would like to propose the following dates to review 
with Council, to ensure Council has allotted time to discuss both the Operating & Capital 
budget. 
 
A Council Budget workshop was held on September 17th, providing guidance on the 
development of the 2025 Budget.  
 
As per Policy FIN022 Budget Development (attached), below are the guideline on timing 
and order to be set aside for budget overview: 
 

Step 4 - Budget Meetings  
 

The following timing and order will be set aside for the budget review: 
 

a. Operating revenues and expenditures – 1 day 
b. Tangible Capital Assets projects & multi-year capital plan  – 2 days 
c. Grants to non-profit groups requests and cash requirement decision 

worksheet final review – 1 day 
 
 

Additional meetings may be scheduled as required.  Budget meetings to be 
completed by December 21. 

 
Step 5 – Formal Budget Ratification by Council first meeting in January 

 

257



Author: J. Batt Reviewed by:  CAO:  
 

Administration will incorporate all changes/modifications that came about through 
the budget deliberations in step 4 and request formal budget ratification.   

 
Budget ratification by January 15. 

 
Administration is proposing an additional day be scheduled for a Capital Project Tour 
Workshop to assist in developing priorities, in developing the 2025- and 5-year Capital 
Plan. 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
N/A 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
N/A 
 
 
COMMUNICATION / PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
 
N/A 
 
 
POLICY REFERENCES: 
 
Policy FIN022 – Budget Development 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Motion #1 
 
  Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That Capital Project Tour Workshop be scheduled for Wednesday October 30th, 2024. 
 
Motion #2 
 
  Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That Budget Council meetings be scheduled as follows: 
  
 Thursday, October 31, 2024 

Tuesday, November 19, 2024 
Wednesday, November 20, 2024 
Wednesday, December 11, 2024 OR Tuesday, December 17, 2024. 

 

258



Agenda Item # 11.e) 
 

Author: T. Thompson Reviewed by: L. Flooren CAO: D. Derksen 
 

 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: September  23, 2024 

Presented By: Louise Flooren, Manager of Legislative & Support Services 

Title:  Councillor Expense Claims 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
Councillor Honorariums and Expense Claims are reviewed by Council on a monthly 
basis. 
 
A copy of the following councillor Honorariums and Expense Claims will be presented at 
the meeting: 
 

• August – All Councillors 
 

OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
2024 Operating Budget 
 
COMMUNICATION / PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
 
N/A 
 
POLICY REFERENCES: 
 
1326-24 Honorariums and Expense Reimbursement Bylaw 

259



Author: T. Thompson Reviewed by: L. Flooren CAO: D. Derksen 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
 
  Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That the Councillor Expense Claims for August 2024 be received for information. 

260



Agenda Item # 11.f) 
 

Author: T. Thompson Reviewed by: L. Flooren CAO: D. Derksen 
 

 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: September 23, 2024 

Presented By: Louise Flooren, Manager of Legislative & Support Services 

Title:  Members at Large Expense Claims 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
Members at Large expense claims are reviewed by Council on a monthly basis. 
 
A copy of the following Member at Large Expense Claims will be presented at the 
meeting: 
 
Month Board/Committee Name 
August Municipal Planning Commission Erick Carter 
August Municipal Planning Commission Stephanie Grocholski 
August Agricultural Service Board Jake Martens 
August/September Municipal Planning Commission Andrew O’Rourke 
September Agricultural Service Board Joeseph Peters 
 
 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
N/A 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
2024 Operating Budget. 
 
 
COMMUNICATION / PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
 
N/A 

261



Author: T. Thompson Reviewed by: L. Flooren CAO: D. Derksen 
 

POLICY REFERENCES: 
 
Bylaw 1326-24 - Honorariums and Expense Reimbursement Bylaw 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Motion 1 
 
  Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That the Member at Large Expense Claims for August/September 2024 be received for 
information. 
 

262



Agenda Item # 14.a) 

Author: J Wiebe Reviewed by: C Smith CAO: D. Derksen 
 

 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: September 23, 2024 

Presented By: Caitlin Smith, Director of Planning and Development 

Title:  
Bylaw 1348-24 
Land Use Bylaw Amendment to Rezone Part of NW-24-107-14-
W5M from Agricultural “A” to Rural Industrial General “RIG” 

 
 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
Administration has received a request to rezone Part of NW-24-107-14-W5M from 
Agricultural “A” to Rural Industrial General “RIG”. The area to be rezoned is 
approximately 35 acres.  
 
Currently there is a residence and workshop/garage on the portion that is not included 
in the rezoning request area.    
 
The reason for the rezoning is that the land owner would like to subdivide this 35 acre 
piece for the purpose of selling the land. The potential buyer intends to use this parcel 
of land for industrial type business such as mechanic work/metal recycling etc., which is 
not permitted in the current Land Use District.  
 
Currently this quarter section has one (1) other 80 acre piece that is zoned agricultural 
and one (1) 20 acre piece that has already been rezoned to Rural Industrial General.  
 
The proposed rezoning area has an approved development permit that was granted on 
April 03, 2024 for the purpose of a salvage yard (018-DP-24). The development permit 
is valid until April 03, 2025. This was approved as a discretionary use by the Municipal 
Planning Commission in March 2024. 
 
The proposed rezoning area is located near a rural growth node according to the 
Municipal Development Plan. (Please see map attached). 
 
The purpose of the Rural Industrial Light (RIL) district is to provide for light industrial 
uses, located outside of HAMLETS, with limited outside storage areas that do not cause 
nuisances to adjacent land uses while offering a high quality of site aesthetics.  
 

263



Author: J Wiebe Reviewed by: C Smith CAO: D. Derksen 
 

The proposed Bylaw was previously presented for second and third reading by Council 
on March 7, 2023 where the following motion was made: 
 
MOTION 23-03-233 
 

MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 1280-23 being a Land 
Use Bylaw Amendment to rezone Part of NW 24-107-14-W5M 
from Agricultural “A” to Rural Industrial General “RIG” to 
accommodate a salvage yard. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 23-03-234 
 

MOVED by Councillor Cardinal 
 
That third reading be given to Bylaw 1280-23 being a Land Use 
Bylaw Amendment to rezone Part of NW 24-107-14-W5M from 
Agricultural “A” to Rural Industrial General “RIG” to 
accommodate a salvage yard. 
 
CARRIED 
 

On May 31, 2023, Administration had been requested to repeal the previously approved 
Land Use Bylaw Amendment to rezone Part of NW-24-107-14-W5M from Agricultural 
“A” to Rural Industrial General “RIG”.  
 
Adjacent landowners had been quite upset about the potential negative effects on their 
property which is located south of the proposed development. 
 
The proposed repealing Bylaw was presented for second and third reading by Council 
on June 28, 2023 where the following motion was made: 
 
MOTION 23-06-525 
 

MOVED by Councillor Wardley 
 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 1296-23 being a Land 
Use Bylaw Amendment to Repeal Bylaw 1280-23 Land Use 
Bylaw Amendment to Rezone Part of NW 24-107-14-W5M due 
to the negative infringement of neighbouring properties. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 23-06-526 
 

MOVED by Councillor Smith 
 
That third reading be given to Bylaw 1296-23 being a Land Use 
Bylaw Amendment to Repeal Bylaw 1280-23 Land Use Bylaw 
Amendment to Rezone Part of NW 24-107-14-W5M due to the 
negative infringement of neighbouring properties. 
 
CARRIED 

264



Author: J Wiebe Reviewed by: C Smith CAO: D. Derksen 
 

 
 
The purpose of the Rural Industrial General (RIG) district is to provide for heavy 
industrial uses on large land parcels, distant from residential uses, that utilize extensive 
outdoor storage areas and on-site operations are considered to be a nuisance to non-
industrial and residential uses. 
 
According to the Land Use Bylaw, under Section 9.7.2 Permitted and Discretionary 
Land Use Classes states: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

265



Author: J Wiebe Reviewed by: C Smith CAO: D. Derksen 
 

 
According to the Municipal Development Plan, under Section 5.2 Land Use Policies, 
sub-section 5.2.6 Industrial states: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

266



Author: J Wiebe Reviewed by: C Smith CAO: D. Derksen 
 

 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
Options are to recommend approval, not recommend approval or table for more 
information. 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
Costs will consist of advertising the Public Hearing and adjacent landowner letters, 
which will be borne by the applicant. 
 
 
COMMUNICATION / PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
 
The Bylaw Amendment will be advertised as per MGA requirements, this includes all 
adjacent landowners. The applicant will also be required to display a sign on the subject 
property as per LUB requirements. 
 
 
POLICY REFERENCES: 
 
N/A 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
  Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That first reading be given to Bylaw 1348-24 being a Land Use Bylaw Amendment to 
rezone Part of NW-24-107-14-W5M from Agricultural “A” to Rural Industrial General 
“RIG”, subject to public hearing input.  
 

267



BYLAW NO. 1348-24 
 

BEING A BYLAW OF MACKENZIE COUNTY 
IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 

 
TO AMEND THE 

MACKENZIE COUNTY LAND USE BYLAW 
 

WHEREAS, Mackenzie County has a Municipal Development Plan adopted in 2009, and 
 
WHEREAS, Mackenzie County has adopted the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw in 
2017, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of Mackenzie County, in the Province of Alberta, has deemed it 
desirable to amend the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw to rezone Part of NW-24-
107-14-W5M from Agricultural “A” to Rural Industrial General “RIG”. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE MACKENZIE COUNTY, IN THE PROVINCE 
OF ALBERTA, DULY ASSEMBLED, HEREBY ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. That the land use designation of the subject parcel known as: 
 

Part of NW-24-107-14-W5M 
 

Within Mackenzie County, be from Agricultural “A” to Rural Industrial General “RIG” as 
outlined in Schedule “A” hereto attached.  
 
 
READ a first time this _____ day of _______, 2024. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING held this ____ day of __________, 2024. 
 
READ a second time this ____ day of __________, 2024. 
 
READ a third time and finally passed this ____ day of __________, 2024. 
 

 
 
Joshua Knelsen  
Reeve 
 
 
Darrell Derksen 
Chief Administrative Officer 

268



Mackenzie County Bylaw 1348-24  Page 2 of 2 
Land Use Bylaw Amendment 

BYLAW No. 1348-24 
 

SCHEDULE “A” 
 

1. That the land use designation of the following property known as Part of NW-24-
107-14-W5M within Mackenzie County, be rezoned: 
 

 
 
 

  
 
           
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 FROM: Agricultural “A” 

 
TO:  Rural Industrial General “RIG” 

269



68  |  M
ackenzie County |  M

unicipal D
evelopm

ent Plan

270

jamie.wiebe
Text Box
Blumenort Growth Area

jamie.wiebe
Line



Application No:

_______________________

Mackenzie County
LAND USE BYLAW AMENDMENT - REZONING APPLICATION

Civic Address: (9o ‘c5 a&iP Q-h (C1L4

Complete only if different from Applicant

C All V

Land Use Classification Amendment Proposed:

From: ilfVfMJ7,/frr\I

Reasons Supporting Proposed Amendment:

fltttS’tO t’ctn fo-

1 have enclosed the required application fee of:

‘Appft6ant Signature

Registered Owner Signature

NOTE: Registered Owner’s signature required only it different from applicant

The personal information an this fomi is collected in accordance with Section 33 of the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy
(FOIP) Act for the puipose of processing this application, issuing development permits and Land Use Bylaw Enforcement. The name of the
permit holder and nature of the permit am available to the public upon request. If you have any questions regarding the collection, use or
disclosure of this information, please contact the P0/P Coordinator or (780) 927-3718.

Mackenzie County
Box 640,4511-46 Avenue
Fort Vermilion AS TOH 1NO

Mackenzie County

Phone: (780) 927-3718
Fax: (780) 927-4266

Email: planning©mackenziecounty.com
www.mackenziecounty.com

Name Of Applicant

Address:

/YQk /Q7
City/Town

7o ctC
Postal Code Phone Cell

[pp LAb 7!o-9c7-Yr4 fQ/C?9;
Applicant Email

/jy, t,,c, ç 6 1/0 f,,.-i. cn,

Name of Registered Owner

Address:

City/Town

Postal Code Phone Cell

Owner Email

Legal Description of the Land Affected by the Proposed Amendment:
QTR./LS. SEC. TWP. RANGE M.

W\rJ to-? ‘

or

or Part of:
PLAN BLK LOT

To: eLAYnj n&npcU Gvvi’J

\cj-f (octbr Sor y’S€s -- k-c\J v€

— Pc’cb’ IRE(V\CiflIC 3hcp /4*a1 -

- ert\-\-c€. 3G ccye, s
- tryatr1nn in - rhu’sri-o 4br Sn\-e cf iomr1 1-n

n-csccs (rrecrlcnLC, nti-€

ReceiptNo.:

1 /17/e,
Datel

Date

271

jamie.wiebe
Rectangle

jamie.wiebe
Rectangle



Bylaw 13xx-24 Part of NW-24-107-14-W5M

100 yd
100 m

Scale 1: 7,599

The Mackenzie County makes no representation or warranties regarding the information contained
in this document, including without limitation, whether said information is accurate or complete.
Persons using this document do so solely at their own risk, and the Mackenzie County shall have no
liability to such person for any loss or damage whatsoever. This document shall not be copied or
distributed to any person without the express written consent of the Mackenzie County. Copyright
Mackenzie County. All Rights Reserved.

Mackenzie County Date Created: 9/11/2024

9/11/24, 11:16 AM Print Preview

https://app.munisight.com/MackenzieCounty/Content/Site/PrintMapPage.aspx?siteId=1 1/2272

annika.wolfe
Text Box
Subject Property

annika.wolfe
Line



Bylaw 13xx-24 Part of NW-24-107-14-W5M

1 Mi
1 Km

Scale 1: 75,000

The Mackenzie County makes no representation or warranties regarding the information contained
in this document, including without limitation, whether said information is accurate or complete.
Persons using this document do so solely at their own risk, and the Mackenzie County shall have no
liability to such person for any loss or damage whatsoever. This document shall not be copied or
distributed to any person without the express written consent of the Mackenzie County. Copyright
Mackenzie County. All Rights Reserved.

Mackenzie County Date Created: 9/11/2024

9/11/24, 11:23 AM Print Preview

https://app.munisight.com/MackenzieCounty/Content/Site/PrintMapPage.aspx?siteId=1 1/2273

annika.wolfe
Text Box
Subject Property

annika.wolfe
Line

annika.wolfe
Text Box
Fort Vermilion

annika.wolfe
Line

annika.wolfe
Text Box
Highway 697



274



Agenda Item # 15.a)  
 

Author: S Gibson Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: September 23, 2024 

Presented By: Darrell Derksen, Chief Administrative Officer 

Title:  PrairiesCan Economic Development Roundtable Virtual 
Session 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
The second PriariesCan NW Region Roundtable session will be held virtually on 
Thursday, November 21, 2024 from 9am-11am. This will be an opportunity for economic 
development professionals from various parts of the northwest region to share and 
discuss projects and initiatives.  
 
From 9:00 a.m. - 9:30a.m., the presenters will be Ken Turkmenler, Industrial Technology 
Advisor (ITA) and Ernest Siu, Director, from the Industrial Research Assistance Program 
(IRAP), National Research Council Canada. An ITA offers technical and business advice, 
referrals, and other services from concept to commercialization. NRC IRAP is one of 
Canada’s leading federal R&D grant program. IRAP aims to accelerate the growth of 
small to medium-sized Canadian businesses that create new and innovative technology. 
 
Both presenters will provide an overview of the programs and services available through 
IRAP, as well as Ken’s role in the NW region.  
 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
N/A 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
N/A 
 

275



Author: S Gibson Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

COMMUNICATION / PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
 
N/A 
 
 
POLICY REFERENCES: 
 
N/A 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Motion 1 
 
  Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That the following councillors be authorized to attend the PrairiesCan Economic 
Development Roundtable Virtual Session: 
 
 
Motion 2 
 
  Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 

      
 
That the PrairiesCan Economic Development Roundtable Session discussion be 
received for information. 
 

276



Agenda Item # 15.b)  
 

Author: S Gibson Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: September 23, 2024 

Presented By: Darrell Derksen, Chief Administrative Officer 

Title:  Request to Reinstate Ratepayer Meetings 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
Administration received a request from the La Crete & Area Chamber of Commerce 
Board to reinstate Mackenzie County ratepayer meetings. 
 
Please see attached letter. 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
N/A 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
2025 Operating Budget 
 
 
COMMUNICATION / PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
 
If approved and dates are selected, social media platforms and the newspaper would be 
used to advertise. 
 
 
POLICY REFERENCES: 
 
N/A 

277



Author: S Gibson Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Motion 1 
 
  Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That the Request to Reinstate Ratepayers Meetings discussion be received for 
information. 
 
Motion 2 
 
  Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That ratepayer meetings be reinstated and the following dates and locations be 
scheduled: 
 
Location Date 
  
  
  
  
  
  

 

278



                
  
  
               

10500-100 Street 
P.O. Box 1088 

La Crete, AB T0H 2H0 
Office: 780.928.2278  

Mobile: 780.285.4409 
 Admin@LaCreteChamber.com 

www.LaCreteChamber.com 
 
 
 

June 25, 2024 
 

Chief Administrative Officer, Darrell Derksen 
Mackenzie County 
Box 640 
Fort Vermilion, Alberta 
T0H 1N0 
 
Dear Darrell Derksen, 
 
We as the La Crete & Area Chamber of Commerce Board would like to request re-installment of the 
Mackenzie County ratepayer meetings. We would like to see ratepayers be able to participate in shaping 
our community by presenting questions to our councillors and staff at Mackenzie County. Questions 
would need to be submitted in advance and staff and councillors would be given time to present a 
response. A moderator would be provided during these meetings for consideration to all Mackenzie 
County council and staff.  
 
Thank you for looking into this matter and we look forward to your response. 
  
 

 

Chair, Philip Doerksen 

La Crete & Area Chamber of Commerce  

 

 

 

 
 

 

279

mailto:Admin@LaCreteChamber.comwww.LaCreteChamber.com
mailto:Admin@LaCreteChamber.comwww.LaCreteChamber.com


 

280



Agenda Item # 15. c)  
 

Author: C. Sarapuk Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: September 23, 2024 

Presented By: Darrell Derksen, Chief Administrative Officer 

Title:  Draft Mackenzie County Strategic Plan 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
Administration has been editing and updating the Draft Mackenzie County Strategic Plan 
using ideas in input from Council and senior management. 
 
The Draft was presented to Council at the August 13, 2024 Committee of the Whole 
meeting where it was TABLED until a future Council meeting.  
 
The revised Draft Strategic Plan is attached for Councils review. 
 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
 
 
COMMUNICATION / PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
 
 
 
POLICY REFERENCES: 
 
 

281



Author:  Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
  Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That the Draft Mackenzie County Strategic Plan be received for information.  

282



Mackenzie
County
Strategic Plan

Mackenzie County sprawls across 19,179,281 acres, claiming the title of
Alberta's largest municipality and showcasing remarkable diversity.
Its landscape boasts a blend of boreal forests, wetlands, hills, and
flowing rivers. Currently encompassing agriculture, forestry, oil & gas,
mining, and tourism, we are eager to embrace new and developing
industries Mackenzie County is home to the youngest population in
Canada with the average age of 28 years and the highest rate of
children per capita. We are dedicated to promoting the simple rural
life style, while expanding our industries to keep them active and
thriving for future generations.  

www.mackenziecounty.com

About us

01

DRAFT

283



Vision

02

To shape the county and our communities
future to be a safe, free, affordable and

prosperous place to live, work, and play . To
raise families, pass down traditional values,

enjoy life, operate and grow business for now
and generations to come.

DRAFT

284



03

Actively seek and
create opportunities
for the development
and support of
initiatives that
enhance the value of
the resources we
produce and unlock
new avenues for
growth and
prosperity within the
region.

03 04

Attract outside industry
and investment,
fostering large-scale
development while
ensuring that our
infrastructure and
services are prepared
to accommodate our
continually growing
population.

01

Strive to preserve the
essence of our
heritage, upholding its
values, principles, and
history, while actively
advocating for the
sustainability of natural
resources and
resilience of our
industries.

02

Pursue and secure
access to lands and
resources, recognizing
their importance for
sustainability while
providing for the
development and
growth of the region.

Goals
Foster an
environment where
affordability is
prioritized, enabling
individuals and
enterprises to thrive
and contribute to the
viability of the region. 

05

DRAFT

285



Objectives

04

Creation of titled land
Diversify existing energy infrastructure
Transfer of LOC roads and access 
Continued involvement with NWSAR in regards to sub
regional planning
Develop methods of bringing agricultural lands in
production while taking other needs and infrastructure
into consideration
Advocate for more equitable grazing acres in the region
Preserve access to fiber for mills to remain sustainable
Influence and lobby higher levels of Government to
remove roadblocks for  developing industry
Further Ag Food Processing
Support Oil & Gas Industry 

Pursue and secure access to
public lands and resources,

recognizing their importance
for sustainability while

providing for the
development and growth of

the region.

Develop a strong marketing plan
Prepare data to highlight potential resources available for
potential investment
Support private and public entities that showcase
opportunities in the region

Actively seek and
create opportunities for
the development and
support of initiatives

that enhance the value
of the resources we
produce and unlock

new avenues for
growth and prosperity
within our community.

Attract outside industry
and investment,

fostering large-scale
development while
ensuring that our
infrastructure and

services are prepared
to accommodate our
continually growing

population.
 

Support REDI
Marketing Initiative
Become more investment ready
Encourage electrical generation
Planning utilities for future infrastructure needs
Grow and Collect Local Investment knowledge

Foster an
environment where

affordability is
prioritized, enabling

individuals and
enterprises to thrive

and contribute to
the vibrancy of the

region. 

Competitive MIL Rates
Continue to promote a simple way of life
Fair Utility Rates
Being financially responsible to achieve long-term
stability and success

Highlight the lifestyle that the working industry can provide
Support partners such as MARA, Agricultural Societies and
Recreation Boards
Lobby Ministers, MLA, Schoolboard 

Strive to preserve the essence
of our  heritage, upholding its
values, principles, and history,
while actively advocating for
the sustainability of natural
resources and resilience of

our industries.

DRAFT

286



Agenda Item # 15.d) 
 

Author: S Gibson Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: September 23, 2024 

Presented By: Darrell Derksen, Chief Administrative Officer 

Title:  Salmon Grill & Silent Auction Sponsorship 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
The Salmon Grill & Silent Auction is being held on October 19, 2024. This is a popular 
annual event for the community. This year proceeds go towards the La Crete Community 
Library expansion. Mackenzie County has supported this event in previous years with 
purchasing a table. The library board usually reserves a table for the County in advance.  
The County also provides a basket for the silent auction. 
 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
Multiple tables can be purchased if needed.  However, we will need to wait until October 
4 to confirm with the library whether this option is available. 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
Table purchase (8 per table) $520.00 
 
Funds would be taken from the Council Operating Budget.  
 
COMMUNICATION / PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
 
N/A 
 
POLICY REFERENCES: 
 
N/A 
 

287



Author: S Gibson Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
  Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That Mackenzie County purchase a table for eight (8) in the amount of $520 for the 
Salmon Grill on October 19, 2024. 
 
 
 

288



289



290



Agenda Item # 18.a) 

Author: L. Flooren Reviewed by: CAO: D. Derksen 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: September 23, 2024 

Presented By: Darrell Derksen, Chief Administrative Officer 

Title:  Information/Correspondence 

BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 

The following items are attached for your information, review, and action if required. 

• Council Action List
• 2024-09-16 Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Services -

Request for Remaining Funds 
• 2024-09-16 Little Red River Cree Nation - Response to Request for

Support for Crown Land 
• 2024-06-19 Regional Economic Development Initiative Meeting

Minutes 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 

N/A 

COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING: 

N/A 

COMMUNICATION / PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 

291



Author: L. Flooren Reviewed by:  CAO: D. Derksen 
 

N/A 
 
 
POLICY REFERENCES: 
 
N/A 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
 Simple Majority  Requires 2/3  Requires Unanimous 
 
That the information/correspondence items be accepted for information purposes. 
 

292



Council and Committee of the Whole Meeting Action List Page 1 of 7 
2024-09-10 

Mackenzie County 
Action List as of September 10, 2024 

Council and Committee of the Whole Meeting Motions Requiring Action 

Motion Action Required Action By Status 

February 22, 2016 Council Meeting 
16-02-135 That the County covers the additional cost of the 

survey on Plan 5999CL, Lot E to date and have 
administration release a copy of the report to the 
landowner informing them that the initial 
investigation survey has been completed. 

Caitlin/Jen In progress. Meeting 
with landowners. 

Impacted by 2020 flood. 

May 10, 2016 Regular Council Meeting 
16-05-354 That administration be authorized to proceed as 

follows in regards to the Zama Crown Land 
Procurement: 

• cancel PLS 080023;
• pursue acquisition of land parcels as

identified on the map presented in red;
• identify a parcel of land to be subdivided

from Title Number 102 145 574 +1 (Short
Legal 0923884; 21; 1) and offered for trade
or sale to Alberta Environment and Parks
due to its unsuitability for a hamlet
development , specifically the land use
restrictions per Alberta Energy Regulator.

Caitlin PLS180027 

Administration is 
following up with the 

timeline and has 
requested an answer. 

The new interim lands 
manager is reviewing 

the application 

October 9, 2018 Regular Council Meeting 
18-10-763 That administration proceeds with the water 

diversion license’s as discussed. 
John TDL received expires 

2025-04-30. Waiting on 
ToHL to start with the 
regional raw study. 

February 2, 2022 Regular Council Meeting 
22-02-085 That administration move forward with the 

application process to purchase the following and 
bring back to Council any future costs related to 
the purchase such as FNC, survey and assessed 
value for deliberation and approval.  

PLS140031 
PLS170002 
PLS180022 
PLS180027 
PLS190005 
La Crete Ferry Campground 
Atlas Landing Area 
Bridge Campsite 
Machesis Lake Campground 
Wadlin Lake Campground 

Don/Caitlin COW 22-06-073 
The TCL Leases that are in 
the process are as follows: 

Signed Offer to purchase 
PLS140031 

Survey is awaiting 
approval from Director of 
Surveys for PLS140031 

June 22, 2022 Regular Council Meeting 

293



Motion Action Required Action By Status 
 

Council and Committee of the Whole Meeting Action List Page 2 of 7 
2024-09-10 

22-06-465 That administration draft a policy combining 
PW018 Hiring of Private Equipment, ADM015 
Hiring Contract Suppliers and FIN 025 Purchasing 
Policy and bring back to future Council Meeting. 
 

Darrell COMPLETE 
New Motion  
24-09-633 

 

November 2, 2022 Budget Council Meeting 
22-11-774 That the Policy PW039 Rural Road, Access 

Construction and Surface Water Management - 
Cost Implications be brought back to a future 
Council meeting for amendments. 
 

Andy In Progress 

December 13, 2022 Regular Council Meeting 
22-12-908 That Council approve the Fort Vermilion Bridge 

Campground and Recreational Area Plan as 
amended and to submit the Plan to Forestry, Parks 
and Tourism for their approval. 
 

Don FPT Requesting updated 
mapping. 

GIS Mapping Completed 
To be completed fall of 

2024 
 

February 7, 2023 Regular Council Meeting 
23-02-106 That Mackenzie County commit to $5M in 

municipal funding by means of Borrowing Bylaw 
towards local funding required to complete this 
project as per motion18-06-472 to complete the 
Mackenzie Community Recreation Center project. 
 

Darrell/Don/Jen Reapplying for the 
Grant 

23-02-133 That administration create a new zoning district to 
alleviate concerns regarding agricultural use on 
residential acreages. 
 

Caitlin COMPLETE 
In the new LUB 

August 16, 2023  Regular Council Meeting 
23-08-654 That administration enter into an agreement with 

the Coalition for Far Northwest Alberta Brighter 
Futures Society to provide the services for the 
Family and Community Support Services Fort 
Vermilion Program. 
 

Don Working with 
organization on 

agreements 

October 24, 2023  Organizational Council Meeting 
23-10-805 That the Mackenzie Region Bison Committee be 

established and brought back to a future Council 
Meeting. 
 

Don Working with wildlife 

October 25, 2023  Regular Council Meeting 
23-10-833 That the Joint Use and Planning Agreement with 

Fort Vermilion School Division No. 52 be TABLED 
to a future Council meeting. 
 

Caitlin In Progress 
2025 Deadline 

23-10-837 That the Development Setbacks be TABLED to a 
future Council meeting. 
 

Caitlin COMPLETE 
in new LUB 

23-11-895 That administration research the options for hamlet 
signage. 
 

Caitlin COMPLETE 

February 13, 2024  Regular Council Meeting 
24-02-097 That the PLS Application Process proceed as 

directed. 
Darrell/Caitlin In Progress 

294



Motion Action Required Action By Status 
 

Council and Committee of the Whole Meeting Action List Page 3 of 7 
2024-09-10 

 
March 27, 2024  Regular Council Meeting 
24-03-249 That a letter be written to the Minister of Seniors, 

Community & Social Services regarding concerns 
with the housing in the region. 
 

Darrell In Progress 

April 24, 2024  Regular Council Meeting 
24-04-312 That Mackenzie County communicates with the 

Town of Rainbow Lake and our energy ratepayers 
regarding our concerns on the plant based treaty 
recently signed by the Town of Rainbow Lake. 
 

Darrell In Progress 

May 22, 2024  Regular Council Meeting 
24-05-407 That administration proceed with the offer to 

purchase for Plan 792 1881, Block 18, Lot 01 as 
per policy. 
 

Caitlin Awaiting appraisal 
results. 

 

24-05-427 That Council grant the Municipal Planning 
Commission special variance authority of 40% for 
the Heimstaed Lodge Development Permit upon 
application. 
 

Caitlin Awaiting Development 
permit application. 

May 28, 2024  Special Council Meeting 
24-05-444 That the North Sanitary Trunk Sewer Contract #2 

Lift Station contract be awarded to the proponent 
with the highest score on the matrix. 
 

Evaluation 
Criteria 

Points 
Available 

Green 
Acre 

Ventures 
Ltd. 

Northern 
Road 

Builders 
LP 

Total 100 91 92 
 
 

Darrell/John Project review ongoing 
Acceptance letter sent to 
NRB. Contract to follow. 

June 11, 2024  Regular Council Meeting 
24-06-484 That first reading be given to Bylaw 1340-24 being 

a Partial Road Closure Bylaw to close a portion of 
the road located within 106 Street and 99 Avenue 
within the Hamlet of La Crete. 
 

Caitlin Bylaw sent to the 
Minister of 

Transportation for 
signature. 

June 26, 2024  Regular Council Meeting 
24-06-489 That Council approve the request for street 

improvements along 99th Avenue and 106th Street 
at the cost of the developer. 
 

Caitlin Working with Developer 

24-06-491 That administration work with La Crete Co-op to 
accommodate right of way parking along 101 
Street and La Crete Co-op will be responsible for 
clearing the snow. 
 

Caitlin Council Meeting 
2024-09-23 

24-06-494 That the Sale of County Property discussion be 
TABLED to a future Council Meeting. 
 

Darrell In Progress 

24-06-499 That administration continue to work with Northern 
Road Builders contract negotiations on the North 

John Project Review Ongoing 

295



Motion Action Required Action By Status 
 

Council and Committee of the Whole Meeting Action List Page 4 of 7 
2024-09-10 

Trunk Sanitary Sewer Contract #2 – Lift Station 
Project. 
 

24-06-518 That Policy UT006 Municipal Rural Water 
Servicing – Endeavor to Assist Policy be brought to 
a future Council meeting with amendments as 
discussed. 
 

John Being brought back to 
council this winter 

July 17, 2024  Regular Council Meeting 
24-07-530 That Mackenzie County recognizes the hardships 

that the flood affected residents have faced since 
the 2020 Fort Vermilion flood and in order to 
ensure the safe and efficient move of Boreal 
Housing Foundation flood affected residents, 
Mackenzie County will request from the ministry 
the remainder of the $10.1 Million that was granted 
to them for the relocation of the 54 housing units 
and Mackenzie County will endeavor to assist 
Boreal clients in their timely relocation from the 
flood plain. 
 

Darrell COMPLETE 

24-07-531 That Mackenzie County requests a meeting with 
the Minister of Seniors, Community & Social 
Services, Minister of Municipal Affairs, Minister of 
Public Safety & Emergency Services, Minister of 
Mental Health & Addiction and Boreal Housing 
Foundation regarding Flood Mitigation in Fort 
Vermilion. 
 

Darrell In Progress  
Fall RMA 

24-07-549 That first reading be given to Bylaw 1345-24 being 
a Partial Plan Cancellation and Lot Consolidation 
of Plan 962 4275, Block 04, Lots 13-17, subject to 
public hearing input. 
 

Caitlin COMPLETE 

24-07-553 That the FoodCycler Municipal Solutions Pilot 
Project be implemented for 100 units to start. 
 

Don Project ends October 
15 

24-07-554 That Mackenzie County collaborate with 
Mackenzie Frontier Tourism Association and other 
organizations through the Community Services 
Committee to provide input for the Peace River 
Boat Guide. 
 

Council  

August 15, 2024  Regular Council Meeting 
24-08-569 That administration proceed with the sale of Plan 

052 0560, Block 05, Lot 04 as per policy FIN035 
with a reserve bid as per appraisal. 
 

Caitlin Listed with Realtor 

24-08-571 That administration research and bring back 
options to sell a portion of SW 7-109-19-W5. 
 

Caitlin COMPLETE 

24-08-584 That administration research and bring back 
options for third party engagement for public 
consultation regarding the Municipal Ward 

Darrell COMPLETE 

296



Motion Action Required Action By Status 
 

Council and Committee of the Whole Meeting Action List Page 5 of 7 
2024-09-10 

Boundary and Governance Review to a future 
council meeting as requested by Municipal Affairs. 
 

24-08-590 That Bylaw 0956-14 Off Highway Vehicles Bylaw 
for La Crete and Bylaw 1196-20 Off Highway 
Vehicles Bylaw for Fort Vermilion be brought back 
to a future Regular Council Meeting. 
 

Don COMPLETE 

24-08-591 
 

That the Draft Mackenzie County Strategic Plan be 
TABLED to a future Regular Council Meeting. 
 

Darrell Council Meeting 
2024-09-23 

September 10, 2024  Regular Council Meeting 
24-09-603 That administration advertise Part of SW 7-109-

19W5M for sale. 
 

Caitlin In Progress 

24-09-604 That Mackenzie County Council decline the offer of 
sale for plan FORTVER, Block03, Lot 08. 
 

Caitlin COMPLETE 
Letter Sent 

24-09-605 That Mackenzie County send a letter of support to 
Little Red River Cree Nation in regards to acquiring 
additional road allowance from the Crown for future 
road widening. 
 

Caitlin COMPLETE 

24-09-611 That third reading be given to Bylaw 1345-24 being 
a Partial Plan Cancellation and Lot Consolidation 
of Plan 962 4275, Block 04, Lots 13-17, to 
accommodate the consolidation of these lots into 
one title. 
 

Caitlin/Louise To be sent to Land 
titles 

24-09-612 That the 2024 One Time Budget be amended for 
The Mackenzie County Irrigation Initiative, with 
$87,132.60 funding coming from the Alberta Small 
Community Opportunity Program grant, and 
$9,681.40 from the General Operating Reserve. 
 

Landon/Jen COMPLETE 

24-09-613 That the 2024 One Time Budget be amended to 
include Municipal Irrigation Data Collection, with 
$20,319 from the General Operating Reserve. 
 

Landon/Jen COMPLETE 

24-09-614 That administration be authorized to open and 
review the Soil Feasibility Study for Irrigable Lands 
Request for Proposals on September 20, 2024 and 
bring back a recommendation to the September 
23, 2024 Regular Council Meeting for awarding. 
 

Landon Being presented at the 
2024-09-23 Meeting 

24-09-615 That Council supports the submission of the Forest 
Resource Improvement Association of Alberta 
(FRIAA) grant funding proposal for Mackenzie 
County Community Fireguard Program – Phase 2 
Construction. 
 

Don Application Submitted 
COMPLETE 

24-09-616 That Council supports the submission of the Forest 
Resource Improvement Association of Alberta 
(FRIAA) grant funding proposal for Mackenzie 
County FRIAA FireSmart – (Non-Vegetation 

Don Application Submitted 
COMPLETE 

297



Motion Action Required Action By Status 
 

Council and Committee of the Whole Meeting Action List Page 6 of 7 
2024-09-10 

Management Disciplines) for the development of a 
Zama City Sprinkler Plan and Shelter in Place 
Plan. 
 

24-09-620 That third and final reading be given to Revised 
Bylaw 956-14 Off-Highway Vehicles Bylaw for the 
Hamlet of La Crete. 
 

Don/Louise COMPLETE 

24-09-624 That third and final reading be given to Revised 
Bylaw 1196-20 Off-Highway Vehicles Bylaw for the 
Hamlet of Fort Vermilion. 
 

Don/Louise COMPLETE 

24-09-628 That third and final reading be given to Revised 
Bylaw 924-13 Off-Highway Vehicles Bylaw for the 
Hamlet of Zama. 
 

Don/Louise COMPLETE 

24-09-629 That a letter be written to the Minister of Forestry 
and Parks and Carbon Copied to the Alberta 
Conservation Association to request that the bison 
hunt tag revenue be returned to Mackenzie County 
to be reinvested in the Mackenzie Region. 
 

Don In Progress 

24-09-630 That the Conditional Under Permit Cultivation 
Lease tax rolls as per “Schedule A” be amended to 
a $100 minimum tax for 2024. 
 

Jen COMPLETE 

24-09-631 That the outstanding levies in the amount of 
$94,196.45 for Grants in Place of Taxes identified 
in Schedule “A” be written off. 
 

Jen COMPLETE 

24-09-633 That administration present at a future Council 
meeting, all purchasing policies effected by the 
Tender and Request for Proposal template for 
review and possible amendment. 
 

Darrell In Progress 

24-09-634 That the 2024 One Time project budget for the 
2024 Mackenzie Agricultural Fair & Tradeshow be 
amended in the amount of $34,509 with funding 
coming from various donations. 
 

Jen COMPLETE 

24-09-635 That motor graders Unit 2152 and Unit 2153 be 
disposed of by Option 3 - Ritchie Bros. 
 

Willie  

24-09-636 That administration bring forward options for the 
Wolfe Lake Rural Water point to the 2025 Budget 
Workshop and budget deliberations. 
 

John  

24-09-637 That Council direct administration to apply to the 
2024-25 Alberta Community Partnership Program 
Grant – Intermunicipal Collaboration stream to fund 
the update of the Intermunicipal Development Plan 
held between the Town of High Level and 
Mackenzie County. 
 

Caitlin In Progress 

298



Motion Action Required Action By Status 
 

Council and Committee of the Whole Meeting Action List Page 7 of 7 
2024-09-10 

24-09-638 That Council support the application for the Alberta 
Community Partnership Program Grant under the 
Intermunicipal Collaboration stream as the 
Managing Partner with the Town of High Level as 
Project Participant to update the existing 
Intermunicipal Development Plan. 

Caitlin In Progress 

24-09-639 That Mackenzie County supports and recognizes 
the Rail Safety Week by acknowledging and 
proclaiming the week of September 23-29, 2024, 
as Rail Safety Week in Mackenzie County. 
 

Darrell In Progress 

24-09-640 That a letter of support be provided to the La Crete 
Agricultural Society for their Community Facility 
Enhancement Program grant application for Phase 
II of the Construction of the Heritage Restoration 
Shop. 
 

Louise COMPLETE 

24-09-642 That the following priority topics be discussed at 
the Minister meetings during the Rural 
Municipalities of Alberta (RMA) fall convention in 
November 2024 in Edmonton. 
(See Minutes) 
 

Louise COMPLETE 

 

299



Mackenzie County 
P.O. Box 640, 4511-46 Avenue, Fort Vermilion, AB  T0H 1N0 

P: (780) 927-3718 Toll Free: 1-877-927-0677 F: (780) 927-4266 
www.mackenziecounty.com 

office@mackenziecounty.com 
 
 
 
 
 
September 16, 2024 

Email: PSES.minister@gov.ab.ca  
 
 
The Honourable Mike Ellis 
Deputy Premier and Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Services 
Office of the Minister 
Public Safety and Emergency Services 
130 Legislative Building 
10800 – 97 Avenue 
Edmonton, AB 
T5K 2B6 
 
Dear Minister: 
 
RE: REQUEST FOR REMAINING FUNDS 

 
Mackenzie County recognizes the hardship that the affected flood residents have faced 
since the 2020 Fort Vermilion flood. The County would like to endeavor to assist with 
the safe and efficient relocation of residents of the Boreal Housing Foundation, that 
were affected by the flooding. To accomplish this timely relocation of Boreal clients, we 
respectfully request the remaining $10.1 Million in funds. 
 
In good faith, Mackenzie County has incurred all costs associated with the development 
of new subdivisions and serviced lots for the residents affected by the flood. As of 
writing this letter there is no agreement between Mackenzie County and the Boreal 
Housing Foundation to finalize the purchase of the lots that were developed for Boreal 
Housing Foundation to relocate properties located in the flood plain owned by the 
Boreal Housing Foundation. If granted the remaining funds as requested, Mackenzie 
County will endeavour to assist with the relocation of the Boreal clients. 
 
Thank you for your time and consideration in these matters. Please feel free to contact 
me at (780) 926-7405 or our Chief Administrative Officer, Darrell Derksen, at (780) 927-
3718 or by email to cao@mackenziecounty.com 
 
  

300

mailto:PSES.minister@gov.ab.ca
mailto:cao@mackenziecounty.com


Page 2 
September 16, 2024 

 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Joshua Knelsen 
Reeve 
 
c: Dan Williams, MLA Peace River 
 Mackenzie County Council 
 
 

301



 

Mackenzie County 
P.O. Box 640, 4511-46 Avenue, Fort Vermilion, AB  T0H 1N0 

P: (780) 927-3718 Toll Free: 1-877-927-0677 F: (780) 927-4266 
www.mackenziecounty.com 

office@mackenziecounty.com 
 
 
 
September 16, 2024 
 
 
 
Little Red Cree Nation 
PO Box 30 
John D’or Prairie, AB 
T0H 3X0 
 
Dear Chief Conroy Sewepagaham:  
 
RE: RESPONSE TO REQUEST FOR SUPPORT FOR CROWN LAND 
 ACQUISTION FOR JOHN D’OR PRAIRIE ACCESS ROAD 
 IMPROVEMENTS  
 
Mackenzie County received a letter from Little Red River Cree Nation on August 
15, 2024 requesting a letter of support from Mackenzie County for John D’or 
Prairie access road improvements.  
 
After reviewing your request that you provided at the September 10, 2024 
Council meeting, Mackenzie County Council understands that responding in a 
timely fashion is of upmost importance. 
 
Mackenzie County is in support of these improvements as we understand these 
are critical for ensuring safe and reliable access for your community members.  
 
Mackenzie County is willing to support by applying for the land acquisition on 
your behalf provided that all associated costs, surveying, and consultation is 
completed prior to application. 
 
Please continue working with our administration as you proceed with this project. 
 
Mackenzie County values collaborative opportunities with neighbouring 
communities and looks forward to future collaboration and mutual support while 
we work toward a brighter future on our northern landscape. 
 
Should you have any further questions, please feel free to contact myself at (780) 
926-7405 or Darrell Derksen, Chief Administrative Officer at (780) 927-3718.  
 

302



 
Page 2 
September 16, 2024 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 

 
 
Josh Knelsen 
Reeve 
Mackenzie County 
 
 
c. Mackenzie County Council 
 Glenn Newman, Principal Consultant, Tetra Tech Canada 
 

303



   Board Meeting  
REDI Northwest Alberta 

ONLINE – Zoom Video Conference 
APPROVED MINUTES 

JUNE 19, 2024 
6:00 pm REDI Meeting 

 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
REDI Board Members Present 

Lisa Wardley, Chair, Mackenzie County  
Boyd Langford, Vice Chair, Town of High Level 
Julie Melville, Secretary/Treasurer, Town of Rainbow Lake 
Don Werner, Town of Rainbow Lake 
Ryan Matthew Luengo, High Level Chamber of Commerce 
Josh Knelsen, Mackenzie County  
Greg McIvor, Zama Chamber Committee 
Ray Towes, Fort Vermilion Board of Trade 
Jasmine Light, Northern Lakes College 

 
REDI Board Members Absent  

Crystal McAteer, Town of High Level 
Larry Neufeld, La Crete Chamber of Commerce 
Mike Osborn, Community Futures Northwest Alberta 
Chester Omoth, Paddle Prairie Metis Settlement 

 
Staff & Guests 
     Andrew O'Rourke, REDI Manager 
     Alok Sahai, EDO, Town of High Level 
     Nicole Nelles, RED, Jobs, Economy and Trade 
        
1. CALL TO ORDER    
  
Chair Wardley called the meeting to order and declared quorum at 6:02 pm. 
 
2. REVIEW & ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 
 
Motion:               Moved by Julie Melville    
That the agenda be accepted as presented.  
Carried  
 
3.   MINUTES OF THE MAY 15, 2024, MEETING. 
  
Motion:                       Moved by Boyd Langford 
The Minutes of the May 15, 2024, REDI Meeting be accepted as presented. 
Carried 

304



 
4.   YEAR TO DATE FINANCIAL REPORT MAY 31, 2024 
 
Motion:                   Moved by Matthew Luengo 
That the month ending May 31, 2024, financial report be accepted as presented.  
Carried 
 
5.   MANAGERS REPORT 
 
Motion:                        Moved by Jasmine Light        
That the REDI Manager's verbal report be received for information.  
Carried 
 
6.   NEW BUSINESS  
 

i.  NRED Short Video – Chambers & FVBOT  
 
Motion:                  Moved by Greg McIvor    
That REDI commissions a local videographer to create four sixty-second videos to promote, 
support, and showcase each chamber of commerce in the region. 
CARRIED  
 

ii.  NRED – Feasibility Study – Serecon 
The final feasibility study includes an Integrated Financial and Operational Model, Financial 
Analysis, Operational Analysis, Market Analysis, and Sensitivity Analysis. Due to its sensitivity, 
this feasibility report has only been made available to REDI board members. 
 
Motion:        Moved by Boyd Langford    
That REDI approves the final Serecon feasibility study and authorizes the final invoice payment.  
CARRIED  
 

iii. PREDA value-added forestry conference in Peace River  
 
Motion:                Moved by Don Werner     
That the REDI manager be authorized to attend the PREDA value-added forestry conference on 
June 26 & 27 in Peace River.  
CARRIED  
 

iv. MoveUp Magazine   
 
Motion                     Moved by Julie Melville 
That REDI creates an article for the August 2024 issue that continues the Opportunity Knocks 
theme and focuses on two new business cases, Heirloom Seeds and Distillery.  
CARRIED  
 
 

305



v. Financial Peer Review 2023-2024 
 
Motion                     Moved by Josh Knelsen 
That REDI accepts the financial peer review report and signs off on the financial year ending 
March 31, 2024.  
CARRIED  
 

vi.  Futera Power / Agro Resilience Kit Ltd / Sprung Structure 
 
FutEra Power is a Canadian company that specializes in renewable energy solutions. In 2022, it 
built the 21-megawatt combined geothermal power plant in Swan Hills. FutEra partnered with 
Sprung Structures and Agro Resilience Kit (ARK), to improve food security and the potential for 
silviculture. Agro Resilience Kit provides affordable and scalable kits that contain seeds, tools, 
irrigation systems, and training. Together, Sprung Structures, FutEra Power, and Agro Resilience 
Kit form a powerful alliance that is looking for its next community location. The REDI Manager 
will provide a tour of our region and introduce them to councils and industry.  
 

vii. RMA Minister Briefing on REDA’s  
 
Rural Municipalities Alberta met with the REDAs and put together a briefing for the Minister of 
Jobs, Economy, and Trade, highlighting the significant work undertaken in the province. The 
briefing highlights the benefits to communities and credits REDAs' role in each region. The 
intent was to continue educating the minister on the valuable resource the REDAs provide.  
 

viii.  2025-2027 REDI 
 
The REDI meeting in September will be dedicated to discussing the objectives of REDI for the 
next three years. In March 2025, REDI will be coming to the end of our current project cycle. To 
advance our strategic direction and impact, the REDI board will provide direction on how the 
organization can collaborate with our membership to solve local problems, promote the region, 
and create investment opportunities. The planning session is ahead of grant writing deadlines for 
the 2025 operating year, allowing us to leverage our resources for the most significant impact.  

  
ix. REDI Sustainability  

 
The REDI manager presented a research document outlining the existing membership, landmass 
and populations, along with statistics from each community. Also included was a breakdown of 
the First Nations that reside within the region, including known First Nation statistics of 
population, landmass, workforce, etc. A review of neighbouring municipalities that border the 
REDI region was also undertaken. It was noted that our region's landmass is already so large; 
how do we provide value to the existing membership without spreading ourselves to thin with 
our available resources? Would the new membership align with REDI's interests? Why is large 
industry not a part of REDI? We could look at corporate memberships and different voting 
structures. Do we want to boost our corporate membership or start looking at expanding 
municipal and First Nations membership?   
 

306



7.  OLD BUSINESS   
 

i. Small Community Opportunity Grant Program 

Three communities within our region have received funding through the Alberta Government  
Small Community Opportunity Grant stream in the current grant term. The program is 0.90 cents 
on the dollar, and REDI is encouraging other communities to apply in the next intake, which will 
be in the fall. This is for local community projects that REDI, as a regional organization, cannot 
apply for. La Crete Chamber got $90k for a new electronic billboard, the Dene Tha First Nation 
got $90k for a community greenhouse and aquaponics facility, and Mackenzie County will 
undertake an Irrigation study. 

ii.  Year End 2023 – 2024 Reporting to JET 

Motion                     Moved by Don Werner 
REDI accepts the year end 2023-2024 reporting and authorizes the manager to submit to Jobs, 
Economy and Trade.    
CARRIED 

iii. NRED Business Case Review  

A final review of the first five business cases, including the Bio Diesel opportunity in Northwest 
Alberta, Distillery, Heirloom Seeds, Tire Recycling, and Value-Added Oats, was undertaken. 
These business cases are now complete and will be posted on the website. Over the summer 
months, the REDI manager will work alongside our consultant to complete the second contract of 
five business cases.  

8. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  

i.  CRAA –Updates – REDI now receives monthly communication.       
ii.  Upper Hay Regional Forest Advisory Committee 

iii.       MoveUp Magazine – May Issue - CFNWA 
  
9. ROUND TABLE 
 
Matthew Luengo - On June 22, the High Level Chamber will host Celebrate-the-Sun, from 
noon to 6 pm. The High Level Chamber will take a closer look at the Small Community 
Opportunity Grant Program fall intake. 
 
Julie Melville – Rainbow Lake is gearing up for an additional 400-500 personnel for the 
turnaround in the fall. There are two new camps; the first is a 90-person camp for drilling and 
completions for Cenovus. Also, a 200-person camp for the fall turnaround.  
 
Don Werner—Rainbow Lake has tree planters in the community for the season, and the 
community is gearing up for the fall turnaround.  
 

307



Greg Mc Ivor—The campground now has a full-time staff member and multiple new 
homeowners joining the community, with people taking on property upgrades that have boosted 
the community. There is some planning for cabins on some of the lots. Also, the community is 
pivoting from an oil and gas community to an off-grid farming-style community lifestyle 
location.   
 
Alok Sahai – The Town of High Level is gearing up for Canada Day.  
 
Lisa Wardley—NWSAR has new videos that were shot in GP and Manning. Forest Capital 
Canada is halfway through the year and is rolling out its business promotion, which includes 
operating in, working in, and playing in the forest capital. The Fat Boy’s Poker rally in High 
Level will incorporate the Forest Capital of Canada and new community fire pits to 
commemorate the designation. Long sleeve productions are creating a character called Boris, 
who will be an educational feature. FCM – a partnership with the provincial government to plant 
1 billion trees with the Zama Recreation Society, is applying for that grant by July 12th. The 
large community event for Zama is the August 17th weekend, which will host a float festival. 
 
Nicole Nelles—NADC Chair Tany Yao's recent outreach meeting took place; REDI board 
members can provide further feedback if unable to attend the in-person sessions. A report on 
what we heard will be published in the fall. 
 
Andrew O’Rourke, REDI Manager, informed the board of his Christmas 2024 travel plans and 
disruption to the November REDI organizational meeting. However, he will not cancel the 
January 2025 board meeting as previously planned.  
 
10. ADJOURNMENT & NEXT MEETING  
 
The next REDI meeting will be held on September 18, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. in Room 150 of the 
High Level administration building.  
 
Motion:              Moved by Jsamine Light 
That the REDI meeting be adjourned at 7:42 p.m. 
Carried  
 
 
________________________________ _______________________ 
 Lisa Wardley, Chair REDI Manager 
 

308


	REQUEST FOR DECISION
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:
	Blank Page
	4. Mackenzie LUB 3rd Reading V.4 20240912.pdf
	1 Interpretation
	1.1 General Purpose
	1.2 Authority
	1.3 Applicability
	1.4 Transition
	1.5 Rules of Interpretation
	1.6 General Definitions
	1.7 Use Definitions

	2 Bylaw Amendments
	2.1 Amendments to this Bylaw
	2.3 Bylaw Amendment Notification Requirements
	2.4 Requirement of a Land Use Bylaw Amendment Notification Sign

	3 Subdivision and Development Authorities
	3.1 Development Authority
	3.2 Development Officers
	3.3 Municipal Planning Commission
	3.4 Council
	3.5 Subdivision Authorities
	3.6 Subdivision and Development Appeal Board
	3.7 Inter-Municipal Subdivision and Development Appeal Board

	4 Development Permits
	4.1 Need for Development Permit
	4.2 Fees
	4.3 When a Development Permit is Not Required
	4.4 Non-Conforming Buildings and Uses
	4.5 Compliance Certificates
	4.6 Application for Development Permit
	4.7 Decision on Development Permit Applications
	4.8 Validity of Development Permits
	4.9 Development Permit Referrals
	4.10 Rear Laneways
	4.11 Variance of Authority
	4.12 Development Permit Conditions
	4.13 Permit Approval and Notifications
	4.14 Resubmission Interval
	4.15 Deemed Refusal

	5 Enforcement
	5.1 Contravention and Stop Orders
	5.2 Prohibitions
	5.3 Non-Compliance
	5.4 Warning Notice
	5.5 Right of Entry
	5.6 Offenses and Penalties

	6 Subdivision Administration and Procedures
	6.1 Subdivision Application Procedures
	6.2 Subdivision Referrals
	6.3 Subdivision Decision
	6.4 Development Agreement
	6.5 Securities
	6.6 Registrations
	6.7 Subdivision Approval Process
	6.8 Growth Nodes

	7 Appeals
	7.1 Development Permit Appeals
	7.2 Subdivision Appeals

	8 General Regulations
	8.1 Accessory Building
	8.2 Animals
	8.3 Applicability of General Regulations
	8.4 Building Demolition or Removal
	8.5 Building – Height, Design, Character and Appearance
	8.6 Building – Placement
	8.7 Businesses – Drive-Through
	8.8 Confined Feeding Operations
	8.9 Dangerous Goods
	8.10 Drainage
	8.11 Dugouts
	8.12 Dwelling Units per Parcel
	8.13 Easements/Rights-of ways
	8.14 Fences
	8.15 Flood Prone Lands (Flood Hazard Area and Pluvial Flooding)
	8.16 Private Garages
	8.17 Garden Suites
	8.18 Home Based Businesses
	8.19 Illumination
	8.20 Industrial Camps
	8.21 Kennels
	8.22 Manufactured Homes
	8.23 Objects Prohibited or Restricted in Yards
	8.24 Pressure Vessel Storage
	8.25 Primary Dwelling – Hamlet
	8.26 Private Sewage Treatment Systems
	8.27 Projection over Yards
	8.28 Recreational Uses
	8.29 Recreational Vehicles
	8.30 Residential Sales Centre
	8.31 Roads and Highways
	8.32 Secondary Suites
	8.33 Service Stations and Bulk Fuel Storage
	8.34 Setbacks from Gas and Oil Wells
	8.35 Setbacks from Sour Gas Facilities and Gas and Oil Wells
	8.36 Setbacks from Railway Right-of-way
	8.37 Setbacks from Slopes and Waterbodies
	8.38 Shipping Containers
	8.39 Sight Triangle
	8.40 Solar Farms
	8.41 Swimming Pools and Hot Tubs
	8.42 Tarp Shelters
	8.43 Tiny Homes
	8.44 Topsoil Removal
	8.45 Tourist Homes
	8.46 Township Road 1062 (88 Connector Road) Setback
	8.47 Waste Disposal
	8.48 Waste Management
	8.49 Wildland/Urban Interface Development– Remote Areas
	8.50 Wind Farms
	8.51 Zoning Overlay for NW 29-106-15-W5M
	8.52 Zoning Overlay for Footner Lake
	8.53 Zoning Overlay for Fort Vermilion Floodplain
	8.54 Zoning Overlay for Fort Vermilion Land Uses
	8.55 Zoning Overlay for the Fort Vermilion (Wop May Memorial) Airport Vicinity, the La Crete (Jake Fehr Memorial) Airport Vicinity, and the High Level Airport Vicinity

	9 Landscaping, Screening and Sound Barriers
	9.1 Landscaping and Screening
	9.2 Sound Barrier

	10 Parking
	10.1 General Parking Requirements
	10.2 Minimum Parking Stall Requirements

	11 Signs
	11.1 General Requirements for Signs
	11.2 Illuminated or Electronic Message Signs
	11.3 Billboards
	11.4 Temporary Signs
	11.5 Sign Removal

	12 Land Use Districts
	12.1 Agricultural 1 (A1)
	12.2 Agricultural 2 (A2)
	12.3 Forestry (F)
	12.4 Country Residential (CR)(CRm)
	12.5 Country Residential 2(CR2)(CR2m)
	12.6 Country Residential 3 (CR3)
	12.7 Country Recreational (CREC)
	12.8 Country Recreational 2 (CREC2)
	12.9 Rural Industrial Light (RIL)
	12.10 Rural Industrial General (RIG)
	12.11 Airport (AP)
	12.12 Institutional (I)
	12.13 Recreation 1 (REC1)
	12.14 Recreation 2 (REC2)
	12.15 Remote Recreation (RR)
	12.16 Urban Fringe (UF)
	12.17 Direct Control 1 (DC1)
	12.18 Direct Control 2 (DC2)
	12.19 Hamlet Country Residential (H-CR)
	12.20 Hamlet Residential 1 (H-R1)
	12.21 Hamlet Residential 1A (H-R1A)
	12.22 Hamlet Residential 1B (H-R1B)
	12.23 Hamlet Residential 2 (H-R2)
	12.24 Hamlet Residential 2A (H-R2A)
	12.25 Tiny Home Community (THC)
	12.26 Manufactured Home Community (MHC)
	12.27 Manufactured Home Subdivision (MHS)
	12.28 Hamlet Town Centre (H-TC)
	12.29 Hamlet Commercial Centre (H-CC)
	12.30 Hamlet Highway Commercial (H-HC)
	12.31 Hamlet Light Industrial (H-LI)
	12.32 Hamlet Heavy Industrial (H-HI)
	12.33 Zama City Mixed Use (Z-MU)
	12.34 Zama City Residential-Business (Z-RB)


	1. RFD.pdf
	REQUEST FOR DECISION
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	Blank Page
	RFD -  Mitigation CGA Extension.pdf
	REQUEST FOR DECISION
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	RFD - Amend Policy RESV14 Gravel Crushing Reserve.pdf
	REQUEST FOR DECISION
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	RESV14 - Gravel Crushing Reserve - Amended 2024-09-23.pdf
	Mackenzie County
	Gravel Crushing Reserve
	Date

	Blank Page
	RFD - Financial Reports Jan - August 2024.pdf
	REQUEST FOR DECISION
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	MASTER Jan - Aug 2024.pdf
	REV
	EXP
	00
	11
	12
	23
	25
	26
	32
	33
	41
	42
	43
	51
	61
	63
	71
	72
	73
	74
	85

	RFD -Proposed  Budget 2025 Council Meeting Dates.pdf
	REQUEST FOR DECISION
	Step 4 - Budget Meetings
	Step 5 – Formal Budget Ratification by Council first meeting in January
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	RFD - Councillor Expense Claims.pdf
	REQUEST FOR DECISION

	RFD - Members at Large Expense Claims.pdf
	REQUEST FOR DECISION
	Bylaw 1326-24 - Honorariums and Expense Reimbursement Bylaw
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	2. Bylaw 1348-24.pdf
	1. That the land use designation of the subject parcel known as:
	SCHEDULE “A”

	1. RFD Bylaw 1348-24.pdf
	REQUEST FOR DECISION
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	Blank Page
	RFD - PrairiesCan Economic Development Roundtable Virtual Session.pdf
	REQUEST FOR DECISION
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	1. RFD - Request to Reinstate Ratepayer Meetings.pdf
	REQUEST FOR DECISION
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	RFD - Draft Mackenzie County Strategic Plan.pdf
	REQUEST FOR DECISION
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	RFD - Salmon Grill.pdf
	REQUEST FOR DECISION
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	Blank Page
	RFD Information.pdf
	REQUEST FOR DECISION
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	RFD Information.pdf
	REQUEST FOR DECISION
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:




